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Certain statements in this annual report on Form 10-K contain or may contain forward-looking statements that are subject to known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements were based on various factors and were derived
utilizing numerous assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These
factors include, but are not limited to, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s (“Nasdaq”) ability to implement its strategic initiatives, competition, economic,
political and market conditions and fluctuations, government and industry regulation, interest rate risk and other factors. Most of these factors are difficult to
predict accurately and are generally beyond Nasdaq’s control. You should consider the areas of risk described in connection with any forward-looking
statements that may be made herein. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of
December 31, 2003. Readers should carefully review this annual report in its entirety, including but not limited to Nasdaq’s financial statements and the notes
thereto and the risks described in “Item 1. Business—Risk Factors.” Except for Nasdaq’s ongoing obligations to disclose material information under the
Federal securities laws, Nasdaq undertakes no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements, to report events or to report the
occurrence of unanticipated events. For any forward-looking statements contained in any document, Nasdaq claims the protection of the safe harbor for
forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Part I
Item 1. Business.
Nasdaq Overview
Nasdaq® operates The Nasdaq Stock Market®, the largest electronic screen-based equity securities market in the United States. Since its inception in
1971, Nasdaq has been a leader in utilizing technology to democratize and extend the reach of the securities markets.
In 2003, Nasdaq changed its organization structure from operating in one segment to operating in two segments. Nasdaq’s two segments are managed
and operated as strategic business units and organized by products and services. Nasdaq’s products and services are grouped in the following segments:
Market Services Segment. For the year ended December 31, 2003, Market Services accounted for revenues of $383.1 million, which represented
65.0% of Nasdaq’s total revenues.
· Transaction Services includes collecting, processing and disseminating price quotes of Nasdaq-listed securities, the routing and execution of buy and
sell orders for securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and securities listed on national stock exchanges and transaction reporting services.
Market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of market makers, electronic communication networks (“ECNs”), registered stock
exchanges and order entry firms, each of which is described below, are the users of Nasdaq’s Transaction Services. For the year ended December 31,
2003, Transaction Services accounted for revenues of $236.0 million, which represented 40.0% of Nasdaq’s total revenues. See “—Products and
Services—Market Services—Transaction Services” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”
· Market Information Services primarily provides quote and trade information to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, Market Information Services accounted for revenues of $147.1 million, which represented 24.9% of Nasdaq’s total
revenues. See “—Products and Services—Market Services—Market Information Services” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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Issuer Services Segment. For the year ended December 31, 2003, Issuer Services accounted for revenues of $200.2 million, which represented 33.9%
of Nasdaq’s total revenues.
· Corporate Client Group provides customer services and information products to Nasdaq-listed companies and is responsible for obtaining new listings
on The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Corporate Client Group accounted for revenues of $167.3 million, which
represented 28.4% of Nasdaq’s total revenues. See “—Products and Services—Issuer Services—Corporate Client Group” and “Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
· Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for introducing products that extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand. This sub-segment oversees the
development and marketing of new Nasdaq financial products and associated derivatives, the licensing and listing of third party structured products
and the listing of third-party sponsored exchange traded funds. For the year ended December 31, 2003, Nasdaq Financial Products accounted for
revenues of $32.9 million, which represented 5.6% of Nasdaq’s total revenues. See “—Products and Services—Issuer Services—Nasdaq Financial
Products” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

In June 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review of all its operations designed to position Nasdaq for improved profitability and growth.
This strategic review included the elimination of non-core products and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in Nasdaq’s work force. See
“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” This business section reflects this strategic review and
explains Nasdaq’s current mix of products and services.
Nasdaq’s market model is one of “open architecture.” As a fully electronic market, The Nasdaq Stock Market does not have a central trading floor.
Participation in the trading activities on The Nasdaq Stock Market is not limited to any fixed number of market participants. This allows a large number of
broker-dealers with widely different business models and trading technologies to participate in the Nasdaq network and compete with one another. The
Nasdaq network is a telecommunications network that Nasdaq uses to deliver transaction and market information services to its market participants. See “—
Products and Services—Market Services—Transaction Services.” Market participants can access the Nasdaq network via the Nasdaq Workstation® II,
Nasdaq’s proprietary operating system for the Nasdaq network, or through other customized operating systems. See “—Products and Services—Market
Services—Transaction Services—Access Services.” Nasdaq market participants include market makers, ECNs, registered stock exchanges and order entry
firms.
Market makers, also known as dealers, provide liquidity (the ability of a security to absorb a large amount of buying and selling without substantial
movement in price) by standing ready to buy or sell securities at all times at publicly-quoted prices for their own account and by maintaining an inventory of
securities for their customers. Market makers in a particular security are required at all times to post their bid and offer prices (i.e., price at which they will
buy and sell) into the Nasdaq network where they can be viewed and accessed by all market participants. Approximately 314market makers participate in The
Nasdaq Stock Market. On average, securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market have 20 market makers. The minimum number of market makers for any
Nasdaq-listed stock is two and some securities have over 100 market makers.
In addition to traditional market makers, the Nasdaq network also includes other broker-dealers operating as ECNs. ECNs provide electronic facilities
for investors to trade directly with one another without going through a market maker. ECNs operate as order-matching and order-routing mechanisms and do
not maintain inventories of securities themselves. The flexibility of the Nasdaq network means that innovators with new trading technologies or strategies
have an opportunity to implement them quickly in The Nasdaq Stock Market.
2

An order entry firm is a broker-dealer, but not a market maker or an ECN. An order entry firm can use Nasdaq services to view price quotations and
enter marketable orders (orders that can be immediately executed at the price entered) for execution against the posted quotations of market makers and
ECNs. Order entry firms also are allowed to enter non-marketable orders (orders at a price inferior to the current best order or quote in the market) into
SuperMontage,® Nasdaq’s primary order execution system for Nasdaq-listed securities, for anonymous display. These non-marketable orders remain in the
system until becoming marketable orders.
Nasdaq’s electronic systems centralize the price quotations from all market participants in a given Nasdaq-listed stock to help them compete and allow
them to choose with whom they are going to trade. Nasdaq also gathers the trade and quote information from all of these market participants and sells it to
data vendors. The data vendors sell this information to the investment community and the general public.
Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $589.8 million, a 25.1% decrease from $787.2 million during 2002. Nasdaq’s net
income decreased $148.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to a net loss of $105.4 million from net income of $43.1 million during 2002. Total
revenues and net income reflect a change in accounting principle adopted as of January 1, 2000 (“Change in Accounting Principle”). See “Item 6. Selected
Consolidated Financial Data,” “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 4, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. Nasdaq’s growth and operating results are directly affected
by the trading volume of Nasdaq-listed securities and the number of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The following table provides statistics
about The Nasdaq Stock Market in these areas:

Total share volume (billions)
Percentage of total shares traded in the
primary U.S. markets
Dollar volume of equity securities
traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market
(billions)
Percentage of dollar volume of all
equity securities traded in the
primary U.S. markets
Average daily share volume (millions)
Average daily dollar volume (billions)
Number of Nasdaq-listed companies (at
year end)
Total domestic shares outstanding
(billions) (at year end)
Market value of Nasdaq-listed
companies (billions) (at year
end)
*

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2003
The Nasdaq
SmallCapSM
The Nasdaq
Market tier Stock Market
33.2
425.0

The Nasdaq
National
Market® tier
391.8
—

—

$ 7,002.5

$ 65.9

$

—
1,554.9
27.8

$

—
131.8
0.3

The Nasdaq
National
Market tier
429.9

53.5%
$ 7,068.4

$

40.8%
1,686.7
28.0*

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2002
The Nasdaq
SmallCap
The Nasdaq
Market tier
Stock Market
11.7
441.7*

—

—

$ 7,232.5

$ 21.8

$ 7,254.3

—
1,706.1
28.7

—
46.5
$ 0.1

$

$

53.8%

39.8%
1,752.6
28.8

2,648

685

3,333

2,824

835

3,659

139.8

10.1

149.9

131.3

14.9

146.1*

$ 2,947.6

$ 40.7

$ 2,988.3

$ 1,943.6

$ 54.0

$ 1,997.6

Aggregate numbers for each tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market may not match total number due to rounding of numbers in chart.

As of December 31, 2003, there were 3,333 companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of 2,648 companies listed on The Nasdaq
National Market tier and 685 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market tier. As of December 31, 2003, The Nasdaq Stock Market was home to a significant
percentage of U.S. publicly-traded companies in a number of industries, including approximately 77% of computer hardware and peripherals companies, 77%
of thrift and mortgage finance companies, 85% of semiconductor
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companies, 42% of automobile and component companies, 60% of broadcasting and cable television companies, 41% of telecommunications companies,
90% of biotechnology companies, 62% of pharmaceutical companies and 68% of health care companies. In addition, as of December 31, 2003, there were
337 foreign companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of 251 foreign companies listed on The Nasdaq National Market tier and 86 on The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market tier. See “—Products and Services—Issuer Services—Corporate Client Group.”
Nasdaq’s History and Structure
Founded in 1971, Nasdaq was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the “NASD”) until June 2000. The
NASD, which operates subject to the oversight of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), is the largest self-regulatory organization (“SRO”)
in the U.S. with a membership that includes virtually every broker-dealer that engages in the securities business with the U.S. public. The NASD must retain
voting control over Nasdaq until such time as Nasdaq may be approved by the SEC for registration as a national securities exchange (“Exchange
Registration”), as discussed below.
In 2000, the NASD implemented a separation of Nasdaq from the NASD by restructuring and broadening the ownership in Nasdaq (the “Restructuring”)
through a two-phase private placement of securities commencing in June 2000. In the private placements, (i) the NASD sold (a) an aggregate of 10,806,494
warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 43,225,976 shares of outstanding common stock of Nasdaq (the “Common Stock”) and (b) 4,543,591 shares of
outstanding Common Stock and (ii) Nasdaq sold an aggregate of 28,692,543 newly-issued shares of Common Stock to investors. Securities in the private
placements were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and certain investment companies. Each warrant issued by
the NASD entitles the holder to purchase one share in each of four one-year exercise periods. The first exercise period expired on June 28, 2003 and the
NASD is currently in the second exercise period. As part of the Restructuring, Nasdaq repurchased a total of 52,230,433 shares of Common Stock from the
NASD during 2001 and 2002. All of the shares of Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the NASD have been placed in treasury.
The Common Stock commenced trading on July 1, 2002 on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTC Bulletin Board®”) under the symbol “NDAQ”
upon expiration of contractual restrictions on shares of Common Stock sold in the private placement. Trading activity in Common Stock has been limited with
average daily trading volume of approximately 17,000 shares during 2003. See “—Risk Factors—There currently is a limited trading market for the Common
Stock.”
In connection with the Restructuring, Nasdaq filed an application with the SEC for Exchange Registration on November 9, 2000. In general, Exchange
Registration is a change in legal status for Nasdaq as opposed to a change in the way Nasdaq operates. Nasdaq’s application for Exchange Registration was
published by the SEC for public comment in 2001. Information relating to Nasdaq’s application can be found at the SEC’s web site at
http://www.sec.gov/rules/other/34-44396.htm. In November 2001, Nasdaq agreed to the SEC’s request for an indefinite extension of the date by which the
SEC must approve Nasdaq’s application or begin proceedings to determine whether the application should be denied. While Nasdaq continues to work with
the SEC to address its concerns, there is no assurance that Nasdaq’s application for Exchange Registration will be granted or, if granted, the timing of such
approval and what restrictions or changes the SEC will require in Nasdaq’s operations or corporate structure. See “—Risk Factors—The SEC may challenge
or not approve Nasdaq’s plan to become a national securities exchange or it may require changes in the manner Nasdaq conducts its business before granting
this approval.”
In connection with Exchange Registration, the SEC is conducting a review of Nasdaq’s current rules and operations. As part of this review, the SEC
required as a condition for its approval of Exchange Registration and SuperMontage that the NASD develop and operate an alternative display facility
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(“ADF”) for NASD members to assist in the quotation and transaction reporting of securities. See “—Risk Factors—Competition by regional exchanges and
the ADF may reduce Nasdaq’s transactions, trade reporting and market information revenues and impact the ability of Nasdaq to increase its market share of
transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities.”
Until such time as Nasdaq may obtain Exchange Registration, Nasdaq’s legal authority to operate as a stock market is delegated to it by the NASD under
a plan approved by the SEC (the “Delegation Plan”). Although Nasdaq exercises primary responsibility for market-related functions, including market-related
rulemaking, all actions taken by Nasdaq pursuant to its delegated authority are subject to review, ratification or rejection by the NASD. In addition, the
Delegation Plan requires that the NASD retain greater than 50% of the voting control over Nasdaq. As part of the Restructuring, Nasdaq sold the NASD a
share of Series B Preferred Stock designed to ensure that the NASD maintains voting control until Exchange Registration. The voting power of the share of
Series B Preferred Stock is recalculated for each matter presented to stockholders as of the record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to
vote on the matter. The NASD, as holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock, will be entitled to cast the number of votes that, together with all other
votes that the NASD is entitled to vote by virtue of ownership, proxies or voting trusts, enables the NASD to cast one vote more than one-half of all votes
entitled to be cast by stockholders. In addition, the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrants as well as shares of Common
Stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants, will be voted by a trustee at the direction of the NASD until Exchange Registration. If Nasdaq obtains
Exchange Registration, the share of Series B Preferred Stock will lose its voting rights and will be redeemed by Nasdaq.
If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration it will receive its own SRO status, separate from that of the NASD. Pursuant to the Exchange Act, SROs
include any registered national securities exchange, registered securities association (of which the NASD is currently the only one), or registered clearing
agency, or, for certain purposes, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. In general, an SRO is responsible for regulating its members through the
adoption and enforcement of rules and regulations governing the business conduct of its members. As an SRO, Nasdaq will have its own rules pertaining to
its members and listed companies regarding listing, membership and trading that are distinct and separate from those rules applicable to broker-dealers that
are administered by the NASD. Broker-dealers will be able to choose to become members of Nasdaq, in addition to their other SRO memberships, including
membership in the NASD. It is presently contemplated that Nasdaq will contract with the NASD to provide certain regulatory services to Nasdaq and its
subsidiaries commencing upon the effectiveness of Exchange Registration. See “—Service, Regulatory and Technology Contractual Relationships with the
NASD, NASDR and Amex.”
Whether or not Nasdaq is granted Exchange Registration is not expected to have a financial impact on Nasdaq in the short-term. In the long-term,
however, Exchange Registration is expected to improve the competitive position of Nasdaq. As an exchange, Nasdaq will be able to completely separate itself
from the NASD, which Nasdaq believes to be in the best interest of investors. As an exchange, Nasdaq will no longer have to share revenue from certain
proprietary products with certain other exchanges. An independent Nasdaq will have greater access to the capital markets in order to raise funds for service
enhancements.
Industry Overview
The securities market industry historically has included The Nasdaq Stock Market, the national stock exchanges, such as the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) and the American Stock Exchange (“Amex”) and a number of regional exchanges. Some of these regional exchanges have a few exclusive “local”

securities, but most compete in the business of trading the more active NYSE-, Nasdaq- and Amex-listed
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securities. The regional exchanges include the Boston, Chicago, National (formerly, Cincinnati), Pacific (which includes the Archipelago Exchange) and
Philadelphia exchanges.
Regulatory and technological developments have led to gradual changes in the industry and have resulted in greater competition in the trading of
securities. The emergence of alternative trading systems—a term that refers generally to internal trading systems that are designed to match buyers and sellers
of securities on an agency basis and includes ECNs—has provided an additional venue for investors to transact certain trades. Nasdaq encourages the use of
internal or alternative systems to trade securities and considers these systems an important component of The Nasdaq Stock Market to the extent that they
report trades through The Nasdaq Stock Market, display their best bid and offer on the market and transact on The Nasdaq Stock Market.
The following table sets forth information comparing the primary U.S. markets for 2003 and 2002:
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2003
The Nasdaq
Stock
Market
NYSE
Amex

Total share volume (billions)
Total dollar volume (trillions)
Average daily share volume (billions)
Average daily dollar volume (billions)
Number of listed companies (at year end)

425.0
7.1
1.7
$ 28.0
3,333
$

352.4
9.7
1.4
$ 38.5
2,750
$

17.5
$ 0.6
0.1
$ 2.2
700

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2002
The Nasdaq
Stock
Market
NYSE
Amex

441.7
7.3
1.8
$ 28.8
3,659
$

363.1
$ 10.3
1.4
$ 40.9
2,783

15.7
$ 0.6
0.1
$ 2.5
698

National Market System
In the 1970s, Congress passed legislation and the SEC adopted rules to create a national market system to disseminate market information. As a result,
participants in U.S. securities markets have access to a consolidated stream of quotation and transaction information from all the exchanges and The Nasdaq
Stock Market (acting under the Delegation Plan) for most equity securities. The exchanges and The Nasdaq Stock Market act jointly to collect and
disseminate this information under national market system plans approved by the SEC. The price and transaction information collected under these national
market system plans is sold for a fee to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public. These fees are referred to as “Tape Fees.” After costs are
deducted, the Tape Fees are distributed among the participants in each of the national market system plans based on their transaction volume. The national
market system plans include:
· The Nasdaq Unlisted Trading Privileges Plan (“UTP Plan”), which collects and disseminates price and transaction information for securities listed on
The Nasdaq Stock Market. Members of the plan are the NASD and certain regional exchanges.
· The Consolidated Quotation Plan, which collects and disseminates quotation information for securities listed on the NYSE and Amex. All of the
exchanges and the NASD are members of this plan.
· The Consolidated Tape Association Plan, which collects and disseminates transaction information for NYSE and Amex securities. All of the exchanges
and the NASD are members of this plan.
· The Intermarket Trading System, which is a communications system that allows orders to be sent to the exchange or market quoting the best price. All
of the exchanges and the NASD are members of the Intermarket Trading System Plan.
Nasdaq, operating under the Delegation Plan, currently acts on behalf of the NASD in each of these plans and intends to become a member in its own
right of each of these plans when and if it becomes an exchange.
6

Products and Services
Nasdaq operates in two segments: Market Services and Issuer Services. Financial information about segments and geographic areas may be found in
Note 17, “Segments,” to the consolidated financial statements. Nasdaq’s products and services are grouped in the following categories:
Market Services
· Transaction Services; and
· Market Information Services.
Issuer Services
· Corporate Client Group; and
· Nasdaq Financial Products.
MARKET SERVICES.
Transaction Services. Transaction Services are the core set of products designed to provide market participants with access to The Nasdaq Stock
Market, execution services that provide quoting and trading capabilities and reporting services such as trade reporting and risk management. In addition,
Nasdaq provides transaction services for securities authorized for trading on the OTC Bulletin Board as well as exchange-listed securities that are traded in
the over-the-counter market by NASD members. See “—Other Products and Markets—Nasdaq InterMarket” and “—OTC Bulletin Board.”
Most of Nasdaq’s market participants are connected over the Nasdaq Network, which is jointly designed and managed by Nasdaq and MCI WorldCom
Communications, Inc., formerly, WorldCom, Inc., (“MCI”). Nasdaq entered into a contract with MCI in 1997 to design and support the network. MCI charges

Nasdaq monthly for use of the network. The network is scalable and reliable, supporting trading volume of up to eight billion shares per day. Each market
participant is connected to The Nasdaq Stock Market through paired connections with two lines to greatly reduce the risk of connection failure. The contract,
as amended in June 2002, will expire May 31, 2004 and Nasdaq and MCI have entered into a new global services agreement (the “GSA”) effective upon
termination of the current contract that, among other things, replaces the Nasdaq Network as of June 1, 2004. The Nasdaq Network will be converted from a
private network design to a new “extranet” public network. Under the GSA, MCI will be the sole provider of the former Nasdaq Network services (known as
the SDP-API services under the GSA) until the GSA expires on December 31, 2005. Amounts invoiced to Nasdaq by MCI for the conversion of the network
to the extranet model and for SDP-API services shall contribute to Nasdaq’s obligation that usage charges for certain GSA services be at least $20 million
during the period from June 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004 and $20 million in 2005. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments” and, Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the
consolidated financial statements.
Access Services. Nasdaq provides access to its execution and trade reporting systems through five products: Nasdaq Workstation II; the Application
Program Interface that allows firms to create their own interface to The Nasdaq Stock Market; a Computer-to-Computer Interface (“CTCI”) that provides for
automated order entry, trade reporting and routing; the Nasdaq Workstation WebLink system that provides browser-based access to The Nasdaq Stock Market
via the Internet; and Nasdaq’s FIX product, which allows firms to use the Financial Information Exchange (“FIX”) protocol to send Nasdaq SuperMontage
orders.
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Nasdaq Workstation II, introduced in 1995, is a software product that is installed on approximately 3,400 computer desktops to provide market
participants with access to Nasdaq transaction services. Nasdaq Workstation II is designed to provide a fast, flexible, reliable and convenient trading
environment capable of running on a variety of computers. In addition to the Nasdaq Workstation II, the Application Program Interface allows approximately
2,700 users to access The Nasdaq Stock Market over customized interfaces developed by market participants. Using the Application Program Interface, a firm
can connect its internal systems to The Nasdaq Stock Market for order and position management. Access to The Nasdaq Stock Market via the Application
Program Interface instead of Nasdaq Workstation II represents a growing trend among Nasdaq market participants.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from Nasdaq Workstation II and the Application Program Interface
were $89.0 million, $118.4 million and $142.9 million, respectively. Nasdaq Workstation II and Application Program Interface fees accounted for 15.1% of
Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Nasdaq also provides CTCI for users to report trades, enter orders into, and receive execution messages through, SuperMontage. The CTCI links The
Nasdaq Stock Market to automated firm systems. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from CTCI were $15.6
million, $17.1 million and $15.5 million, respectively. CTCI revenues accounted for 2.6% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Nasdaq’s Workstation WebLink, an Internet browser-based system for small order-entry and market making firms, provides small firms with a low-cost
option for performing basic trade reporting and risk management functions as well as order routing. Workstation WebLink accounted for less than 1% of
Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
In August 2003, Nasdaq implemented FIX connectivity to SuperMontage for order entry. Nasdaq’s FIX product uses FIX protocol, a standard method of
financial communication between trading firms and vendors. Since firms use FIX to access firms and other market centers, firms can leverage their existing
FIX-based technology to support Nasdaq access. In addition, a large vendor/consultant network is available to support new FIX firms. Nasdaq plans to
provide access to other Nasdaq services through FIX during 2004, including access for trading of securities listed on national stock exchanges through
SuperMontage. Nasdaq FIX accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ending December 31, 2003.
Execution Services. As part of its price discovery function, Nasdaq provides collection, processing and dissemination of price quotations of Nasdaqlisted securities to its market participants. Price quotations are made up of two parts—the bid and the offer. The bid is the displayed price at which the quoting
market participant is prepared to buy the security from any seller in the marketplace. The offer is the displayed price at which the quoting market participant
is prepared to sell the security to any buyer in the marketplace. Since market participants may wish to pay differing amounts to buy or sell a particular
security, Nasdaq looks at all the price quotations of the market participant in that security and independently ranks the bids and offers so that one can easily
determine the Nasdaq participant who is willing to sell the security for the lowest price and the one who is willing to buy the security at the highest price. This
combination of the best bid and the best offer is referred to as the “Nasdaq inside.”
Once price quotations have been entered into the Nasdaq system, Nasdaq processes the price quotations by updating the posted price and size (i.e.,
number of shares the posting party will buy or sell at that price) in response to messages received from the party posting the price quotation. Only registered
market makers, ECNs and UTP Plan participants have the ability to post and adjust quotations in the Nasdaq system. However, order entry firms are
permitted to enter non-marketable orders into SuperMontage for anonymous display.
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Nasdaq provides electronic routing of buy and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities to and from a market maker, order entry firm or ECN and the
execution of those orders through the use of automated systems. Order routing and execution are the terms generally used to describe how orders to buy and
sell securities are directed to market participants as well as how these orders are handled once they reach their destination. Order routing refers to the act of
transmitting orders to another market participant for action. Order execution is a legally binding step in which orders are executed, or responded to, once
received by a market participant.
Nasdaq’s primary execution system is SuperMontage, which completed its rollout for Nasdaq-listed securities on December 2, 2002. SuperMontage
provides market participants with the ability to access, process, display and integrate orders and quotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market. SuperMontage has
several strategic implications. It provides a comprehensive display of the interest at the Nasdaq inside and four price levels away, thus increasing market
transparency. SuperMontage also provides anonymity to market participants using a Nasdaq system, i.e., participants do not know the identity of the firm
displaying the order unless such firm chooses to reveal its identity. Anonymous trading can contribute to improved pricing for securities by reducing the
potential market impact of large transactions and transactions by certain investors whose trading activity, if known, may be more likely to influence others.
By allowing (but not requiring) market participants to give the Nasdaq system multiple orders at a single price level as well as at multiple price levels,
SuperMontage assists market participants with the management of their back book, i.e., orders that are not at the best price. This functionality also assists

market participants in complying with the SEC’s order handling rules. These rules, among other things, require the display of customer limit orders priced
better than a Nasdaq market maker’s or a designated dealer’s quote or that are for a larger number of shares at the same price. Other system enhancements
make it easier for participants to access ECNs via Nasdaq systems.
Nasdaq is currently reviewing the functionality of SuperMontage and is considering certain additional modifications to the system requested by market
participants. Nasdaq’s goal is to build market share growth in 2004 by encouraging user acceptance of SuperMontage and Nasdaq will continue to use
competitive pricing to bring more order flow to SuperMontage.
The primary fee for SuperMontage is a transaction execution charge, assessed on a per share basis to the party that accesses the liquidity provided by
another market participant. In most circumstances, Nasdaq credits a portion of the per share execution charge as a rebate to the market participant that
provides the liquidity. In addition, certain types of SuperMontage orders are subject to order entry and order cancellation charges. In February 2003, Nasdaq
eliminated a fee that it had formerly charged when a market participant updated a quotation or non-marketable limit order that it had posted in SuperMontage.
SuperMontage generated revenues, net of the liquidity rebate, of $73.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, accounting for 12.5% of Nasdaq’s total
revenues for the year.
Upon complete implementation of SuperMontage in December 2002, Nasdaq retired several order routing and execution systems that had previously
been used by The Nasdaq Stock Market. These systems include:
· The Nasdaq National Market Execution System (also known as “SuperSoes ”), which was fully implemented on July 30, 2001 and functioned as the
primary system for transactions in securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market.
SM

· SelectNet, which functioned as an automated Nasdaq service to facilitate order execution by linking all market participants that trade Nasdaq-listed
securities.
· SOES, which routed and executed small orders of public customers seeking to trade securities listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. During 2001,
until the introduction of SuperSoes, SOES also executed orders for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market.
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Nasdaq also offers execution services for Nasdaq InterMarket, which is an electronic marketplace where NASD members can trade securities listed on
the NYSE or Amex. NASD members currently trade NYSE and Amex listed securities via a Nasdaq system known as the Computer Assisted Execution
System (“CAES ” ). CAES allows users to direct orders in exchange-listed securities to other Nasdaq InterMarket market makers for automated response
and execution. CAES also provides access to the Intermarket Trading System, a communications system that allows exchange-designated dealers, exchange
floor brokers and NASD members to send orders for execution to the market quoting the best price. Nasdaq charges Nasdaq InterMarket participants a
monthly fee per terminal used to allow access to both systems (CAES and Intermarket Trading System). Through most of 2003, a per transaction fee was
charged to the originating party (i.e., the sender). In December 2003, Nasdaq eliminated CAES and Intermarket Trading System fees except on Amex-listed
securities. CAES and Intermarket Trading System fees accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
SM

SM

On March 2, 2004, the SEC approved Nasdaq’s proposal to move the trading of exchange-listed securities from the CAES trading platform to the
SuperMontage platform. Trading in exchange-listed securities through SuperMontage began on March 8, 2004. The SuperMontage platform offers much the
same functionality for exchange-listed trading that it offers for trading Nasdaq-listed issues. The differences in functionality for trading in exchange-listed
securities are largely attributable to the need for SuperMontage to interact with other exchanges via the Intermarket Trading System, which requires NASD to
send and receive orders from other markets under rules that are not applicable to trading in Nasdaq-listed securities. Despite these limitations, Nasdaq
believes that the implementation of SuperMontage would improve the speed, efficiency and transparency of trading on the Nasdaq InterMarket. The intention
is to make Nasdaq a more attractive venue for execution services for exchange-listed trading. In connection with the implementation of trading in exchangelisted securities through the SuperMontage platform, Nasdaq anticipates rebranding its execution services and trade reporting-ACT services (discussed below)
as the “Nasdaq market center,” which include Nasdaq’s quoting, trading and trade reporting services for both Nasdaq-listed and exchange-listed securities.
This rebranding will occur once Nasdaq’s updates its rules to reflect the name change.
In addition to SuperMontage and CAES, Nasdaq continues to offer several specialized transaction services via the Advanced Computerized Execution
System (“ACES®”), an order routing service that can be used by any Nasdaq market participant. Order entry firms that use ACES generally route buy and sell
orders to market makers after establishing a trading relationship. Market makers in turn leverage their internal systems to fill orders at the best price displayed
in the market. ACES participants can route orders directly to other participants through Nasdaq Workstation II, Nasdaq Workstation Weblink or their own
proprietary systems. These orders are executed within the participant’s internal trading system and execution reports are routed back to the entering firm.
ACES is often used to automate order routing and to connect order entry firms whose execution volume is too low to justify the fixed costs of establishing a
proprietary order management system. ACES fees are charged to the receiving firm only and consist of graduated activity fees per execution that decrease as
the market maker’s number of executions per month increases. ACES accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31,
2003.
Trade Reporting Services—Automated Confirmation Transaction Service (“ACT ”). U.S. securities laws require that all registered stock exchanges
and securities associations establish a transaction reporting plan for the central collection of price and volume information concerning trades executed in those
markets. Transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities, exchange-listed securities traded over-the-counter and other equity securities traded over-the-counter have
traditionally been reported to the ACT system, Nasdaq’s automated trade reporting and reconciliation service that electronically facilitates the post-execution
steps of price and volume reporting, comparison and clearing of trades. A protocol establishes which of the two parties to the trade is responsible for trade
reporting, and NASD rules govern the timeliness of trade
SM
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submission and the information required on each trade report. During the fourth quarter of 2003, approximately 56.7% of total Nasdaq’s share volume (based
on the aggregate number of shares traded) was reported to ACT, with the remainder going to regional exchanges and the ADF.
ACT provides three primary revenue-generating services: trade reporting, trade comparison and risk management. The majority of trades reported to
Nasdaq are matched and executed exclusively through the order books of individual market participants or through other automated execution systems
(“locked-in”) externally from the ACT system and are submitted for reporting purposes only. Transaction reports in over-the-counter securities and some

transaction reports in Nasdaq-listed securities and exchange-listed securities are assessed a nominal reporting fee. Additionally, firms below a certain
threshold of average daily executions in SuperMontage pay a nominal fee for reporting SuperMontage trades. Trades that require ACT to match and lock-in
the two parties to the trade generally are assessed a higher fee based upon the number of shares traded. A fee for the ACT risk management service is also
applied to some of the transactions reported to ACT. This fee is assessed to the firms that clear for each of the parties to the trade, provided that the trading
parties are not designated as self-clearing firms and have not opted out of the risk management service. A cap on ACT risk management fees limits a clearing
firm’s monthly payment for each of its trading firms to $10,000.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from ACT were $47.3 million, $78.5 million and $87.3 million,
respectively. ACT fees accounted for 8.0% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from Transaction Services were $236.0 million, $380.6 million and
$411.9 million, respectively. Transaction Services accounted for 40.0% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Market Information Services. The primary source of revenues for Market Information Services is the collection and dissemination of price quotations
and information regarding price and volume of executed trades. Market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market have real-time access to quote and trade data.
Interested parties that are not direct market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market also can receive real-time information through a number of Market
Information Services products.
Nasdaq collects information, distributes it and earns revenues in two roles. First, Nasdaq operates the exclusive Securities Information Process (the
“SIP”) for the collection and dissemination of best bid and offer (the “BBO”) and last transaction information from the exchanges and markets that quote and
trade in Nasdaq-listed securities. Second, in its role as a market, Nasdaq sells proprietary data products.
In its role as the SIP, Nasdaq collects and disseminates quotation and last sale information for all transactions in securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock
Market. In creating the national market system, Congress intended for participants in U.S. securities markets to have access to a stream of consolidated BBO
and last sale transaction information for the exchanges and The Nasdaq Stock Market. To accomplish this objective, the SIP consolidates information with
respect to BBO and transactions in order to increase information availability and thus create the opportunity for a more transparent and effective market.
Nasdaq is currently the exclusive SIP pursuant to the UTP Plan. Under the UTP Plan, each participant can quote and trade any security listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq collects BBO and last sale information from competing exchanges (currently the Amex, the Boston Stock Exchange, the
Chicago Stock Exchange, the National Stock Exchange, the NASD’s ADF and the Pacific Stock Exchange) and consolidates such information with the
information from The Nasdaq Stock Market.
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As the SIP, Nasdaq sells this information in exchange for Tape Fees to vendors. The data vendors in turn sell the last sale and quotation data publicly.
Under the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, Nasdaq is permitted to deduct certain costs associated with acting as an exclusive SIP from the total
amount of Tape Fees collected. After these costs are deducted from the Tape Fees, Nasdaq distributes to the respective UTP Plan participants, including
Nasdaq, their share of Tape Fees based on a combination of their respective trade volume and share volume.
While Nasdaq is currently the exclusive SIP for the UTP Plan, it is engaged with the other UTP Plan participants in selecting a new SIP. This process is
the result of the SEC’s conditions for extending the UTP Plan beyond its March 2001 termination date which, in turn, was a condition of the approval of
SuperMontage. Nasdaq does not expect its net operating income to be materially affected if it no longer serves as a SIP because SIP revenues are passed on to
UTP Plan participants based on a combination of their trade volume and share volume (after deducting operating expenses). The reduction in Nasdaq’s total
revenues that may occur when Nasdaq is no longer reimbursed for operating expenses is expected to be largely offset by a reduction in Nasdaq’s actual
expenses since it will no longer operate as the SIP.
The SEC has required that there be good faith negotiations among the UTP Plan participants on a revised UTP Plan that provides for either (i) a fully
viable alternative exclusive SIP for all securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market, or (ii) a fully viable alternative non-exclusive SIP. To avoid conflicts
of interest, the SEC cautioned that, in the event the revised UTP Plan provides for an exclusive SIP, a UTP Plan participant—particularly Nasdaq—should not
operate as the exclusive SIP unless (i) the SIP is chosen on the basis of bona fide competitive bidding and the participant submits the successful bid, and
(ii) any decision to award a contract to a UTP Plan participant, and any ensuing renewal of such contract, is made without that UTP Plan participant’s direct
or indirect voting participation. The UTP Plan participants unanimously approved the Request-for-Proposal that was then mailed to prospective bidders. Six
bidders submitted proposals. Nasdaq did not submit a bid proposal. The UTP Plan participants have narrowed the list to two bidders and they are currently
evaluating those proposals to select the final bidder. The UTP Plan Participants will then enter into an agreement for the winning bidder to succeed Nasdaq as
the exclusive SIP to the Nasdaq UTP Plan.
Nasdaq and the other UTP Plan participants earn revenues from two SIP market information products. These products are designed to provide the
varying levels of detail desired by different broker-dealers and their customers. The first product is known as Level 1. This product provides subscribers with
the current national BBO and most recent price at which the last sale or purchase was transacted for a specific security as well as the BBO from each
exchange or market trading stocks listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Professional subscribers (e.g., broker-dealers and other employees of broker-dealers)
to this product pay a monthly fee per terminal for the service, which is typically delivered to the subscriber through a third-party data vendor. A vendor or a
broker-dealer can provide non-professional customers (such as individual investors) with Level 1 information at a reduced fee calculated on a per query basis
or a flat monthly fee per user. Weaker economic and market conditions in the last two years caused a reduction in Level 1 revenues primarily due to a
decrease in demand from professional users.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s revenues from Level 1 fees were $123.6 million, $139.5 million and $159.4 million,
respectively. Nasdaq’s Level 1 fees accounted for 21.0% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Currently, the second SIP market information product, the Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service (“NQDS ”), provides subscribers with the BBO
from each individual Nasdaq market maker and ECN. All NQDS subscribers use the service to obtain consolidated UTP Plan and Nasdaq inside quotes and
last transaction information. The fee for this service is priced on a per terminal per month basis, with professional subscribers paying a higher monthly per
terminal fee than non-professional customers.
SM
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Nasdaq removed UTP Plan exchange quote information from the NQDS data product in March 2003 and, upon Exchange Registration, NQDS will
become a proprietary Nasdaq data product. Also upon Exchange Registration, the SIP will no longer administer NQDS and Nasdaq will no longer share
related revenues with UTP Plan participants. Nasdaq has proposed an amendment to the UTP Plan to make NQDS a Nasdaq proprietary product immediately.
The UTP Plan participants voted against this amendment and Nasdaq is considering other approaches to removing NQDS from the UTP Plan.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s revenues from NQDS fees were $37.9 million, $37.5 million and $43.4 million,
respectively. NQDS fees accounted for 6.4% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
SIP revenues are allocated among Nasdaq and the UTP Plan exchanges that trade Nasdaq issues based on the average of the percent of consolidated
trades and percent of consolidated shares reported to each market. The average of percent of consolidated trades and shares that is controlled by the UTP
exchanges (not including Nasdaq’s share) is referred to as “UTP Plan market share”. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, UTP Plan
market share was 39.2%, 13.6% and 2.4% respectively. The portion of SIP revenues allocated to the UTP Plan exchanges for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 was $50.8 million, $18.3 million and $4.7 million, respectively.
Nasdaq, in its role as a stock market, offers a range of proprietary data products that includes TotalView (formerly known as ViewSuite), a new
proprietary data product developed in conjunction with the launch of SuperMontage. SuperMontage has expanded Nasdaq’s ability to offer market data to
market participants that choose to display trading interest on Nasdaq that goes beyond the BBO. TotalView shows subscribers the aggregate size available in
SuperMontage at the top five price levels, all Nasdaq market participants’ quotations/orders that are in the top five price levels in SuperMontage and the
aggregate size of all unattributed (i.e., providing trade anonymity) quotes/orders at each of the top five price levels. In 2004 Nasdaq plans to expand
TotalView to include all price levels. TotalView is offered through distributors to professional subscribers for a monthly fee per terminal and to nonprofessional subscribers for a lower monthly fee per terminal. In addition, Nasdaq charges the distributor a monthly distributor fee.
SM

Nasdaq operates several other proprietary services and data feed products. Of these, the service generating the largest revenue is Mutual Fund Quotation
Service (“MFQS ”), which collects annual listing fees from over 19,000 mutual funds, money market funds and unit investment trusts. MFQS generated
revenues of $8.4 million in 2003. NasdaqTrader.com is a website that serves the Nasdaq trading community and supplies historical trading and compliance
data for a monthly subscription fee. Nasdaq PostData , is a service offered through NasdaqTrader. Nasdaq PostData, offers various information about
selected securities, including volume, daily activity, market participant activity and related information. Nasdaq distributes PostData to data distributors for a
per subscriber charge and to direct subscribers for a set fee. The Nasdaq Index Dissemination service is a real-time data feed that carries the values for a
number of broad-based and sector indices. Nasdaq charges a monthly distributor fee for the Index service. In late 2003, Nasdaq began offering a new distinct
data feed service, the Mutual Fund Distributor Service (“MFDS ”), which disseminates daily pricing information for mutual funds, money market funds and
unit investment trusts. Nasdaq charges a monthly distributor fee for MFDS. The proprietary services other than MFQS in aggregate accounted for less than
1% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Nasdaq also earns revenue based on its share of trading of securities listed on the NYSE and Amex via the Nasdaq InterMarket . All Nasdaq InterMarket
trades are reported and disseminated in real-time to the Consolidated Tape Association, and as such, Nasdaq shares in the Tape Fees generated by the
Consolidated Tape Association. Three NASD members that are major market makers and one ECN report the majority of trades. Other ECNs report trades
through Nasdaq systems to the Consolidated Tape Association or to other Intermarket Trading System participants, such as regional exchanges. NASD
members who trade exchange-listed securities away from the exchanges account for a significant amount of
SM
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Nasdaq InterMarket trading activity. Nasdaq shares a portion of the Tape Fees received for Nasdaq InterMarket transactions with InterMarket participants.
In anticipation of Exchange Registration, Nasdaq has been negotiating with participants in the Consolidated Tape Association and the Intermarket
Trading System for admission into those plans as a separate SRO. Nasdaq may be required to pay a fee, which has yet to be determined, for admission into
the Consolidated Tape Association. After Exchange Registration, Nasdaq InterMarket will likely continue to trade securities listed on the NYSE and Amex in
much the same manner as it does today with the exception that it may no longer be permitted to accept trade reports that are at an inferior price to the
quotations of other market centers. Nasdaq’s inability to accept such trade reports may decrease Nasdaq’s percentage of trades and volume in these securities,
reducing Nasdaq’s revenues.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from Market Information Services were $147.1 million, $199.6 million
and $241.6 million, respectively. Market Information Services accounted for 24.9% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
ISSUER SERVICES.
Corporate Client Group. The Corporate Client Group provides customer support services and products to Nasdaq-listed companies and is responsible
for obtaining new listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The Nasdaq Stock Market has historically attracted traditional growth companies and, as of
December 31, 2003, was home to the highest percentage of publicly-traded technology and service companies in the U.S.
On December 31, 2003, there were 3,333 companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the year ended December 31, 2003, 134 new companies
listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, 97 on The Nasdaq National Market and 37 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
121 new companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, 86 on The Nasdaq National Market and 35 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market.
During 2003, 57 initial public offerings (“IPOs”), approximately 68.7% of all IPOs on primary U.S. markets during this period, listed on The Nasdaq
Stock Market. These IPOs raised over $6.3 billion. Of all U.S. IPOs during the year ended December 31, 2002, 51 companies, approximately 56.7% of U.S.
IPOs during this period, listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The increase in The Nasdaq Stock Market’s percentage of U.S. IPOs during 2003 reflects an
improvement in general market and economic conditions, which has allowed more traditional growth companies to access the public equity markets than in
recent years. Fifty-three of the 57 IPOs that listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market during 2003 have listed on The Nasdaq National Market and four companies
have listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market.
Companies cease being listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market for three primary reasons: (i) the failure to meet The Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing
standards; (ii) the consolidation of listings due to merger and acquisition activity; and (iii) Nasdaq-listed companies switching their listing to another stock
market. See “—Competition—Corporate Client Group.”
For the year ended December 31, 2003, 230 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq National Market and 230 issuers ceased being listed on The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market. By comparison, 379 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq National Market and 192 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market for the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in the number of delistings of issuers listed on The Nasdaq National Market was
primarily the result of improved market conditions in 2003 and changes to the minimum bid price rules discussed in more detail below. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, 47 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 146 issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market were delisted by Nasdaq for failure to

satisfy listing standards; 18 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 6 issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market were delisted as a result of switches to a
competing market; and 165 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 78 issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market
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ceased being listed for other reasons, including mergers and acquisitions. An additional 127 issuers transferred from one tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market to
the other tier, with 85 issuers moving from The Nasdaq National Market to The Nasdaq SmallCap Market and 42 issuers moving from The Nasdaq SmallCap
Market to The Nasdaq National Market. The large majority of these transfers between tiers were companies moving from The Nasdaq National Market to The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market due to a change in Nasdaq’s listing standards permitting issuers that no longer meet the requirements of The Nasdaq National
Market to phase down to The Nasdaq SmallCap Market, as discussed in more detail below.
The rules concerning the delisting of issuers from The Nasdaq Stock Market for failure to satisfy the minimum bid price requirement were amended in
March and December 2003. An issuer is considered below the minimum bid price requirement if the price of its security falls below the minimum bid price
requirement for 30 consecutive business days. Under a pilot program scheduled to expire on December 31, 2004, issuers listed on either tier of The Nasdaq
Stock Market have 180 days to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement and thereafter have an additional 180 days to regain compliance if
they meet all initial inclusion standards (other than bid price) of the applicable tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Issuers listed on The Nasdaq National
Market that do not meet these other initial inclusion requirements of The Nasdaq National Market at the end of the first 180-day period are permitted to
phase-down to The Nasdaq SmallCap Market if they satisfy all SmallCap Market initial inclusion requirements except for bid price. Issuers that phase down
receive the second 180-day compliance period while listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. After the two 180-day compliance periods, an issuer on The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market satisfying the other initial inclusion requirements generally has until its next shareholder meeting to regain compliance with the
minimum bid price requirement, provided the issuer commits to seek shareholder approval for a reverse stock split at the shareholder meeting and promptly
thereafter executes the reverse stock split. In addition to the pilot program, Nasdaq conformed the minimum continued listing bid price requirement to $1 for
all issuers listed on The Nasdaq National Market. This replaced a $3 minimum bid price requirement formerly applicable to certain issuers.
Nasdaq charges issuers an initial listing fee, a listing of additional shares (“LAS”) fee and an annual fee. The initial listing fee for securities listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market includes a listing application fee and a total shares outstanding fee. The estimated service period for initial listing fees is six years. For
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s revenues from initial listing fees were $32.3 million, $33.6 million and $35.6 million,
respectively. Nasdaq’s initial listing fee revenues accounted for approximately 5.5% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
The fee for LAS is based on the total shares outstanding, which Nasdaq reviews quarterly. The estimated service period for LAS fees is four years. For
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s revenues from LAS fees were $37.1 million, $37.5 million and $35.9 million, respectively.
Nasdaq’s LAS fee revenues accounted for 6.3% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Annual fees for securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market are based on total shares outstanding. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, Nasdaq’s revenues from annual listing fees were $93.6 million, $99.4 million and $82.2 million, respectively. Nasdaq’s annual listing fees accounted
for 15.9% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Revenues from the Corporate Client Group reflect increases in initial and annual listing fees for companies on The Nasdaq National Market (effective
January 1, 2002) and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market (effective January 1, 2002 and revised January 1, 2003). The revenues generated from the fee increases
have been used in part to fund enhancements to the services offered to Nasdaq-listed companies, including the establishment of the Market Intelligence
Desk.
SM
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Following the initial listing, Nasdaq provides customer support services, products and programs to Nasdaq-listed companies. In 2002, Nasdaq created
the Market Intelligence Desk, a “one-stop-shop” for information that provides rapid response to corporate client queries from a centralized location.
Executives of Nasdaq-listed companies also are invited to participate in a variety of programs on a wide range of topics, such as industry sector-specific
seminars and investor relation forums. These executives also have access to Nasdaq Online, a strategic planning tool provided free of charge to Nasdaqlisted companies. Nasdaq Online presents market data on all U.S. traded companies and real-time quotes for Nasdaq-listed securities, as well as information
on institutional ownership, research coverage and performance ratios. This combination of on-line real time data and analytical information, along with a
series of other seminars and programs, is designed to help management of listed companies make better equity management decisions. A product group has
been established to begin the development and commercialization of new products and services focused on the corporate market, as well as increased
financial news media coverage of Nasdaq-listed companies.
SM

Each Nasdaq-listed company is assigned a Corporate Client Group director who oversees the listed company’s relationship with Nasdaq. A schedule of
calls and visits along with invitations to various industry and market forums are used to enhance customer satisfaction, keep companies informed of new
developments at Nasdaq and discuss the benefits of a listing on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq also has created a program to educate investment bankers,
capital market dealers, institutional investors and other constituencies that influence listing decisions.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from the Corporate Client Group were $167.3 million, $173.3 million
and $155.2 million, respectively. The Corporate Client Group accounted for 28.4% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003.
On January 12, 2004, Nasdaq announced an initiative to allow NYSE-listed issuers to dually list their stock on Nasdaq and the NYSE. The dual listing
initiative follows the repeal of NYSE Rule 500, a rule that restricted the ability of NYSE-listed companies to delist from the NYSE and list on other markets and
that enabled the NYSE broad latitude to increase listing fees. The dual listing initiative will enable issuers to certify to shareholders that the company meets
Nasdaq’s strict corporate governance standards, to access Nasdaq’s corporate client support services and to serve shareholders through the availability of
Nasdaq’s execution services. As part of this initiative, dually listed companies will trade in the Nasdaq InterMarket using their existing one, two, or three
character symbols. Nasdaq believes that the planned addition of the SuperMontage platform to the InterMarket and an expected increase in the number of market
makers for these securities will improve execution quality for investors. The first six companies to announce plans to list on both markets under this program
were Apache Corporation, Cadence Design Systems, The Charles Schwab Corporation, Countrywide Financial, Hewlett-Packard and Walgreens. The dual listing
initiative is not expected to have a material effect on listing revenues during 2004 because Nasdaq has agreed to waive initial, annual and listing of additional
shares fees for dually-listed NYSE companies for one year.
Nasdaq Financial Products. Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for introducing products that extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand. Nasdaq
Financial Products oversees the development, licensing and marketing of Nasdaq branded financial products based on Nasdaq indices. These products,

particularly the exchange traded funds (“ETFs”), increase investments in companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, which can contribute to Nasdaq’s
Transaction Services, Market Information Services and Corporate Client Group LAS revenues. An ETF is an investment company organized to track an index
and to allow for secondary market trading. Nasdaq Financial Products markets these financial products and promotes the listing of these and other third party
sponsored ETFs and structured products.
Launched in January 1985, the Nasdaq-100 Index® includes the largest, top 100 non-financial companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. It is the
benchmark for about 30 domestic and international mutual funds and more than 400 structured investment products in 27 countries. A structured
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product is a specialized security designed to respond to specific investment objectives, such as risk reduction, leverage or diversification of current
investments or tax management.
The Nasdaq-100 Index Tracking Stock (“QQQ ”), the ETF based on the Nasdaq-100 Index, began trading in 1999 under the symbol QQQ. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, QQQ’s average daily trading volume was 77.5 million shares and its average daily dollar volume was approximately $2.4
billion. QQQ is the most actively traded ETF in the world and the most heavily traded listed stock in the U.S. As of December 31, 2003, the QQQ Trust had
issued approximately 702.4 million shares and the assets under management had reached $25.6 billion. QQQ’s equity options were also among the most
heavily traded options in the U.S. in 2003.
SM

SM

Major stock markets in the U.S., including the NYSE, Amex, Boston Stock Exchange, Chicago Stock Exchange, National Stock Exchange and the
Philadelphia Stock Exchange, have been licensed by Nasdaq to use Nasdaq trademarks in connection with trading QQQ under the UTP Plan. Every major
options market in the U.S. has also been licensed by Nasdaq to use Nasdaq trademarks to trade the equity options on QQQ. Nasdaq receives license fees for
its trademark licenses that vary by product based on assets or number or underlying dollar value of contracts issued. In addition to license fees, a Nasdaq
subsidiary is entitled to reimbursement from the QQQ Trust for marketing activities designed to promote the Trust.
In November 2002, Nasdaq launched the Nasdaq-100 European Tracker (“EQQQ ”). EQQQ isa European ETF based on the Nasdaq-100 Index with
essentially the same stock portfolio as QQQ but quoted and traded in Euros during European trading hours on European marketplace using European
clearance and settlement facilities. EQQQ is managed by Nasdaq Financial Product Services (Ireland), Limited, administered by AIB/BNY Fund
Management (Ireland), Ltd., with AIB/BNY Trust Company, Ltd. as its custodian. As of December 2003, EQQQ was registered for public sale in the United
Kingdom, Germany, Belgium, Italy and Ireland. Application has also been made for registration in Switzerland.
SM

SM

In 2003 Nasdaq Financial Products worked towards expanding the number of financial products linked to the Nasdaq Composite Index®. In
October 2003, the Fidelity® Nasdaq Composite® Index Tracking Stock (“ONEQ”) was listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. ONEQ is an ETF based on the
Nasdaq Composite Index used under license by FMR Corp, which owns Fidelity Investments. Other Nasdaq Composite derivative products licensed in 2003
included futures and options.
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq’s total revenues from Nasdaq Financial Products were $32.9 million, $28.1 million and
$30.6 million, respectively. Nasdaq Financial Products accounted for 5.6% of Nasdaq’s total revenues for the period ended December 31, 2003.
Other Products and Markets
Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC. On December 31, 2002, Nasdaq purchased the NASD’s 50% interest in The NASD Insurance Agency, LLC,
subsequently renamed The Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC (“NIA”). AIG NJV, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., owns
the other 50% interest in NIA. NIA provides insurance brokerage services and specializes in the directors and officers liability insurance market. Nasdaq
accounts for its investment in NIA under the equity method of accounting.
OTC Bulletin Board. The OTC Bulletin Board is an electronic screen-based market for equity securities that, among other things, are not listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market or any primary U.S. national securities exchange. The OTC Bulletin Board is only a quotation service without any execution facilities.
Companies do not list on the OTC Bulletin Board; rather, NASD members may post quotes only for companies that file periodic reports with the SEC and/or
with a banking or insurance regulatory authority. In addition, these companies are required to be current with their periodic filings. Market makers are charged
a fee per position and are billed based on their number of positions during a month. A
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position is defined as any price quotation or indication of interest entered by a market maker in a security quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. There are no
fees charged to companies whose securities are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. The OTC Bulletin Board revenues accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq’s
total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Revenues generated from the OTC Bulletin Board are included in
Transaction Services revenues.
In 2003, Nasdaq cancelled plans to transform the OTC Bulletin Board into a new listed market. The Nasdaq Board of Directors and the NASD Board of
Governors are considering whether Nasdaq will continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after Exchange Registration or whether the OTC Bulletin Board
will be transferred to the NASD or another entity. In order to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after Exchange Registration, Nasdaq would need to enter into
listing agreements with OTC Bulletin Board issuers or to receive an exemption from certain SEC listing requirements that apply to national securities
exchanges. Nasdaq believes that such an exemption is authorized under the Exchange Act, but it is unclear whether the SEC would grant such an exemption
were Nasdaq to request it. As a result, it is not certain whether Nasdaq will continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board following Exchange Registration.
Fee Changes
Nasdaq may change the pricing of its products and services in response to competitive pressures or changes in market or general economic conditions.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, Nasdaq must file all proposals for a change in its pricing structure with the SEC. Nasdaq provides updated
information on the pricing of its products and services on its website at www.nasdaqtrader.com. Information on Nasdaq’s website is not a part of this
Form 10-K. See also “ —Competition” and “—Risk Factors—Competition by regional exchanges and the ADF may reduce Nasdaq’s transactions, trade
reporting and market information revenues and impact the ability of Nasdaq to increase its market share of transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities.”
Technology

Nasdaq believes that the effective use of technology is the key to the future of financial markets. The Nasdaq Stock Market was the world’s first
electronic screen-based stock market and its use of state-of-the-art computer networking, telecommunications and information technologies distinguishes it
from other U.S. securities markets. Using technology, Nasdaq eliminates the need for a physical trading floor and enables qualified investors across the
country to compete freely with one another in an electronic screen-based environment. The Nasdaq Network has handled trade volumes of over three billion
shares daily and over 14,000 transactions per second and is designed to maximize transaction reliability and network security across each of the most critical
system services that comprise The Nasdaq Stock Market, including quotation, order processing, trade reporting and market data dissemination. Furthermore,
Nasdaq’s system has substantial reserve capacity to handle far greater levels of activity and will further expand bandwidth to maximize its ability to provide
an efficient, rapid, reliable trading environment for its market participants. Continual systems improvements provide cost effective and efficient access to
multiple market information data and rapid market response capabilities. Nasdaq also employs technology to maximize its ability to communicate with
investors, issuers, traders, the media and others.
Competition
The equity securities markets are intensely competitive and they are expected to remain so. Nasdaq competes based on a number of factors, including the
quality of its technological and regulatory infrastructure, total transaction costs, the depth and breadth of its markets, the quality of its value-added customer
services (e.g., services to listed companies), reputation and price. In the U.S., Nasdaq is one of the leaders in each of its principal businesses. Nonetheless,
Nasdaq expects that current or new markets and exchanges will continue to compete aggressively against Nasdaq.
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In light of recent technological and regulatory changes and new product introductions, Nasdaq expects to compete with a number of different entities
varying in size, business objectives and strategy.
MARKET SERVICES.
Transaction Services. Nasdaq’s core trading services provide (i) access to The Nasdaq Stock Market, (ii) execution services, such as quoting and
trading capabilities and (iii) reporting services, such as trade reporting and risk management. Nasdaq expects to face competition from a number of different
sources in providing these services including:
· Competing regional stock exchanges, which are attracting trading activity and trade reports previously submitted to Nasdaq, and the ADF, which
provides an alternative quotation and trade reporting venue. Collectively this competition reduces both Transaction Services and Market Information
Services revenues. See “—Risk Factors—Competition by regional exchanges and the ADF may reduce Nasdaq’s transactions, trade reporting and
market information revenues and impact the ability of Nasdaq to increase its market share of transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities”;
· ECNs that have been consolidating to form larger service providers. Any continued consolidation that created a dominant service provider could
diminish Nasdaq’s competitive position;
· ECNs that obtain registration as exchanges and compete for Transaction Services and Market Information Services, and potentially, for listings.
Recently, the Pacific Stock Exchange established the Archipelago Exchange as its equities trading facility. Archipelago, formerly an ECN that quoted
on Nasdaq, is now a facility of the Pacific Stock Exchange and began quoting and reporting certain of its trades to the Archipelago Exchange in
February 2003.See “—Risk Factors—Nasdaq’s revenues would be adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges”;
· Competing stock exchanges that are permitted by the SEC to regulate trading in their markets at a lower cost than Nasdaq. As a result, they may be
able to attract order flow from The Nasdaq Stock Market; and
· Companies that could provide trading services for products and services, including software companies, information and media companies and other
companies that are not currently in the securities business.
To address competitive concerns, Nasdaq has looked to enhance its technology and the services it provides to its market participants and refine its
pricing approach by reviewing each component of its Transaction Services, including access services, execution services and trade reporting-ACT services.
For each component, Nasdaq has attempted to make pricing more attractive in order to retain usage of its services. Nasdaq also has actively marketed itself to
ECNs to induce participation in Nasdaq’s systems. For example, INET (an ECN formed by the consolidation of Island ECN and Instinet ECN) has announced
that it will begin displaying orders on SuperMontage in the first quarter of 2004. In addition, Nasdaq seeks to improve its competitive position by enhancing
the functionality of SuperMontage and related products.
The Nasdaq Stock Market competes for trading volume in NYSE and Amex-listed securities by offering customers quality trade executions at a
reasonable price and derives revenue from the sale of related data. A significant amount of investor self-directed, on-line trading activity in listed securities is
currently executed on Nasdaq InterMarket. These orders forgo the exposure of the auction trading systems of the exchanges in favor of the execution services
provided by Nasdaq InterMarket participants.
Nasdaq InterMarket has implemented a program designed to lower costs for Nasdaq InterMarket participants executing trades through Nasdaq facilities.
The program allows Nasdaq InterMarket participants to share in the Tape Fees Nasdaq receives as a participant in the Consolidated Quotation Plan and the
Consolidated Tape Association Plan.
19

Market Information Services. Nasdaq’s Market Information Services revenues are under competitive threat from other securities exchanges that trade
Nasdaq-listed securities, including the established regional exchanges and the ADF. Current SEC regulations permit these regional exchanges and the ADF to
quote and trade certain securities that are not listed on a national securities exchange, including securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, pursuant to the
UTP Plan. Nasdaq’s UTP Plan entitles these exchanges and the ADF to a share of UTP Plan Tape Fees, in proportion to such exchange’s share of trading as
measured by share volume and number of trades. Currently, the Amex, the Boston Stock Exchange, the Chicago Stock Exchange, the National Stock
Exchange, the ADF and the Pacific Exchange quote and trade Nasdaq-listed securities pursuant to the UTP Plan. In the past, participants in the UTP Plan
have used Tape Fee revenues to establish payment for order flow arrangements with their members and customers.
Nasdaq reduced certain trade reporting fees and began sharing Tape Fees with participants in 2002 until Nasdaq’s Tape Fee sharing program was
abrogated by the SEC along with several similar programs of regional exchanges in July 2002. Although Nasdaq and its competitors ended tape sharing

programs following the SEC abrogation, the National Stock Exchange continued sharing revenues under a different rule, their General Revenue Sharing
Program. The net effect of these additional competitors and their practice of using Tape Fee revenues to pay for order flow, along with continuing advances in
technology and regulatory changes, may increase competitive pressure on Nasdaq.
In August 2003, Nasdaq filed with the SEC on an immediately effective basis, a Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing program, which like the National
Stock Exchange’s General Revenue Sharing Program, shares operating revenues from multiple business lines in addition to Tape Fee revenues. The new
program shares operating revenues, which are interpreted to mean net revenues after expenses from all services that derive revenues from member trading and
trade-reporting activity in Nasdaq-listed securities. The program will provide an incentive for quoting market participants to send orders to SuperMontage and
report trades to ACT. Nasdaq began sharing revenues under the new program in January 2004. To remain competitive, Nasdaq’s trade reporting fees or Tape
Fee sharing may be adjusted in the future to respond to competitive pressures. See “—Risk Factors—Competition by regional exchanges and the ADF may
reduce Nasdaq’s transactions, trade reporting and market information revenues and impact the ability of Nasdaq to increase its market share of transactions in
Nasdaq-listed securities” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Business Environment—2003
Outlook.”
ECNs pose an additional potential challenge to Nasdaq’s Market Information Services business because they may register as securities exchanges. As
noted above, the Archipelago Exchange has been established as the equities trading facility of the Pacific Exchange and INET has applied for exchange
registration and expressed interest in becoming a UTP Plan participant. In this case, they would be eligible for a share of the UTP Plan Tape Fees generated
by the sale of Nasdaq’s market information products (although the financial effect of this to Nasdaq may be offset by a reduction in the amount shared with
current UTP Plan participants). New UTP Plan participants may all reduce their use of Nasdaq’s systems. See “—Risk Factors—Nasdaq’s revenues would be
adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges.”
Nasdaq is responding aggressively to competition from existing and potential UTP Plan exchanges. Nasdaq is working to ensure that all exchanges are
covered by uniform regulatory standards and bear appropriate regulatory costs. Nasdaq also regularly examines its fee structure to insure that costs are fairly
distributed among participants, participants have an incentive to use Nasdaq services and fees adequately cover the cost of regulation. Nasdaq has also
introduced several new data products that are designed to provide market participants with new and more extensive market information and to provide
Nasdaq with new revenue streams. See “Competition—Market Services-Market Information Services.”
In 2004, Nasdaq is requesting SEC approval of a centralized order facility to determine a single price for the open and close of each security listed on
The Nasdaq Stock Market, to be known as the Nasdaq
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Opening Cross and Nasdaq Closing Cross, respectively. The new opening and closing crosses will be designed to establish prices more representative of the
prevailing market at the open and close of trading in Nasdaq-listed securities and to increase Nasdaq’s trading activity at those critical periods. Because of the
importance of the open and close as reference prices for large orders and derivative settlements, Nasdaq is working to have the Nasdaq Opening Cross and
Nasdaq Closing Cross adopted by sponsors of stock indices and derivative markets.
ISSUER SERVICES.
Corporate Client Group. Nasdaq’s strategies for maintaining its current listings in both The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap
Market and gaining new listings include building global brand identity, developing joint marketing opportunities with listed companies, communicating better
with key decision makers and providing other value-added services to Nasdaq-listed companies. Nasdaq’s marketing efforts have centered on creating a
valuable brand—an important factor in attracting and retaining large world-class growth companies.
In terms of obtaining new listings, Nasdaq will focus its efforts in two areas. First, Nasdaq will continue to pursue listings from companies preparing for
IPOs. Over the last three years, general market and economic conditions have made it difficult for many companies to access the public equity markets.
However, improving market conditions, particularly in the second half of 2003, enabled more companies to access the capital markets than in recent years. As
has historically been the case, most of the IPOs on primary U.S. markets in 2003 have listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Second, Nasdaq is marketing its
services to companies currently listed on other stock markets. Nasdaq believes that its market model, strong global reputation and value-added services will
enable it to compete successfully for listings. Nasdaq employs a variety of initiatives and tools in its marketing efforts, including media advertising, the
Internet (Nasdaq.com) and international road shows.
Nasdaq competes primarily with the NYSE for larger company listings on The Nasdaq National Market. As of December 31, 2003, there were 3,333
companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market with an aggregate domestic market capitalization of $2.95 trillion compared to 2,750 companies listed on the
NYSE with an aggregate domestic market capitalization of $11.3 trillion. Rule 500 of the NYSE historically has made it very difficult for companies to
voluntarily delist from the NYSE. During 2003, no companies transferred from the NYSE to The Nasdaq Stock Market, while 18 companies switched to the
NYSE from The Nasdaq National Market. Nasdaq has for many years argued that Rule 500 served as an anticompetitive measure that harmed both listed
companies and investors. In 2003, the NYSE repealed Rule 500 effective October 30, 2003. In January 2004, Nasdaq announced that six NYSE-listed stocks
had agreed to also list on The Nasdaq Stock Market. While Nasdaq has agreed to waive its listing fees for one year, Nasdaq believes that the dual listing
program will enhance competition, thereby benefiting investors, and has the potential to generate revenues for Nasdaq from listing fees in subsequent years
and from a possible increase in the trading of these stocks through Nasdaq systems. Nasdaq intends to actively market itself to other NYSE-listed companies.
Nasdaq competes with Amex for listings on both The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. During the year ended December 31,
2003, seven companies transferred from Amex to The Nasdaq National Market. During this period, two companies switched to Amex from The Nasdaq
National Market and four companies switched to Amex from The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. In addition, the Pacific Stock Exchange has announced that it
intends in the future to seek listings on its Archipelago Exchange. It is unclear at this time whether this type of market will become a significant competitor
for Nasdaq in the listings area.
Companies also have a choice of not listing on any market. In that case, broker-dealers may still make markets for such securities and post their quotes
on the OTC Bulletin Board or the Pink Sheets, owned by Pink Sheets LLC, a private company.
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Nasdaq Financial Products. Nasdaq-sponsored financial products are subject to intense competition from other ETFs, derivatives and structured
products as investment alternatives. The source of this competition is not only large ETF family sponsors, but also, increasingly, from other mutual fund
sponsors originating ETFs. Likewise, The Nasdaq Stock Market is subject to intense competition for the listing of these products from other exchanges. The

indices on which these products are based face competition from other indices which can be considered competitive with Nasdaq indices. For example, there
are a number of indices that aim to track the technology sector and may from time to time have a high degree of correlation with the Nasdaq-100 Index and
Nasdaq Composite Index. Nasdaq, as a new product innovator, faces competition among other investment banks, markets or other product developers in
designing products that meet investor needs.
Employees
As of March 1, 2004, Nasdaq had 931 employees. None of its employees is subject to collective bargaining agreements or is represented by a union.
Nasdaq considers its relations with its employees to be good.
Nasdaq Website and Availability of SEC Filings
Nasdaq’s Internet website is www.nasdaq.com. Information on Nasdaq’s website is not a part of this Form 10-K. Nasdaq will make available free of
charge on its website, or provide a link to, its Forms 10-K, Forms 10-Q and Forms 8-K and any amendments to these documents, that are filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after Nasdaq electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to
the SEC. To access these filings, go to Nasdaq’s website and click on “Inside NASDAQ,” then click on “Investor Relations,” then click on “SEC Filings.”
Service, Regulatory and Technology Contractual Relationships with the NASD, NASDR and Amex
Although it is contemplated that the NASD will eventually divest completely its ownership interest in Nasdaq, there may still exist certain contractual
relationships between the parties once this happens. For example, prior to the Restructuring, Nasdaq had access to many support functions of the NASD,
including certain financial, real estate, legal, human resources and information services and corporate and administrative services. The NASD and Nasdaq
entered into a Separation and Common Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2002 (the “ Separation Agreement”). The services to be provided to
Nasdaq by the NASD under the Separation Agreement are limited to certain finance, technology infrastructure, facilities sharing and legal services, which are
substantially more limited than what was previously provided by the NASD. Under the Separation Agreement, Nasdaq pays to the NASD the costs of the
services provided, including any incidental expenses associated with such services. Nasdaq’s costs for services provided by the NASD were $1.2 million in
2003, as compared to $5.1 million in 2002. Nasdaq anticipates that the annual costs for services under the Separation Agreement will continue to drop in
future years as Nasdaq reviews the provision of these services and continues to internalize more of these services or seeks alternative third party providers.
See “—Risk Factors—Lack of operating history as for-profit entity and potential conflicts of interest with related parties,” “—Risk Factors—The
intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties” and “Item 13.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”
On June 28, 2000, Nasdaq and NASD Regulation, Inc. (“NASDR”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD, signed a Regulatory Services Agreement
pursuant to which NASDR or its subsidiaries would provide regulatory services to Nasdaq and its subsidiaries commencing upon the effectiveness of
Exchange Registration. As a result, no services have been performed under this agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Regulatory Services Agreement, the
services provided will be of the same type and scope as are currently provided by NASDR to Nasdaq under the Delegation Plan for a term of ten years. Each
22

regulatory service is to be provided for a minimum of five years, after which time the parties may determine to terminate the provision by NASDR of a
particular service. The termination of a particular service will generally be based upon a review of pricing and the need for such services. In 2003, Nasdaq
paid NASDR $61.8 million for regulatory services provided pursuant to the Delegation Plan, versus $76.7 million in 2002. This reduction was due to careful
review of NASDR’s charges and the allocation of these charges among the markets it regulates. Nasdaq believes that ongoing review of these charges and the
related services, especially with respect to the technology used to provide those services, may reduce these costs further in 2004 without affecting the quality
of regulatory oversight. Nasdaq has approached the NASD about formalizing the services provided pursuant to the Delegation Plan in a written contract to be
effective until Exchange Registration.
On February 6, 2002, Nasdaq, the NASD and Amex entered into a Technology Transition Agreement to provide for the sharing of certain administrative
and regulatory technologies between Nasdaq and Amex and the provision of certain technology services by Nasdaq to Amex. This agreement replaces the
existing technology arrangements among the parties that resulted from the NASD’s acquisition of Amex in 1998. Depending upon the applicable service or
technology, the term of the agreement ranges between three months and two years while Amex reconstructs these services and technologies in-house, with an
option for Amex to extend the term for certain services for up to one year. Pursuant to this agreement, Amex will pay Nasdaq the direct costs of the services
provided by Nasdaq, plus certain administrative costs. In addition, this agreement provides that Nasdaq and the NASD contribute to a fund, administered by
the NASD, to pay the costs incurred in the implementation of this agreement. In 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively,
under this commitment, fulfilling its commitment. As of December 31, 2003, $9.5 million has been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment is expected to
be paid in 2004.
The parties also entered into a Master Agreement on February 6, 2002 to govern certain non-technology related matters among the parties and their
respective affiliates. This agreement, among other things, sets forth the terms of certain trading rights between Nasdaq and Amex. See “—Risk Factors—
Lack of operating history as for-profit entity and potential conflicts of interest with related parties,” “—Risk Factors—The intercompany agreements may
not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties” and “Item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions.”
Executive Officers
The executive officers of Nasdaq are as follows:
Name

Robert Greifeld
Bruce Aust
Christopher R. Concannon
Adena T. Friedman
Ronald Hassen
John L. Jacobs
Edward S. Knight

Age

46
40
36
34
51

Position

Chief Executive Officer and President
Executive Vice President—Corporate Client Group
Executive Vice President—Transaction Services
Executive Vice President—Data Products and Corporate Strategy
Senior Vice President, Controller, Principal Accounting Officer and
Treasurer
45 Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Financial Products and Worldwide
Marketing
53 Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Steven J. Randich
David P. Warren

41 Executive Vice President Operations & Technology and Chief Information
Officer
50 Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer
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Robert Greifeld,a member of the Nasdaq Board, was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Nasdaq in May 2003. Prior to joining Nasdaq,
Mr. Greifeld was an Executive Vice President at SunGard Data Systems, Inc., a global provider of integrated software and processing solutions for financial
services and a provider of information availability services. Mr. Greifeld joined SunGard in 1999 through SunGard’s acquisition of Automated Securities
Clearance, Inc. (“ASC”). From 1991-1999, Mr. Greifeld was the Chief Operating Officer of ASC.
Bruce Aust became the Executive Vice President of the Corporate Client Group in July 2003. Prior to his current position, Mr. Aust served as Executive
Director and Vice President of the Corporate Client Group. Before joining Nasdaq in 1998, Mr. Aust served 12 years at Fidelity Investments in a variety of
sales, trading and management positions in Dallas, Boston, Los Angeles and San Francisco.
Christopher R. Concannon became the Executive Vice President of Transaction Services in October 2003 and joined Nasdaq as Executive Vice
President of Strategy and Business Development in May 2003. Before joining Nasdaq, Mr. Concannon worked from 2002 to 2003 at Instinet Group, Inc., a
holding company that operates an alternative trading system and whose subsidiaries provide global agency and other brokerage services. Mr. Concannon
served most recently as President of Instinet Clearing Services, Inc. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Concannon worked at Island ECN, Inc., an alternative trading
system, in several positions including Special Counsel and Vice President of Business Development. Prior to that, Mr. Concannon worked at Morgan, Lewis
and Bockius, LLP from 1997 to 1999 as an associate.
Adena T. Friedman became Executive Vice President of Data Products in January 2002 and oversees Nasdaq’s Market Information Services. In
October 2003, Ms. Friedman assumed additional responsibilities as head of Nasdaq’s Corporate Strategy. Prior to her current position, Ms. Friedman was
Senior Vice President of Nasdaq Data Products from January 2001 to January 2002, Vice President of OTC Bulletin Board, Mutual Fund Quotation Service
and NasdaqTrader.com from January 2000 to January 2001, Director of OTC Bulletin Board and Mutual Fund Quotation Service from August 1997 to
January 2000 and Marketing Manager overseeing Nasdaq’s marketing efforts to broker-dealers from April 1995 to August 1997. Ms. Friedman joined Nasdaq
in 1993.
Ronald Hassen became Senior Vice President and Controller in March 2002, Principal Accounting Officer in May 2002 and Treasurer in
November 2002. Prior to joining Nasdaq, Mr. Hassen served as Controller of Deutsche Bank North America from June 1999, after its acquisition of Bankers
Trust Company. Mr. Hassen joined Bankers Trust in 1989, serving most recently as Principal Accounting Officer from 1997 until the company’s acquisition
by Deutsche Bank.
John L. Jacobs became Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Financial Products and Worldwide Marketing in July 2002 and oversees Nasdaq’s Financial
Products business and various marketing activities. Mr. Jacobs serves as CEO of Nasdaq Financial Products, Inc. and Chairman of Nasdaq Financial Product
Services Ireland Limited. Prior to his current position, Mr. Jacobs served as Senior Vice President of Worldwide Marketing and Financial Products since
January 2000 and as Vice President of Investor Services and Worldwide Marketing since January 1997. Mr. Jacobs joined Nasdaq in 1983.
Edward S. Knight became Executive Vice President and General Counsel in October 2000. Prior to his current position, Mr. Knight served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of the NASD since July 1999. Prior to joining the NASD, Mr. Knight served as General Counsel of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury from September 1994 to June 1999.
Steven J. Randich became Executive Vice President of Operations & Technology and Chief Information Officer of Nasdaq in October 2001. Prior to his
current position, Mr. Randich served as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of Nasdaq since October 2000. Prior to joining Nasdaq,
Mr. Randich was Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the Chicago Stock Exchange from November 1996 to October 2000.
24

David P. Warren became Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Nasdaq in January 2001 and CFO in September 2001.
Mr. Warren oversees finance, human resources and all administrative services including real estate, property management and purchasing. Prior to his current
position, Mr. Warren was CFO of the Long Island Power Authority from 1998 to 2000.
Risk Factors
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Nasdaq’s actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the risks faced by Nasdaq described below and elsewhere in this
Form 10-K.
The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing Nasdaq. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to Nasdaq or
that Nasdaq currently believes to be immaterial may also adversely affect Nasdaq’s business. If any of the following risks actually occur, Nasdaq’s business,
financial condition, or operating results could be materially adversely affected.
Nasdaq’s operating results could fluctuate significantly in the future.
Nasdaq’s operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including: (i) a decrease in the trading volume in
The Nasdaq Stock Market; (ii) increased competition from regional exchanges, ECNs, the ADF or other alternative trading systems that might reduce market
share and create pricing pressure; (iii) competition from the NYSE or new competing exchanges for new listings; (iv) a reduction in market information
revenues; (v) reduction in the rate at which The Nasdaq Stock Market obtains new listings and maintains its current listings; (vi) regulatory changes and
compliance costs; (vii) Nasdaq’s ability to utilize its capital effectively; (viii) Nasdaq’s ability to manage personnel, overhead and other expenses, in particular
technology expenses; and (ix) general market and economic conditions.
Nasdaq’s business could be harmed by market fluctuations and other risks associated with the securities industry generally.

A substantial portion of Nasdaq’s revenues are tied to the trading volume of its listed securities. Trading volume is directly affected by economic and
political conditions, broad trends in business and finance and changes in price levels of securities and by the overall level of investor confidence. A
continuation of the weak economic conditions of the past several years or a worsening of the economy or the securities markets could result in a further
decline in trading volume. Nasdaq is also particularly affected by declines in trading volume in technology-related securities because a significant portion of
its customers trade in these types of securities and a large number of technology-related companies are listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. A decline in
trading volume would lower revenues from Transaction Services and Market Information Services and Nasdaq’s profitability may be adversely affected if it is
unable to reduce costs at the same rate. In addition, investor confidence and trader interest can be affected by factors outside our control, such as publicity
surrounding several recent investigations and prosecutions for corporate governance or accounting irregularities at public companies. Although there has been
a recent increase in the number of IPOs, any stagnation or decline in the IPO market is also likely to have an adverse effect on Nasdaq’s revenues, including,
in particular, revenues from listing fees. In addition, poor economic conditions could lead to an increase in the number of companies delisted from The
Nasdaq Stock Market.
Substantial listing competition could reduce Nasdaq’s revenues.
The Nasdaq Stock Market faces competition for listings from other primary exchanges, especially from the NYSE. In addition to competition for initial
listings, The Nasdaq Stock Market also competes with the NYSE to maintain listings. In the past, a number of issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market
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have left for the NYSE each year. The largest 50 Nasdaq-listed issuers (based on U.S. market value) accounted for approximately 51.7% of total dollar
volume traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market for the year ended December 31, 2003. While the loss of one or more of these issuers would result in a decrease
in revenues from Nasdaq’s Corporate Client Group, such a loss would cause an even more significant reduction in revenues from Nasdaq’s Transaction
Services and Market Information Services. The reduction in initial listings or the loss of a top issuer could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business,
financial condition, or operating results.
Competition by regional exchanges and the ADF may reduce Nasdaq’s transactions, trade reporting and market information revenues and impact the
ability of Nasdaq to increase its market share of transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities.
Nasdaq has invested considerably in its execution services, such as SuperMontage. These services have been launched into a competitive environment.
Any decision by market participants to quote through regional exchanges or the ADF, as discussed below, could have a negative impact on Nasdaq’s share of
quotes and trades in securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and may adversely affect Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Nasdaq is currently facing increased competition from regional exchanges for quoting and trade reporting business, which affects Transaction Services
and Market Information Services revenues. Several ECNs have been quoting and reporting trades to various regional exchanges. Nasdaq has taken several
steps in response, including (i) discussing with UTP Plan exchanges how they can continue to interact with SuperMontage (as the Chicago Stock Exchange
does), (ii) adjusting our transactions pricing to be more competitive with ECNs that do not quote or report through Nasdaq, (iii) working to make functionality
of SuperMontage reflect the needs of ECNs that choose to remain in Nasdaq and (iv) creating a General Revenue Sharing program to compete with similar
profit sharing programs at competing UTP exchanges. These actions may not be sufficient to regain lost business or prevent other market participants from
shifting some of their trade reporting to regional exchanges. Nasdaq may be required to take further action to remain competitive.
As a condition for its approval of SuperMontage, the SEC required the NASD to provide NASD members with the ability to opt-out of SuperMontage
by providing the ADF as an alternative quotation and trade reporting facility for NASD members. At least one ECN has in the past quoted through the ADF
rather than through SuperMontage. If additional market participants quote through the ADF, Nasdaq faces the risk of reduced market share in Transaction
Services and Market Information Services revenues, which could adversely affect Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Nasdaq’s revenues would be adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges.
The Pacific Stock Exchange has established the Archipelago Exchange as its equities trading facility. Exchanges that are UTP Plan participants are
entitled to a share of Tape Fees. A proliferation in the number of exchanges and UTP Plan participants could have an adverse impact on Nasdaq’s Transaction
Services and Market Information Services revenues if quoting, trading and trade reporting are fragmented across exchanges and marketplaces.
In addition, new exchanges could adversely affect Nasdaq’s revenues from listings. ECNs, unlike exchanges, historically have not provided listing
venues. The Pacific Stock Exchange has announced that the Archipelago Exchange intends to begin competing for listings. If more ECNs become exchanges
and are successful in attracting listings, there can be no assurances that Nasdaq will be able to maintain or increase its listing revenues. The reduction in initial
listings or the loss of a top issuer could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results. See “—Substantial listing
competition could reduce Nasdaq’s revenues.”
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Substantial competition could reduce The Nasdaq Stock Market’s market share and harm Nasdaq’s financial performance.
It is possible that a competing securities exchange, network provider, or technology company could develop ways to replicate Nasdaq’s network more
efficiently than Nasdaq and persuade a critical mass of market participants to switch to a new network.
If there is an increase in the number of market makers or ECNs that determine they do enough order routing traffic to justify setting up a proprietary
network for their traffic, Nasdaq may be forced to alter its pricing structure or risk losing its share of the order routing or execution business. In addition,
certain system providers link many market makers in The Nasdaq Stock Market. These systems may be able to increase the number of orders executed
through their systems versus the Nasdaq systems. A reduction in Nasdaq’s order routing or execution business could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq’s
business, financial condition and operating results.
The traditional products and services offered by markets are being unbundled. Historically, Nasdaq provided listings, execution services information
services and regulatory services to the investing public. Currently, there are many competitors operating in the execution services market. In recent years,
Nasdaq has aggressively updated its products mix and its pricing models to reflect this unbundling of services. However, Nasdaq faces multiple pricing
constraints including, in particular, regulatory constraints that may prevent it from competing effectively in certain markets.

Nasdaq is subject to extensive regulation that may harm its ability to compete with less regulated entities.
Under current federal securities laws, changes in Nasdaq’s rules and operations, including its pricing structure, must be approved by the SEC. The SEC
may approve, disapprove, or recommend changes to proposals submitted by Nasdaq. In addition, the SEC may delay the initiation of the public comment
process or the approval process. This delay in approving changes, or the altering of any proposed change, could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business,
financial condition and operating results. Nasdaq must compete not only with ECNs that are not subject to the SEC approval process, but also with other
exchanges that are subject to lower regulation and surveillance costs than Nasdaq. This self-regulation cost that Nasdaq is required to undertake contributes to
the high quality regulation of its market that Nasdaq desires. However, with the fragmentation of trading that has occurred through SEC encouragement,
fragmentation of regulation has followed and there is a significant risk that the effectiveness of the regulation services that Nasdaq pays the NASD to provide
will diminish due to this fragmentation. Additionally, there is a risk that trading will shift to exchanges that spend significantly less on regulation services.
Nasdaq has raised both concerns—regulatory fragmentation and regulatory arbitrage—to the SEC in an attempt to ensure that the SEC does not permit
competition to harm regulation. However, there can be no assurance that the SEC will act favorably regarding Nasdaq’s arguments.
System limitations or failures or security breaches could harm Nasdaq’s business.
Nasdaq’s business depends on the integrity and performance of the computer and communications systems supporting it. If Nasdaq’s systems cannot be
expanded to cope with increased demand or otherwise fail to perform, Nasdaq could experience unanticipated disruptions in service, slower response times
and delays in the introduction of new products and services. These consequences could result in lower trading volumes, financial losses, decreased customer
service and satisfaction, litigation or customer claims and regulatory sanctions. Nasdaq has experienced occasional systems failures and delays in the past and
it could experience future systems failures and delays.
Nasdaq uses internally developed systems to operate its business, including transaction processing systems to accommodate increased capacity.
However, if The Nasdaq Stock Market’s trading volume increases unexpectedly, Nasdaq will need to expand and upgrade its technology, transaction
processing
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systems and network infrastructure. Nasdaq does not know whether it will be able to project accurately the rate, timing, or cost of any increases, or expand
and upgrade its systems and infrastructure to accommodate any increases in a timely manner.
Nasdaq’s systems and operations also are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, natural disasters, power loss, sabotage or terrorism,
computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism and similar events. Nasdaq has active and aggressive programs in place to identify and minimize its exposure
to these vulnerabilities and works in collaboration with the technology industry to share corrective measures with Nasdaq’s business partners. Nasdaq
currently maintains multiple computer facilities that are designed to provide redundancy and back-up to reduce the risk of system disruptions and has
facilities in place that are expected to maintain service during a system disruption. Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or decreases the
responsiveness of Nasdaq’s service could impair its reputation, damage its brand name and negatively impact its revenues. Nasdaq also relies on a number of
third parties for systems support. Any interruption in these third-party services or deterioration in the performance of these services could also be disruptive to
Nasdaq’s business and have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and operating results.
Nasdaq may not be able to keep up with rapid technological and other competitive changes affecting the structure of the securities markets.
The markets in which Nasdaq competes are characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, frequent enhancements to
existing services and products, the introduction of new services and products and changing customer demands. These market characteristics are heightened by
the emerging nature of the Internet and the trend for companies from many industries to offer Internet-based products and services. In addition, the
widespread adoption of new Internet, networking, or telecommunications technologies or other technological changes could require Nasdaq to incur
substantial expenditures to modify or adapt its services or infrastructure. Nasdaq’s future success will depend on its ability to respond to changing
technologies on a timely and cost-effective basis. Nasdaq’s operating results may be adversely affected if it cannot successfully develop, introduce, or market
new services and products. In addition, any failure by Nasdaq to anticipate or respond adequately to changes in technology and customer preferences, or any
significant delays in other product development efforts, could have a material adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Nasdaq’s revenues may be impacted by competition in the business for structured financial products.
In recent years, Nasdaq has been able to substantially grow its Nasdaq Financial Products business, which creates and licenses Nasdaq-branded financial
products, including ETFs such as QQQ and related options and other financial products. Nasdaq-sponsored financial products are subject to intense
competition from other ETFs, derivatives and structured products as investment alternatives. Nasdaq’s revenues may be adversely affected by increasing
competition from competitors’ financial products designed to replicate or correlate with the performance of Nasdaq financial products.
In addition, the legal and regulatory climate, which supports the licensing of these financial products, may change. For certain license agreements there
could be an increased risk of counter party default. In this intensely competitive environment, new entrants may seek to avoid the cost of licensing by trading
QQQ or other Nasdaq financial products without a license. In the year ended December 31, 2003, Nasdaq received approximately $3.4 million in licensing
fees for the trading of QQQ. Nasdaq has filed one lawsuit against a party trading QQQ without a license and intends to defend its intellectual property rights
and take appropriate legal action against any other entity that seeks to trade Nasdaq financial products without obtaining a license from Nasdaq.
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Nasdaq may have difficulty responding to sudden changes in the competitive landscape due its cost structure.
Over the last several years, the securities industry and stock markets have faced generally adverse conditions and increased competition. As a result,
Nasdaq has not been able, and in the future may not be able, to maintain revenues and income levels from prior periods of substantial growth in the securities
industry. In addition, Nasdaq may have difficulty managing its business as it is forced to reduce its expenses to deal with contraction in its business. In an
attempt to stimulate future growth, Nasdaq has undertaken several initiatives to increase its business, including enhancing existing products, developing new
products and forming strategic relationships. The increased costs associated with these initiatives may not be offset by corresponding increases in its
revenues. In addition, Nasdaq’s ability to rapidly reduce its cost structure in response to competitive pressure is limited by its substantial fixed costs,

particularly in technology and regulatory areas, that are necessary to operate The Nasdaq Stock Market. No assurance can be made that Nasdaq has made
adequate allowances for the changes and risks associated with the weakened equities market, that its systems and procedures, will be adequate to support its
operations, or that its management will be able to offer and expand its services successfully, particularly in adverse market conditions. If Nasdaq is unable to
manage its operations effectively, its business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.
Nasdaq may need additional funds to support its business plan.
Nasdaq depends on the availability of adequate capital to maintain and develop its business. Nasdaq believes that its current capital requirements will be
met from internally generated funds and from the funds previously raised in connection with the Restructuring. However, based upon a variety of factors,
including Nasdaq’s market share, reductions in fee levels caused by increased competition, the cost of service and technology upgrades and regulatory costs,
Nasdaq’s ability to fund its capital requirements may vary from those currently planned. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be available on
a timely basis, or on favorable terms or at all.
As of the date of this report, Nasdaq had issued and outstanding 1,338,402 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as a result of which Nasdaq is required to
make regular dividend payments to the NASD. The dividends payable are calculated based on a dividend rate that increases from 7.6% to 10.6% in all years
commencing in March 2004.
Nasdaq’s financial condition and results of operations may suffer if Nasdaq incurs more charges than currently anticipated.
In June 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review designed to eliminate non-core products and initiatives in order to position Nasdaq for
improved profitability and growth. Through the end of 2003, Nasdaq had incurred $145.5 million in pre-tax charges related to the elimination of these
products and services. See note 2, “Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements. Nasdaq continues to evaluate its cost structure relative
to its revenue levels and may take additional charges in the future. If Nasdaq’s estimates about future charges prove to be inadequate, its financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Regulatory changes recently proposed by the SEC could have a material adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business.
On February 24, 2004, the SEC Commissioners voted at an open meeting to publish for comment Regulation NMS, a series of proposals designed to
modernize the regulatory structure of the U.S. equity markets. Regulation NMS addresses the trade-through rule, intermarket access, market data and subpenny pricing. Specifically, Regulation NMS would (i) establish a uniform trade-through rule for all market centers that would, subject to certain exceptions,
require SROs and exchanges to establish procedures to prevent trade execution at a price inferior to the national best bid or offer, (ii) establish a
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uniform market access rule to promote non-discriminatory access to the best prices displayed by market centers, cap access fees at one-tenth of a cent per
share per intermediary and two-tenths of a cent per share per trade, and restrict entry of quotations that lock or cross the quotations of other markets,
(iii) change the existing arrangements for collecting and allocating revenues derived from market data fees, authorize market centers to distribute their own
additional data separate from other markets, and establish uniform standards for the terms of such distribution, and (iv) prohibit market participants from
accepting, ranking, or displaying orders, quotes, or indications of interest in a pricing increment less than a penny in national market system stocks, other than
those with a share price below $1.00.
The proposed rules are subject to public comment for a period of 75 days following publication in the Federal Register. Nasdaq cannot predict whether
these proposed changes will be adopted by the SEC in their proposed form, a different form, or at all. Accordingly, Nasdaq cannot predict the impact these
proposed rule changes will have on its business. If the SEC adopts a proposal that (i) reduces the market data fees or revenues Nasdaq receives for trade
executions, (ii) imposes significant regulatory compliance costs upon the company, and/or (iii) reduces the number of orders routed to its systems for
execution, Nasdaq’s results of operations and future profitability may be adversely affected.
Failure to protect its intellectual property rights could harm Nasdaq’s brand-building efforts and ability to compete effectively.
To protect its rights to its intellectual property, Nasdaq relies on a combination of trademark laws, copyright laws, patent laws, trade secret protection,
confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements with its affiliates, clients, strategic partners and others. The protective steps Nasdaq has taken
may be inadequate to deter misappropriation of its proprietary information. Nasdaq may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps
to enforce, its intellectual property rights. Nasdaq has registered, or applied to register, its trademarks in the U.S. and in 40 foreign jurisdictions and has
pending U.S. and foreign applications for other trademarks. Effective trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection may not be available in every
country in which Nasdaq offers or intends to offer its services. Failure to protect its intellectual property adequately could harm its brand and affect its ability
to compete effectively. Further, defending its intellectual property rights could result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources,
which could adversely affect Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Failure to attract and retain key personnel may adversely affect Nasdaq’s ability to conduct its business.
Nasdaq’s future success depends on the continued service and performance of its senior management and certain other key personnel. For example,
Nasdaq is dependent on specialized systems personnel to operate, maintain and upgrade its systems. The inability of Nasdaq to retain key personnel or retain
other qualified personnel could adversely affect Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Nasdaq is subject to risks relating to litigation and potential securities laws liability.
Many aspects of Nasdaq’s business potentially involve substantial risks of liability. While Nasdaq enjoys immunity for self-regulatory organization
activities, it could be exposed to liability under federal and state securities laws, other federal and state laws and court decisions, as well as rules and
regulations promulgated by the SEC and other federal and state agencies. These risks include, among others, potential liability from disputes over the terms of
a trade, or claims that a system failure or delay cost a customer money, that Nasdaq entered into an unauthorized transaction or that it provided materially
false or misleading statements in connection with a securities transaction. As Nasdaq intends to defend any such litigation actively, significant legal expenses
could be incurred. An adverse resolution of any future lawsuit or claim against Nasdaq could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
operating results.
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Lack of operating history as for-profit entity and potential conflicts of interest with related parties.
While Nasdaq has an established operating history, it has only operated as a for-profit company with private ownership interests since June 28, 2000.
Therefore, Nasdaq is subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with any recently independent company. Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will
retain voting control over Nasdaq. See “Item 1. Business—Nasdaq’s History and Structure.” Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will be in a position to
continue to control substantially all matters affecting Nasdaq, including any determination with respect to the direction and policies of Nasdaq, acquisition or
disposition of assets, future issuances of securities of Nasdaq, Nasdaq’s incurrence of debt and any dividend payable on the Common Stock.
Conflicts of interest may arise between Nasdaq and the NASD, or its affiliates, in a number of areas relating to their past and ongoing relationships,
including the nature, quality and pricing of services rendered; shared marketing functions; tax and employee benefit matters; indemnity agreements; sales or
distributions by the NASD of all or any portion of its ownership interest in Nasdaq; or the NASD’s ability to influence certain affairs of Nasdaq prior to
Exchange Registration. There can be no assurance that the NASD and Nasdaq will be able to resolve any potential conflict or that, if resolved, Nasdaq would
not receive more favorable resolution if it were dealing with an unaffiliated party.
Conflicts may also arise between Nasdaq and Amex by virtue of commitments made by the NASD in connection with the NASD’s acquisition of Amex.
The intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
For purposes of governing their ongoing relationship, Nasdaq and the NASD, or their affiliates, have entered into various agreements involving the
provision of services such as market surveillance and other regulatory functions, finance, technology infrastructure, legal and facilities sharing. Nasdaq has
negotiated an agreement with the NASDR pursuant to which NASDR will regulate Nasdaq trading activity commencing upon the effectiveness of Exchange
Registration. At the time the parties negotiated this agreement, the parties envisioned that the NASDR would continue regulating trading activity on Nasdaq
under a long-term contract that establishes the various functions NASDR will perform and the price that Nasdaq will pay for these functions. The functions
covered under this agreement, as negotiated, are substantially of the same type and scope as those NASDR performs under the Delegation Plan.
In the future Nasdaq may determine that it is necessary to negotiate new contracts with the NASD or its affiliates, or to renegotiate existing contracts
between the parties. Although it is the intention of the parties to negotiate agreements that provide for arm’s length, fair market value pricing, there can be no
assurance that these contemplated agreements, or the transactions provided in them, will be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been
obtained from unaffiliated third parties. The cost to Nasdaq for such services could increase at a faster rate than its revenues and could adversely affect
Nasdaq’s business, financial condition and operating results. See “Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”
The SEC may challenge or not approve Nasdaq’s plan to become a national securities exchange or it may require changes in the manner Nasdaq
conducts its business before granting this approval.
The SEC may not approve Nasdaq’s application for Exchange Registration or may require changes in Nasdaq’s corporate governance structure and the
way Nasdaq conducts its business before granting this approval. Failure to be so registered could adversely effect Nasdaq’s competitive position and could
have a material adverse effect on Nasdaq’s business conditions and business prospects.
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In connection with Exchange Registration, certain changes must be made to the national market system plans. Certain participants in the plans may
object to, or request modifications to, amendments proposed by Nasdaq. Failure to resolve these issues in a timely manner could further delay Exchange
Registration.
There can be no assurance that Exchange Registration will occur or that the registration process will occur in a timely manner. Because of the nature of
the regulatory process and the variety of market structure issues that would have to be resolved across all markets, the registration process could be lengthy. In
the long-term, the failure to be approved as an exchange by the SEC may have negative implications on the ability of Nasdaq to fund its planned initiatives.
In addition, the SEC has not yet agreed and may not agree to Nasdaq’s proposal to continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after Exchange
Registration.
There currently is a limited trading market for the Common Stock.
The Common Stock is traded in the over-the-counter market through the OTC Bulletin Board. The trading volume in the Common Stock has been
relatively limited, with average daily trading volume during 2003 of approximately 17,000 shares. A more active trading market for the Common Stock may
not develop and such market as does develop on the OTC Bulletin Board may have limited liquidity and considerable volatility.
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Item 2. Properties.
The following is a description of Nasdaq’s material properties as of December 31, 2003.

Location

New York, New York
New York, New York
New York, New York
New York, New York
Rockville, Maryland
Trumbull, Connecticut

Use

Location of MarketSite
Nasdaq headquarters
General office space
General office space
General office space
Location for Nasdaq’s
technology services, systems

Size
(approximate,
in square feet)

26,000
78,000
24,000
53,000
78,000
162,000

Type of Possession

Leased by Nasdaq
Subleased from the NASD
Leased by Nasdaq
Leased by Nasdaq
Leased by Nasdaq
Owned by Nasdaq

Trumbull, Connecticut
Washington, D.C.
Rockville, Maryland

engineering and market
operations
General office space
General office space

47,000
15,000

Location of Nasdaq data
center

Leased by Nasdaq
Occupied pursuant to a shared
facilities agreement with the
NASD
Owned by Nasdaq

99,000

In addition to the above, Nasdaq currently leases administrative, sales and disaster preparedness facilities in Chicago, Illinois; Menlo Park, California;
Norwalk, Connecticut; Jersey City, New Jersey; London, England; Sao Paulo, Brazil; and Montreal, Canada.
Nasdaq continues to explore its options for subleasing or disposing of the certain office space in New York, New York, Jersey City, New Jersey and
Rockville, Maryland. The total available space for sublease is 125,000 square feet. Approximately 19,000 square feet has been sublet as of February 2004.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Nasdaq is not currently a party to any litigation that it believes could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, or operating
results. However, from time to time, Nasdaq has been threatened with, or named as a defendant, in lawsuits.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
No matters were submitted to a vote of Nasdaq’s stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2003.
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Part II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.
Market Information. Nasdaq’s Common Stock began trading on the OTC Bulletin Board on July 1, 2002 under the symbol “NDAQ” upon
termination of certain contractual transfer restrictions contained in the private placements of Common Stock. No established public trading market existed for
the Common Stock prior to July 2002.
There currently is a limited trading market for the Common Stock. The following chart lists the quarterly high and low bid prices for shares of the
Common Stock for 2003 and the third and fourth quarters of 2002. These prices are between dealers and do not include retail markups, markdowns or other
fee and commissions and may not represent actual transactions.
High

Low

Fiscal 2003
Fourth quarter
Third quarter
Second quarter
First quarter

$ 9.35
10.05
8.55
10.40

$ 8.05
6.75
5.15
6.75

Fiscal 2002
Fourth quarter
Third quarter

$ 11.20
13.75

$ 6.25
9.05

Holders. As of March 3, 2004, Nasdaq had approximately 1,760 holders of record of its Common Stock.
Dividends. Nasdaq does not pay, and does not anticipate paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on its common equity.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.
The following sets forth selected consolidated financial information on a historical basis for Nasdaq. The following information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Nasdaq included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Year Ended December 31,
2002
2001
2000
(in thousands, except share amounts)

2003

Statements of Operations Data:(1)
Total revenues
Total expenses
Net (loss) income from continuing operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle(2)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income applicable to common
stockholders
Weighted average common shares
outstanding(3)

$

589,845
647,159
(45,112)

$

787,154
675,307
65,021

$

848,070
764,533
60,055

$

832,141
634,130
126,177

1999

$

634,101
499,736
86,149

—
(60,335)
(105,447)

—
(21,893)
43,128

—
(19,592)
40,463

(101,090)
(1,781)
23,306

—
—
86,149

(113,726)

33,363

40,463

23,306

86,149

83,650,478

116,458,902

112,090,493

100,000,000

78,378,376

Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share:
Continuing operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle
Discontinued operations
Total basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per
share

$

(0.68)

$

—
(0.77)
$

(1.45 )

$

148,929
851,254
452,927
160,696

$

0.52

—
(0.26)
$

2003
Balance Sheet Data:(1)(4)
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets(5)
Total long-term liabilities(5)
Total stockholders’ equity(5)

0.66

0.40

2002
$

201,463
1,175,914
636,210
270,872

$

—
(0.17)
$

0.35

281,149
1,326,251
529,029
518,388

$

0.86

(0.90)
(0.02)
$

December 31,
2001
(in thousands)
$

1.13

0.21

—
—
$

2000
$

262,257
1,164,399
221,464
645,159

0.86

1999
$

10,598
578,254
78,965
352,012

(1) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 2003 presentation.
(2) As a result of the adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”), Nasdaq recognized a one-time cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2000. See “Revenue Recognition,” of Note 4, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.
(3) Gives effect to the June 28, 2000, 49,999-for-one stock dividend of the shares of Common Stock for years ended 1999-2000.
(4) Balance sheet data for 1999 has not been restated for the Change in Accounting Principle, which was adopted as of January 1, 2000. See “Revenue Recognition,” of Note 4, “Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
(5) Includes continuing and discontinued operations.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview
The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Nasdaq should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Certain prior period amounts presented in the discussion and analysis have been
reclassified to conform with the 2003 presentation.
This discussion and analysis may contain statements with respect to Nasdaq’s financial condition, results of operations, future performance and business
that are considered “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Nasdaq’s actual results may differ
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Item 1.
Business—Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Nasdaq operates The Nasdaq Stock Market, the largest electronic screen-based equity securities market in the United States. In 2003, Nasdaq changed its
organization structure from operating in one segment to operating in two segments. Under the new structure, our new Chief Executive Officer has been
identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131, “Disclosures About
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (SFAS No. 131). Nasdaq’s two segments are managed and operated as strategic business units and
organized by products and services. Reportable segments are Market Services and Issuer Services. Market Services includes Transaction Services and Market
Information Services defined as sub-segments. Transaction Services includes collecting, processing and disseminating price quotes of Nasdaq-listed
securities, the routing and execution of buy and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities and securities listed on national stock exchanges and transaction
reporting services. Market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of market makers, ECNs, registered stock exchanges and order entry firms are
users of Nasdaq’s Transaction Services. Market Information Services primarily provides quote and trade information to data vendors, who in turn sell the
information to the public. Issuer Services includes the Corporate Client Group and Nasdaq Financial Products defined as sub-segments. The Corporate Client
Group provides customer services and information products to Nasdaq-listed companies and is responsible for obtaining new listings on The Nasdaq Stock
Market. Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for introducing products that extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand. This sub-segment oversees the
development and marketing of new Nasdaq financial products and associated derivatives, the licensing and listing of third-party structured products and the
listing of third-party sponsored exchange traded funds.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, Nasdaq’s net loss was $105.4 million compared with net income of $43.1 million in 2002, a decrease of $148.5
million. Included in the results are pre-tax expenses totaling $97.9 million associated with Nasdaq’s strategic review. Our strategic review, initiated in the
second quarter 2003, includes the elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance. Also included in 2003 results was a net loss from
discontinued operations related to the transfer of Nasdaq’s interest in Nasdaq Europe and the sale of IndigoMarkets of $60.3 million compared with $21.9
million in 2002. Nasdaq completed the sale of IndigoMarkets on September 30, 2003 and completed the transfer of its interest in Nasdaq Europe on
December 18, 2003. Following the sale of IndigoMarkets and the transfer of Nasdaq’s interest in Nasdaq Europe, results from these subsidiaries have been
reclassified as discontinued operations in Nasdaq’s 2003 Statements of Operations. All prior period information has been presented on the same basis. See
Note 3, “Discontinued Operations,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
The remainder of this discussion and analysis reflects results from continuing operations, unless otherwise noted. On this basis, Nasdaq’s net loss from
continuing operations was $45.1 million in 2003 compared with net income of $65.0 million in 2002. Overall lower earnings were driven by pre-tax expenses
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totaling $97.9 million relating to Nasdaq’s strategic review noted above. In 2003, results were positively impacted by lower operating expenses from
corporate-wide cost reduction programs. Direct expenses were $492.7 million in 2003 compared with $585.2 million in 2002, a decrease of $92.5 million or
15.8%. These current and prior year items are discussed in more detail later in the discussion and analysis.
Business and Operating Environment

There was a sustained market rally measured by the performance of major U.S. market indices. In 2003, the Nasdaq Composite® rose 50% to post its
first yearly gain in four years. The S&P 500 and the Dow Jones Industrial Average also performed well as each climbed over 25% during the year. There
continued, however, to be a lack of correlation between equity prices and market activity, as trading remained stagnant. Average daily share volume for
Nasdaq-listed securities was 1.69 billion shares in 2003 compared to 1.75 billion shares in 2002, a decline of 3.4%. In addition, competitive pressures from
regional exchanges and ECNs continued to draw activity away from Nasdaq systems to other venues. During 2003, this competition coupled with Nasdaq’s
competitive response in a decrease in certain fees, resulted in a significant decline in revenues from our Market Services segment.
In response to competitive pressure, Nasdaq implemented several enhancements to SuperMontage in 2003 that are designed to encourage increased use
of Nasdaq systems, resulting in additional revenue for Nasdaq. Any revenue impact from these enhancements may not have been fully realized yet. In 2003,
Nasdaq:
· Implemented full anonymity, which allows market participants to execute transactions without revealing their identities to counterparties on a pre-trade
or post-trade basis. While market participants were already able to display trading interest anonymously using non-attributable quotes, full anonymity
extends this feature through execution, clearance and settlement.
· Allowed order-entry firms to enter orders directly into SuperMontage for the first time. Order-entry firms can now represent customer and proprietary
orders in SuperMontage in stocks in which the firm is not a registered market maker.
· Provided market makers and ECNs with the ability to use multiple market participant identifiers to independently route orders and quotes from
different units within their firms, including market making, program trading, arbitrage and retail and institutional trading desks.
· Adopted FIX, an industry protocol for communicating securities transactions. FIX provides a more cost-effective and technologically efficient
connection between market participants and is now also used by market participants for submitting orders to SuperMontage.
· Introduced pegged, discretionary and summary order types. Pegged orders allow market participants to automatically track Nasdaq’s best bid and offer.
Discretionary orders have both a display price and a discretionary price at which the market participant is willing to trade. Summary orders give
market participants the ability to represent multiple orders in their book by submitting one single order to SuperMontage.
As a result of increased competition, the downward trends in both Nasdaq-listed share volume executed on Nasdaq systems and Nasdaq-listed share
volume reported to ACT continued in 2003. Decreased trading and reporting activity resulted in lower reported revenues for 2003 from our Market Services
segment compared to the year ended December 31, 2002. The percentage of share volume reported to ACT fell from 89.3% for the full year 2002 to 67.0%
for the full year 2003.
Improved market conditions had a positive impact on the ability of companies to raise money in the equity markets in 2003. Nasdaq continued its
historical position as the listing venue for the majority of U.S. IPOs, with 68.7%of U.S. IPOs in 2003. There were 57 IPOs on Nasdaq in 2003, a modest
increase of
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11.8% from 51 IPOs in 2002, with the majority of IPOs coming in the second half of 2003. In addition, the number of secondary offerings by Nasdaq-listed
companies increased from 139 in 2002 to 186 in 2003, a 33.8% increase. Despite improved market conditions, the total number of companies listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market continued to decline in 2003 as 460 companies delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market for regulatory and voluntary reasons, while 134
companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. There were however, fewer delistings in 2003 compared to the 571 companies that delisted in 2002. Revenues
from the Issuer Services segment also declined during 2003. This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in annual renewal fee revenues as the number of
companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market declined from 4,109 on January 1, 2002 to 3,659 on January 1, 2003, the date on which companies were billed
their annual fees.
Overview of First Half of 2003. A weak economy continued to suppress trading and listings activity in the first half of 2003. In addition, certain ECNs
began reporting their trades to the ADF and regional exchanges in the first half of 2003. Daily share volume in the first half of 2003 averaged 1.63 billion
shares compared to 1.82 billion shares a day in the first half of 2002, a decrease of 10.4%. During the same period, the percentage of share volume reported to
ACT fell to 75.5% from 91.3% in the first half of 2002. Downward pressure on these revenue drivers resulted in a decline in revenues from our Market
Services segment. The effects of the stagnant economy were also felt in the market for new and secondary offerings. Five IPOs occurred in the first half of
2003 compared to 29 in the first half of 2002, a decline of 82.8%. There were 46 secondary offerings in the first half of 2003 compared to 101 in the first half
of 2002, a decline of 54.5%.
Overview of Second Half of 2003. Following seasonal trends, average daily share volume decreased in the summer of 2003. Daily share volume
averaged 1.73 billion shares in the third quarter of 2003, down slightly from 1.79 billion shares in the second quarter of 2003. While trading was relatively
flat compared to the previous year, market share continued its slide downward during the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to both the
second quarter of 2003 and the third quarter of 2002. Competitive pressures inhibited demand and reduced revenues for the Market Services segment in the
third quarter.
The market rally had a more pronounced impact on the growth of some of Nasdaq’s primary revenue drivers in the fourth quarter of 2003. In the fourth
quarter of 2003 compared to the third quarter of 2003, the Nasdaq Composite Index rose 12.1% and Nasdaq also experienced increased trading activity.
Average daily share volume for Nasdaq-listed securities was 1.76 billion shares in the fourth quarter of 2003 compared to 1.64 billion shares in the fourth
quarter of 2002, an increase of 7.3%. There was also growth in new offerings activity associated with the Issuer Services segment. There were 38 IPOs in the
fourth quarter of 2003, Nasdaq’s strongest showing since the fourth quarter of 2000. In fact, 91.2% of IPOs listed on Nasdaq during 2003 occurred in the
second half of the year. In the fourth quarter of 2003, there were 83 secondary offerings of common stock—more than three times the number of secondary
offerings in the fourth quarter of the 2002. However, downward trends continued in both Nasdaq-listed share volume executed on Nasdaq systems and
Nasdaq-listed share volume reported to ACT. Share volume reported to ACT was 56.7% in the fourth quarter of 2003 compared to 86.7% in the fourth quarter
of 2002.
2004 Outlook. Nasdaq is positioning itself to benefit from improved investor confidence that may continue into 2004. By the start of the year, sustained
growth in the Nasdaq Composite Index appeared to be increasing trading activity. In January 2004, average daily share volume was up 42.1% from 1.64
billion shares in December 2003 to 2.33 billion shares, making it the most heavily traded month since January 2001. Average daily share volume in
February 2004 was also up at 1.92 billion shares compared to 1.31 billion shares in February 2003, an increase of 46.6%. Even without significant
improvements in economic and market conditions, Nasdaq is working to boost its share of trading activity through increased SuperMontage functionality and
an aggressive response to competitive challenges in 2004.
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In response to aggressive competition from ECNs and other security exchanges, in 2004, Nasdaq will continue to launch initiatives aimed at
consolidating trading interest in Nasdaq-listed securities and increasing our market share. In January 2004, Nasdaq implemented a new tiered pricing plan
specifically designed to attract additional liquidity to SuperMontage. The new tiered pricing plan lowers SuperMontage execution charges to market
participants based on the amount of liquidity a participant provides to SuperMontage. Also in 2004, Nasdaq is requesting SEC approval of a centralized order
facility to determine a single price for the open and close of each security listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, to be known as the Nasdaq Opening Cross and
Nasdaq Closing Cross, respectively. The new opening and closing crosses will be designed to establish prices more representative of the prevailing market at
the open and close of trading in Nasdaq-listed securities and to increase Nasdaq’s trading activity at those critical periods. Because of the importance of the
open and close as reference prices for large orders and derivative settlements, Nasdaq is working to have the Nasdaq Opening Cross and Nasdaq Closing
Cross adopted by sponsors of stock indices and derivative markets.
In addition, in August 2003 Nasdaq filed with the SEC on an immediately effective basis, a Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing program, which like The
National Stock Exchange’s (formerly, the Cincinnati Stock Exchange) General Revenue Sharing Program, shares operating revenues from multiple business
lines in addition to Tape Fee revenues. Nasdaq did not share any revenues during 2003, but began sharing revenues under the new program in January 2004.
Nasdaq will review its pricing structure on an ongoing basis and make changes as considered necessary.
Nasdaq estimates that the above changes will decrease revenues in 2004, but will be offset to the extent of any additional revenues generated by
increased use of Nasdaq systems as a result of these changes.
Nasdaq is also aggressively pursuing other options to increase the pool of liquidity available in SuperMontage. INET (an ECN formed by the
consolidation of the Island ECN and Instinet ECN) is expected to begin quoting in SuperMontage at the end of the first quarter of 2004. This could result in a
substantial portion of its liquidity being available in Nasdaq systems. By the second quarter of 2004, routing, which will allow traders to enter orders into
SuperMontage and access liquidity on many linked venues, will be introduced to SuperMontage. Routing is designed to attract substantial order flow to
Nasdaq, decrease fragmentation and better consolidate liquidity for companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The goal of these and other enhancements
to SuperMontage is to increase the percentage of transactions executed on Nasdaq systems.
The rebound in IPOs and secondary offerings experienced in the latter half of 2003 is likely to continue at least in the near term if market conditions
remain steady or continue to improve in 2004. In addition, Issuer Services continues to aggressively work to retain Nasdaq’s current listings and to pursue
listings from other markets. In January 2004, Nasdaq began a dual listing initiative and six NYSE companies opted to list on both the NYSE and Nasdaq.
Discussions with other potential companies have been promising and Nasdaq hopes other companies will dual list in 2004. While Nasdaq has agreed to waive
its listing fees for one year, Nasdaq believes that the dual listing program will enhance competition, thereby benefiting investors, and has the potential to generate
revenues for Nasdaq from listing fees in subsequent years and from a possible increase in the trading of these stocks through Nasdaq systems. Nasdaq intends to
actively market itself to other NYSE-listed companies.
Furthermore, Nasdaq will also continue to move on opportunities to improve operating efficiencies and drive further reductions in our operating
expenses.
It is impossible to predict whether the market rally that began in 2003 will continue in 2004. Should the U.S. economy experience improved consumer
and investor confidence in 2004, Nasdaq is likely to see greater demand for transaction services and data products and more opportunities for new listings and
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secondary offerings. If global economic and geo-political landscapes worsen, Nasdaq’s financial condition could be adversely impacted.
Results of Operations
Line of Business Information
Revenues
In 2003, Nasdaq changed its organization structure from operating in one segment to operating in two segments. Nasdaq’s two segments are managed
and operated as strategic business units and organized by products and services. Reportable segments are Market Services and Issuer Services. See Note 17,
“Segments,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. The following table sets forth Total revenues by segment and sub-segment:

Market Services:
Transaction Services
Market Information Services
Total Market Services
Issuer Services:
Corporate Client Group
Nasdaq Financial Products
Total Issuer Services
Other
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in millions)

$ 236.0
147.1
383.1

$ 380.6
199.6
580.2

$ 411.9
241.6
653.5

167.3
32.9
200.2
6.5
$ 589.8

173.3
28.1
201.4
5.6
$ 787.2

155.2
30.6
185.8
8.8
$ 848.1

MARKET SERVICES
Transaction Services
The following table sets forth revenues from Transaction Services:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in millions)

Access Services
Execution Services:
Execution Services
Liquidity rebate
Execution Services, net of liquidity rebate
Trade reporting-ACT
Other Transaction Services
Total Transaction Services revenues

$ 108.0

$ 140.9

$ 165.5

196.3
244.7
168.5
(118.3)
(87.3)
(14.1)
78.0
157.4
154.4
47.3
78.5
87.3
2.7
3.8
4.7
$ 236.0 $ 380.6 $ 411.9

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Transaction Services revenues were $236.0 million in 2003 compared with $380.6 million in 2002,
a decrease of $144.6 million or 38.0%.
Access Services revenues were $108.0 million in 2003 compared with $140.9 million in 2002, a decrease of $32.9 million or 23.3%. This decrease was
primarily due to the reduction in the number of trader log-ons to Nasdaq systems reflecting market participant consolidations. Access Services revenues are
mainly derived from Nasdaq Workstation II and Application Programming Interfaces and Computer-to-Computer Interface (“CTCI”).
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In 2003, Nasdaq’s primary execution system was SuperMontage. Upon complete implementation of SuperMontage in December 2002, Nasdaq retired
SuperSoes, SelectNet and SOES. Execution Services revenues were $196.3 million in 2003 compared with $244.7 million in 2002, a decrease of
$48.4 million or 19.8%. The liquidity rebate, in which Nasdaq credits a portion of the per share execution charge to the market participant that provides the
liquidity, was $118.3 million in 2003 compared with $87.3 million in 2002, an increase of $31.0 million or 35.5%. Execution Services revenues, net of the
liquidity rebate totaled $78.0 million in 2003 compared with $157.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $79.4 million or 50.4%.
The decrease in Execution Services revenues of $48.4 million was primarily due to a lower market share in 2003 compared with 2002 and the
elimination of a quote update fee. In February 2003, Nasdaq eliminated a quote update fee that it had formerly charged market participants for updating a
quotation or non-marketable limit order on The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The quote update fee was $0.5 million in 2003
compared with $18.4 million in 2002. These decreases were partially offset by an increase, during the fourth quarter of 2002, in the per share execution
charge. However, the increase in the per share execution charge had no effect on Execution Services revenues, net of the liquidity rebate since the amount
shared through the liquidity rebate (see discussion below) also increased by the same amount.
The increase in the liquidity rebate in 2003 of $31.0 million was due to an increase in the amount rebated beginning in the fourth quarter of 2002.
However, as discussed above, this increase did not effect Execution Services revenues, net of the liquidity rebate as this increase was offset by the increase in
the per share execution charge. Execution Services revenues are primarily derived from SuperMontage.
Trade reporting revenues-ACT totaled $47.3 million in 2003 compared with $78.5 million in 2002, a decrease of $31.2 million or 39.7%. This decrease
was primarily due to the reporting of trades to regional exchanges and the ADF and price reductions. Price reductions were initiated in April 2003 for lockedin trade reports. On July 1, 2003, Nasdaq eliminated the fee for locked-in trade reports for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market. Price reductions were also initiated in April 2003 and June 2003 for transaction reports initiated through SuperMontage. ACT fees are
primarily charged on a per transaction basis.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Transaction Services revenues were $380.6 million in 2002 compared with $411.9 million in 2001,
a decrease of $31.3 million or 7.6%.
Access Services revenues were $140.9 million in 2002 compared with $165.5 million in 2001, a decrease of $24.6 million or 14.9%. This decrease was
primarily due to the reduction in the number of trader log-ons to Nasdaq systems reflecting cost saving initiatives among Nasdaq’s market participants and
market participant consolidations.
Execution Services revenues were $244.7 million in 2002 compared with $168.5 million in 2001, an increase of $76.2 million or 45.2%. The liquidity
rebate was $87.3 million in 2002 compared with $14.1 million in 2001, an increase of $73.2 million. Execution Services revenues, net of the liquidity rebate
totaled $157.4 million in 2002 compared with $154.4 million in 2001, an increase of $3.0 million or 1.9%.
The increase in Execution Services revenues of $76.2 million was primarily due to increases, in the fourth quarter of 2001 and 2002, in the per share
execution charge. However, the increase in the per share execution charge had no effect on Execution Services revenues, net of the liquidity rebate since the
amount shared through the liquidity rebate (see discussion below) also increased by the same amount. Also contributing to the increase was the introduction
of a new, incremental fee associated with quote updates in Nasdaq quotation systems. The quote update fee was $18.4 million in 2002. These increases were
partially offset by lower overall share volume and market share in 2002 compared to 2001.
The increase in the liquidity rebate of $73.2 million was due to the introduction of the liquidity rebate in the fourth quarter of 2001 and an increase in the
amount rebated during the fourth quarter of 2002.
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However, as discussed above, the introduction of the liquidity rebate and the increase in the amount rebated did not effect Execution Services revenues, net of
the liquidity rebate as these increases were offset by the increases in the per share execution charge.
Trade Reporting revenues-ACT totaled $78.5 million in 2002 compared with $87.3 million in 2001, a decrease of $8.8 million or 10.1%. This decrease
was primarily due to a decline in overall share volume and the reporting of trades to regional exchanges and the ADF.
Market Information Services
The following table sets forth the revenues from Market Information Services:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in millions)

Level 1 Service
Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service (“NQDS”)
TotalView
Nasdaq InterMarket:
Tape Fee revenues
Tape Fee revenue sharing
Tape Fee revenues, net of revenue sharing
Unlisted Trading Privileges (“UTP”)
Nasdaq Data Tape Fee revenue sharing
Other Market Information Services revenues
Total Market Information Services revenues

$ 123.6
37.9
9.1

(

$ 139.5
37.5
—

)

$ 159.4
43.4
—

28.1
56.0
52.9
(13.8)
(17.4)
(20.4)
14.3
38.6
32.5
(50.8)
(18.3)
(4.7)
—
(9.0)
—
13.0
11.3
11.0
$ 147.1 $ 199.6 $ 241.6

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Market Information Services revenues were $147.1 million in 2003 compared with $199.6 million
in 2002, a decrease of $52.5 million or 26.3%.
Nasdaq’s Level 1 Service provides last trade and current inside quote information for securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Level 1 Service
revenues totaled $123.6 million in 2003 compared with $139.5 million in 2002, a decrease of $15.9 million or 11.4%. This decrease was primarily due to cost
saving initiatives among Nasdaq’s market participants and market participant consolidations causing a decrease in professional Level 1 subscriptions. Fees for
professional users are based on monthly subscriptions to terminals or access lines. Also contributing to the decline was a decrease in fees from providers of
data to non-professional users. Providers of data to non-professional users have the option to pay for this information as either a flat monthly fee or a per
query charge which may be capped at a certain threshold.
NQDS provides subscribers with the best quote from each Nasdaq market participant. NQDS revenues totaled $37.9 million in 2003 compared with
$37.5 million in 2002, an increase of $0.4 million or 1.1%. NQDS revenues are derived from monthly subscriptions.
Nasdaq, in its role as a stock market, offers a range of proprietary data products that include TotalView, a new proprietary data product developed in
conjunction with the launch of SuperMontage. SuperMontage has expanded Nasdaq’s ability to offer market data to market participants that choose to display
trading interest on Nasdaq that goes beyond the best bid and offer. TotalView shows subscribers the aggregate size available in SuperMontage at the top five
price levels, all Nasdaq market participants’ quotations/orders that are in the top five price levels in SuperMontage and the aggregate size of all unattributed
(i.e., providing trade anonymity) quotes/orders at each of the top five price levels. TotalView is offered to professional and non-professional subscribers. A
monthly fee is charged per terminal for both professional and non-professional users. Nasdaq began charging for its TotalView data products in the first
quarter of 2003. TotalView revenues were $9.1 million in 2003.
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Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee revenues are derived from data revenue generated by the Consolidated Quotation Plan and the Consolidated Tape
Association Plan (collectively, “CQ/CTA Plans”). The information collected under the CQ/CTA Plans is sold to data vendors, who in turn sell it to the public.
Nasdaq’s InterMarket tape revenues are directly related to both its percentage of trades in exchange-listed securities that are reported through the CQ/CTA
Plans and the size of the revenue sharing pool. Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee revenues totaled $28.1 million in 2003 compared with $56.0 million in 2002, a
decrease of $27.9 million or 49.8%. This decrease was primarily due to the Island ECN (now a part of INET) reporting certain additional trading activity to
The National Stock Exchange beginning in the fourth quarter of 2002. Part of Nasdaq’s CQ/CTA Tape Fee revenues is shared with market participants. A
previous minimum threshold requirement for revenue sharing was eliminated as of July 1, 2002, which also accounted for an increase in proportionate share.
Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee revenue sharing was $13.8 million in 2003 compared with $17.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $3.6 million or 20.7%. This
decrease was primarily due to the Island ECN reporting trade activity to The National Stock Exchange, which reduced the amount of revenue Nasdaq was
obligated to share with the Island ECN. Also contributing to the decline was a revision of estimated payouts for revenue sharing in 2002. Partially offsetting
the decrease in Tape Fee Revenues, net of revenue sharing, Nasdaq receives licensing fees from regional exchanges that report trades in Nasdaq-100 Index
Tracking Stocksm (“QQQ”), an exchange traded fund, which are reported as Nasdaq Financial Products revenues in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. See discussion of Nasdaq Financial Products for further information regarding QQQ.
Nasdaq shares Tape Fee revenues (i.e., revenues from the sale of tape data) for Nasdaq-listed securities through the UTP Plan. Tape Fees are shared with
regional exchanges that are members of the UTP Plan and that trade Nasdaq-listed securities. Under the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, Nasdaq is
permitted to deduct certain costs associated with acting as the exclusive Securities Information Process (“SIP”) from the total amount of Tape Fees collected.
After these costs are deducted from the Tape Fees, Nasdaq distributes to the respective UTP Plan participants, including Nasdaq, their share of Tape Fees
based on a combination of their respective trade volume and share volume. Nasdaq Tape Fee revenue sharing allocated to UTP Plan participants totaled
$50.8 million in 2003 compared with $18.3 million in 2002, an increase of $32.5 million. This increase was primarily due to the trade reporting activity from
the ADF, which became an active UTP Plan participant in the first quarter of 2003, the Pacific Exchange, which became an active UTP Plan participant in the
second quarter of 2003 and additional trade reporting activity from The National Stock Exchange due to the BRUT ECN reporting locked-in trades to The
National Stock Exchange beginning in the third quarter of 2003.
In addition, in August 2003 Nasdaq filed with the SEC on an immediately effective basis, a Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing program, which like The
National Exchange’s General Revenue Sharing Program, shares operating revenues from multiple business lines in addition to Tape Fee revenues. Nasdaq did
not share any revenues during 2003. See “Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing,” of Note 2, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements
for further discussion.
Other Market Information Services revenues are primarily derived from Mutual Fund Quotation Service (“MFQS”) revenues. MFQS provides unit
investment trusts, mutual funds and money markets funds with listing services and assists in the collection and dissemination of daily price and related data.
MFQS revenues are primarily derived from annual listing fees. Other Market Information Services revenues were $13.0 million in 2003 compared with
$11.3 million in 2002, an increase of $1.7 million or 15.0%.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Market Information Services revenues were $199.6 million in 2002 compared with $241.6 million
in 2001, a decrease of $42.0 million or 17.4%.
Nasdaq’s Level 1 Service revenues totaled $139.5 million in 2002 compared with $159.4 million in 2001, a decrease of $19.9 million or 12.5%. This
decrease was due to cost saving initiatives among Nasdaq’s
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market participants and market participant consolidations causing a decrease in professional Level 1 subscriptions. Also contributing to the decline was a
decrease in fees from providers of data to non-professional users. Providers of data to non-professional users have the option to pay for this information as
either a flat monthly fee or a per query charge which may be capped at a certain threshold.
NQDS revenues totaled $37.5 million in 2002 compared with $43.4 million in 2001, a decrease of $5.9 million or 13.6% primarily due to cost saving
initiatives among Nasdaq’s market participants and the consolidation of major trading firms causing a decrease in professional NQDS subscriptions, partially
offset by growth in non-professional subscriptions in the fourth quarter of 2002.
Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee revenues totaled $38.6 million in 2002 compared with $32.5 million in 2001, an increase of $6.1 million or 18.8%. The
increase is primarily due to a revision of estimated payouts for revenue sharing. This increase was partially offset by cost saving initiatives among market
participants and the consolidation of major trading firms causing a decrease in the size of CQ/CTA Tape Fee sharing pool. Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee
revenues were also negatively impacted as a result of the Island ECN reporting trades in the QQQ to The National Stock Exchange beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2002. However, partially offsetting this revenue reduction, Nasdaq receives licensing fees from regional exchanges that report trades in the QQQ,
which are reported as Nasdaq Financial Products revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Nasdaq Tape Fee revenue sharing with UTP Plan participants totaled $18.3 million in 2002 compared with $4.7 million in 2001, an increase of
$13.6 million primarily due to the trade reporting activity from The National Stock Exchange, which became an active UTP Plan participant at the end of the
first quarter of 2002.
Nasdaq also shared Tape Fee revenues with its market participants in a pilot program based on their share of trades and volume reported to Nasdaq. This
revenue sharing plan was introduced in the first quarter of 2002. During 2002, Nasdaq shared $9.0 million in Tape Fee revenues with its market participants.
The data revenue sharing program was part of a larger strategy to compete with UTP exchanges and provide incentive for Nasdaq members to continue to
fully utilize Nasdaq’s Transaction Services. Effective June 1, 2002, the SEC abrogated certain market participant Tape Fee sharing pilot programs, which
resulted in an elimination of the Nasdaq member revenue sharing program for data covered under the UTP Plan. See “Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing,” of
Note 2, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Other Market Information Services revenues were $11.3 million in 2002 compared with $11.0 million in 2001, an increase of $0.3 million or 2.7%.
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ISSUER SERVICES
Corporate Client Group
The following table sets forth the revenues from the Corporate Client Group as reported and calculated in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and as would be reported on a non-GAAP basis without giving affect to SAB 101 (“billed basis”). Nasdaq believes that the
presentation of billed basis revenues, as they relate to LAS and Initial Listing Fees, is a good indicator of current Corporate Client Group activity because
billed basis information excludes the effects of recognizing revenues related to Initial Listing Fees and LAS Fees over the six and four year periods,
respectively.
2003 Revenues
As Reported
Billed
Under SAB 101
Basis

Annual renewal fees
Listing additional shares (“LAS”)
fees
Initial listing fees
Other Corporate Client Group
revenues
Total Corporate Client Group
revenues

$ 93.6

$ 93.6

37.1
32.3

Year Ended December 31,
2002 Revenues
As Reported
Billed
Under SAB 101
Basis
(in millions)

2001 Revenues
As Reported
Billed
Under SAB 101
Basis

$ 99.4

$ 99.4

$ 82.2

$

82.2

30.2
16.9

37.5
33.6

27.9
22.8

35.9
35.6

41.6
12.6

4.3

4.3

2.8

2.8

1.5

1.5

$ 167.3

$ 145.0

$ 173.3

$ 152.9

$ 155.2

$ 137.9

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Corporate Client Group revenues were $167.3 million in 2003 compared with $173.3 million in
2002, a decrease of $6.0 million or 3.5%.
Corporate Client Group revenues are primarily derived from fees for Annual renewals, LAS and Initial listings for companies listed on The Nasdaq
Stock Market. Fees are generally calculated based upon total shares outstanding for the issuing company. These fees are initially deferred and amortized over
the estimated periods for which the services are provided. Revenues from Initial listing fees and LAS fees are amortized over six and four years, respectively
and Annual renewal fees are amortized on a pro-rata basis over the calendar year. The difference between the as reported revenues and the billed basis
revenues are due to the amortization of fees in accordance with SAB 101. See “Revenue Recognition,” of Note 4, “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” and Note 5, “Deferred Revenue,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Annual renewal fees totaled $93.6 million on both an as reported and billed basis in 2003 compared with $99.4 million on both an as reported and billed
basis in 2002, a decrease of $5.8 million or 5.8%. This decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the number of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock
Market from 4,109 on January 1, 2002 to 3,659 on January 1, 2003, the date on which companies are billed their annual fees. The decrease in the number of
listed companies was mainly due to 571 issuers delisted by Nasdaq during 2002 primarily for failure to meet The Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing standards and
other reasons, including mergers and acquisitions. Partially offsetting this decline were 121 new listings in 2002.
LAS fees totaled $37.1 million in 2003 compared with $37.5 million in 2002, a decrease of $0.4 million or 1.1% on an as reported basis. On a billed
basis, LAS fees totaled $30.2 million in 2003 compared with $27.9 million in 2002, an increase of $2.3 million or 8.2%. This increase was primarily due to an
improved economic environment which resulted in higher activity for secondary offerings as well as other additional share activity.
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Initial listing fees totaled $32.3 million in 2003 compared with $33.6 million in 2002, a decrease of $1.3 million or 3.9% on an as reported basis. On
billed basis, Initial listing fees totaled $16.9 million in 2003 compared with $22.8 million in 2002, a decrease of $5.9 million or 25.9%. Due to the events of
September 11, 2001, a temporary suspension of listing requirements was instituted. This temporary suspension was lifted on January 3, 2002. As a result, a
higher number of companies transferred down in 2002 from one tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market to the other at the end of their respective time periods for
review of non-compliance. These companies were charged an initial fee in 2002 upon entering the new tier. Partially offsetting this decrease in 2003 was an
increase in the number of new listings and IPOs for the year. In 2003, there were 134 new listings, including 57 new IPOs, compared to 121 new listings,
including 51 new IPOs, in 2002.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Corporate Client Group revenues were $173.3 million in 2002 compared with $155.2 million in
2001, an increase of $18.1 million or 11.7%.
Annual renewal fees totaled $99.4 million on both an as reported and billed basis in 2002 compared with $82.2 million on both an as reported and billed
basis in 2001, an increase of $17.2 million or 20.9%. This increase was primarily due to the introduction in January 2002 of a revised fee structure for Annual
renewal fees.
LAS fees totaled $37.5 million in 2002 compared with $35.9 million in 2001, an increase of $1.6 million or 4.5% on an as reported basis. On a billed
basis, LAS fees totaled $27.9 million in 2002 compared with $41.6 million in 2001, a decrease of $13.7 million or 32.9%. This decrease was primarily due to
a weaker economic environment which resulted in lower activity for secondary offerings as well as other additional share activity.
Initial listing fees totaled $33.6 million in 2002 compared with $35.6 million in 2001, a decrease of $2.0 million or 5.6% on an as reported basis. On a
billed basis, Initial listing fees totaled $22.8 million in 2002 compared with $12.6 million in 2001, an increase of $10.2 million or 81.0%. The increase is
primarily due to an increase in initial listing fees implemented in January 2002, which more than offset the decrease in the number of IPO listings on The
Nasdaq Stock Market. In 2002, there were 121 new listings, including 51 new IPOs, in 2002 compared to 145 new listings, including 63 new IPOs, in 2001.
Nasdaq Financial Products
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. NasdaqFinancial Products revenues were $32.9 million in 2003 compared with $28.1 million in
2002, an increase of $4.8 million or 17.1%. Nasdaq Financial Products revenues primarily include trademark and licensing revenues related to the QQQ and
other financial products linked to Nasdaq indices issued in the U.S. and abroad. The QQQ is the trading symbol for the shares of the Nasdaq-100 Index
Tracking Stock. QQQ represents units of beneficial interest in a unit investment trust, the Nasdaq-100 Trust, that holds shares of the top 100 U.S. and
international non-financial stocks listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market that comprise the Nasdaq-100 Index. The increase in Nasdaq Financial Products
revenues was primarily due to an increase in the size of the QQQ and an increase in the number of option contracts issued on the QQQ for which Nasdaq also
earns trademark-licensing revenues.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Nasdaq Financial Products revenues were $28.1 million in 2002 compared with $30.6 million in
2001, a decrease of $2.5 million or 8.2%. The decrease in Nasdaq Financial Products revenues were partially attributable to a decrease in trademark license
revenue due to a decrease in price per unit and a decrease in trade reports occurring outside of the Nasdaq InterMarket of the QQQ. This decline in trademark
revenues was effectively offset by higher tape revenues received by Nasdaq InterMarket, which is reflected in Market Information Services, as a result of its
increased market share.
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Other Revenues
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Other revenues were $6.5 million in 2003 compared with $5.6 million in 2002, an increase of
$0.9 million or 16.1%. The increase primarily relates to the receipt of a business interruption insurance claim related to the events of September 11, 2003 of
$1.9 million in 2003.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Other revenues were $5.6 million in 2002 compared with $8.8 million in 2001, a decrease of
$3.2 million or 36.4%. The decrease was primarily due to a decline in revenues associated with the MarketSite as a result of closing the MarketSite store in
the fourth quarter of 2001, a decline in demand for advertising space at the MarketSite and a decline in the number of events held at the Market Site for which
Nasdaq charged a fee. Other revenues were also impacted by a pre-tax charge of $1.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 attributable to the impairment of
certain publicly-traded equity securities. The impairment charge was related to the decline in the fair value of Nasdaq’s publicly-traded equity investments
below their cost basis that was judged to be other-than-temporary.
Direct Expenses

Compensation and benefits
Marketing and advertising
Depreciation and amortization
Professional and contract services
Computer operations and data communications
Provision for bad debts
Travel, meetings and training
Occupancy
Publications, supplies and postage
Other
Total direct expenses

Year ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in millions)

$ 159.1
19.5
90.0
37.5
125.6
1.4
8.5
31.2
6.9
13.0
$ 492.7

$ 183.1
26.9
88.5
60.5
136.7
8.4
12.4
32.4
10.8
25.5
$ 585.2

$ 179.3
25.4
83.7
70.7
166.8
15.5
14.0
26.0
12.0
69.3
$ 662.7

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Direct expenses were $492.7 million in 2003 compared with $585.2 million in 2002, a decrease of
$92.5 million or 15.8%.

Compensation and benefits expense was $159.1 million in 2003 compared with $183.1 million in 2002, a decrease of $24.0 million or 13.1%. This
decrease was primarily due to a decline in the number of employees from 1,227 on December 31, 2002 to 956 on December 31, 2003 primarily due to
Nasdaq’s reductions in force as a result of Nasdaq’s strategic review, partially offset by an increase in employee benefit obligations. See Note 2, “Significant
Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Marketing and advertising expense was $19.5 million in 2003 compared with $26.9 million in 2002, a decrease of $7.4 million or 27.5% due to a decline
in direct marketing expenses related to the roll-out of SuperMontage in 2002 and a decline in advertising expenses related to Nasdaq’s “Listed on Nasdaq”
marketing campaign.
Professional and contract services expense was $37.5 million in 2003 compared with $60.5 million in 2002, a decrease of $23.0 million or 38.0%
primarily due to less reliance on outside contractors and a decline in expenses associated with Nasdaq’s global expansion strategy.
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Computer operations and data communications expense was $125.6 million in 2003 compared with $136.7 million in 2002, a decrease of $11.1 million
or 8.1% primarily due to a renegotiation of Nasdaq’s contract with MCI that occurred in the second quarter of 2002. Also contributing to the decrease were
lower costs associated with providing computer links to customers due to lower demand for such services.
Provision for bad debts was $1.4 million in 2003 compared with $8.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $7.0 million or 83.3% primarily due to a decrease in
past due account balances.
Travel, meetings and training expense was $8.5 million in 2003 compared with $12.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $3.9 million or 31.5%. Publications,
supplies and postage expense was $6.9 million in 2003 compared with $10.8 million in 2002, a decrease of $3.9 million or 36.1%. These decreases were
primarily due to lower overall spending as a result of Nasdaq’s cost reduction plan.
The remaining direct expenses totaled $134.2 million in 2003 compared with $146.4 million in 2002, a decrease of $12.2 million or 8.3%. The decrease
is partially due to the fulfillment in 2002 of Nasdaq’s technology transition commitment to Amex. In conjunction with the separation from the NASD, Nasdaq
had committed to fund $14.5 million of transitional support costs to Amex. In 2001, Nasdaq accrued $9.2 million for such costs. The remaining $5.3 million
was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002. Further contributing to the decline were lower discretionary spending and lower equity investment losses related
to Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC (“NQLX”) and Nasdaq Japan, and a $4.9 million write-down of an auxiliary trading technology platform recorded in the
second quarter of 2002. See “Strategic Review,” and “Nasdaq Japan,” of Note 2, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of NQLX and Nasdaq Japan.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Direct expenses were $585.2 million in 2002 compared with $662.7 million in 2001, a decrease of
$77.5 million or 11.7%.
Compensation and benefits expense was $183.1 million in 2002 compared with $179.3 million in 2001, an increase of $3.8 million or 2.1%. The
increase was primarily due to increased headcount related to internal functions being handled by Nasdaq as a result of the separation from the NASD as was
well as additional benefit obligations, partially offset by staff reductions. Compensation and benefits expense also included charges of $4.5 million in 2002
and $7.4 million in 2001 for severance and outplacement costs associated with staff reduction plans. The staff reductions eliminated 139 and 137 positions in
2002 and 2001, respectively.
Depreciation and amortization expense was $88.5 million in 2002 compared with $83.7 million in 2001, an increase of $4.8 million or 5.7% primarily
due to capacity and technology infrastructure improvements required to support market activity and new initiatives.
Professional and contract services expense was $60.5 million in 2002 compared with $70.7 million in 2001, a decrease of $10.2 million or 14.4%
primarily due to less reliance on outside contractors and a decrease in development costs associated with SuperMontage, partially offset by increased costs
associated with Nasdaq’s global expansion strategy.
Computer operations and data communications expense was $136.7 million in 2002 compared with $166.8 million in 2001, a decrease of $30.1 million
or 18.0%. This decrease was primarily due to a renegotiation of Nasdaq’s contract with MCI that occurred during the second quarter of 2002. Also
contributing to the decrease were lower costs associated with providing computer links to customers due to lower demand for such services.
The provision for bad debts was $8.4 million in 2002 compared with $15.5 million in 2001, a decrease of $7.1 million or 45.8% primarily due to the
provision for a bankruptcy filing by a market data vendor recorded in the first quarter of 2001. This is partially offset by an increase in inactive issuers with
outstanding account balances resulting from the temporary suspension of certain listing requirements due
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to the events of September 11, 2001, the continuing erosion of market conditions and increased payment defaults.
Occupancy expense was $32.4 million in 2002 compared with $26.0 million in 2001, an increase of $6.4 million or 24.6% primarily due to the direct
payment of occupancy expenses to third party vendors previously reported in Support costs from related parties, net in 2001 in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as a result of the separation from the NASD.
The remaining direct expenses were $75.6 million in 2002 compared with $120.7 million in 2001, a decrease of $45.1 million or 37.4%. The decrease is
primarily due to non-recurring real estate related costs of $21.5 million recorded during 2001. See Note 6, “Real Estate Developments,” to the consolidated
financial statements for further discussion. Also contributing to the decline were lower Nasdaq Japan losses recorded in Other direct expenses in 2002
compared with 2001 due to the other-than-temporary impairment charge on Nasdaq’s equity investment in Nasdaq Japan of $15.2 million which was recorded
in the “Nasdaq Japan impairment loss” line item on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Further contributing to the decline was a reduction in
technology transition costs to $5.3 million in 2002 from $9.2 million in 2001. In conjunction with the separation from the NASD, Nasdaq had committed to
fund $14.5 million of transitional support costs to Amex. In 2001, Nasdaq accrued $9.2 million for such costs. The remaining $5.3 million was recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2002 fulfilling Nasdaq’s commitment. Partially offsetting the decrease were higher NQLX losses of $9.0 million in 2002 as compared to
$6.0 million in 2001.
Elimination of Non-Core Product Lines, Initiatives and Severance

During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review of its operations designed to position Nasdaq for improved
profitability and growth. This strategic review included the elimination of non-core products and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in Nasdaq’s workforce.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, a total pre-tax charge to earnings of $145.5 million was recorded. The net impact to Nasdaq was a total pre-tax charge
of $143.5 million. The difference represented costs absorbed by minority shareholders of Nasdaq Europe. The charge recorded reflects the completion of the
costs associated with Nasdaq’s strategic review. As shown in the following table, the total charge of $145.5 million includes $97.9 million from continuing
operations and $47.6 million from discontinued operations related to Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets. See Note 3, “Discontinued Operations,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion. The charge was primarily recorded to Property and equipment, Goodwill, Other intangible assets,
Other accrued liabilities and Accrued personnel costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The following table summarizes the strategic review charges included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Year Ended
December 31, 2003
(in millions)

Continuing Operations
Non-Core Product Lines and Initiatives:
Impairment of capitalized software and fixed assets
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Contract cancellations
Other exit costs
Total non-core product lines and initiatives
Severance and benefit costs
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Total continuing operations strategic review charge

$ 21.1
8.2
11.4
11.6
52.3
32.4
13.2
$ 97.9

Discontinued Operations
Nasdaq Europe:
Impairment of technology platform
Severance and benefit costs
Impairment of goodwill
Other exit costs including contract cancellations
Total Nasdaq Europe
Gain on disposition of IndigoMarkets
Total discontinued operations strategic review charge
Total strategic review charged

$ 29.4
2.5
8.1
8.2
48.2
(0.6)
$ 47.6
$ 145.5

Continuing Operations
Non-core product lines and initiatives included in the strategic review were:
· Primex—Primex was an electronic auction system. Nasdaq ended its exclusive rights agreement with Primex Trading N.A., L.L.C. on December 31,
2003. Nasdaq decided to consolidate its trading services to a common functionality within the SuperMontage system and ceased offering Primex
effective January 16, 2004.
· Nasdaq Tools—Nasdaq Tools was an order management system that ran on the Nasdaq Application Programming Interface using the Nasdaq
Workstation II and was wound-down throughout 2003. Nasdaq Tools was a previously wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq and was merged with and
into Nasdaq on July 31, 2002.
· Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC (“NQLX”)—NQLX was a joint venture with the London International Financial Futures Exchange (“LIFFE”) to create a
market for single stock futures and other futures products. On July 24, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed its interest in the NQLX joint venture and transferred
its ownership interest to LIFFE. LIFFE assumed financial and management responsibility for NQLX. This change did not have any impact on the
operation of NQLX, but usage of the Nasdaq brand by the company ceased.
· The Bulletin Board Exchange (“BBX”)—BBX was a proposed platform for companies not eligible for the Nasdaq SmallCap Market to raise equity
capital and increase the visibility of their stock. The Over the Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”) will continue its existing operations.
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· Liquidity Tracker—Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routing system designed to allow traders to direct orders to specific market makers
based on recent trading activity. Liquidity Tracker ceased operations as of June 30, 2003.
· MarketSite Tower®—MarketSite Tower is located at Nasdaq’s Times Square, New York location. The video wall portion of the Tower was deemed
impaired.
The charge related to the elimination of the above non-core products and initiatives was approximately $52.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2003. Included in the charge was the reduction of Nasdaq’s investment in NQLX of $6.3 million due to the redemption of Nasdaq’s interest in the NQLX
joint venture, the impairment of goodwill of $4.1 million associated with Nasdaq Tools, the impairment of certain intangible assets of $4.1 million,
impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets of $21.1 million, contract cancellations of $11.4 million and other costs of $5.3 million. Included
in the $21.1 million impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets is a $12.3 million impairment on the MarketSite Tower. See “Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets,” of Note 4, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” for further discussion. The remaining impairment of capitalized software and
fixed assets relates to the eliminated products specifically Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquidity Tracker.

In addition, the charges from continuing operations recorded included severance costs of $32.4 million and the loss on early extinguishment of long-term
debt of $13.2 million. The severance costs included $13.8 million related to the reductions in force of 329 employees. The remaining $18.6 million of
severance costs relate to the fulfillment of employment contracts and obligations associated with the retirement and departure of certain members of senior
management. Total headcount was 956 as of December 31, 2003 versus 1,227 as of December 31, 2002. The extinguishment of debt costs relate to the
redemption of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Nasdaq’s 5.83% Senior Notes due 2007 (the “Senior Notes”). In conjunction with its strategic
review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the Senior Notes.
Discontinued Operations
Discontinued operations included in the strategic review were:
· Nasdaq EuropeSM—Nasdaq Europe was a pan-European stock market licensed in Belgium. See below for complete discussion of the wind-down and
eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaq Europe.
· IndigoMarkets Ltd. (“IndigoMarketsSM”)—IndigoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Limited (“SSI”) to develop international trading platforms. On
September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in the joint venture to SSI and recognized a gain on the sale of approximately $0.6 million.
Europe
As a result of the strategic review, Nasdaq supported the closing of the market operated by Nasdaq Europe, in which Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest
through December 18, 2003. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 26, 2003, the shareholders of Nasdaq Europe voted to discontinue operations
of the market, and, as a result, market operations were wound-down pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission.
As Nasdaq Europe was winding-down its market operations, Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of that
company’s original investors; the cash consideration for the transaction was nominal. The transfer of Nasdaq’s shares of Nasdaq Europe was completed on
December 18, 2003. The entity ceased using the Nasdaq Europe name after the transaction. As part of the transaction, Nasdaq Europe’s new owner committed
to seek to restructure that company’s obligations and, in that context, to request from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against
Nasdaq Europe’s former directors,
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officers and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe). At the time of the transfer, Nasdaq Europe had
approximately $12 million of external debt and accrued interest. Nasdaq has recorded liabilities that management believes are sufficient to satisfy any
potential claims against Nasdaq.
Also, as part of Nasdaq’s strategic review, during the third quarter of 2003, Nasdaq supported Nasdaq Europe’s position in favor of the decision of the
shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland AG (“Nasdaq Deutschland”), a German exchange in which Nasdaq Europe had a 50.0% interest, to suspend that
company’s trading operations effective August 29, 2003. Nasdaq Europe transferred all of its shares in Nasdaq Deutschland to one of the other shareholders,
BWB Holding AG, as of August 29, 2003.
The charge related to the orderly wind-down and liquidation of market operations in Belgium and Germany was approximately $48.2 million (excluding
the minority interest benefit of $2.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003. The $48.2 million charge includes the $29.4 million impairment of
certain technology platforms held for sale and owned by Nasdaq Europe, the impairment of goodwill of $8.1 million (Nasdaq Europe and Nasdaq
Deutschland), severance costs of $2.5 million and other costs of $8.2 million including contract cancellations.
Nasdaq Japan Impairment Loss
During the second quarter of 2002, Nasdaq recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge on its equity investment in Nasdaq Japan of
$15.2 million. Nasdaq Japan entered into liquidation status in late November 2002 and was completely dissolved in May 2003. See “Nasdaq Japan,” of Note
2, “Significant Transaction” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq reversed $5.0 million of the reserves related to Nasdaq Japan due to favorable contract negotiations and
lower legal costs resulting from the complete liquidation of Nasdaq Japan.
Support Costs from related parties, net
Due to its historical relationship with the NASD, Nasdaq receives services from the NASD and NASD Regulation, Inc. (“NASDR”) and provides
services to the Amex. As such, these services are considered related party transactions and for the year ended December 31, 2001 included certain
administrative, corporate and infrastructure services, including certain financial services, real estate, legal and human resource services. In 2003 and 2002,
these services were limited to certain finance, technology infrastructure, facilities sharing and legal services, which were substantially more limited than what
were previously provided by NASD during 2001. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the NASDR provided surveillance and other
regulatory services for Nasdaq. These charges are composed primarily of the costs relating to technological investments for market surveillance as well as
direct costs for enforcement and other regulation services. Nasdaq provides systems and technology support to Amex in the form of market data storage and
dissemination, web development and hosting and customer relationship management application support. During 2003, Nasdaq continued moving toward less
reliance upon support from the NASD due to internalization of technology and certain other support functions and, Nasdaq believes that ongoing review of
these charges and related services, especially with respect to the technology used to provide those services, may reduce these costs further in 2004 without
affecting the quality of regulatory oversight. Support costs with related parties have been transacted at the cost of providing the service. See “Item 1. Business
—Service, Regulatory, and Technology Contractual Relationship with the NASD, NASDR and Amex.”
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Support costs from related parties, net were $61.5 million in 2003 compared with $75.0 million in
2002, a decrease of $13.5 million or 18.0%. This decrease primarily reflects a reduction in surveillance and other regulatory charges from the NASDR.
Surveillance and other regulatory charges from NASDR were $61.8 million in 2003 compared with $76.7 million in 2002, a decrease of $14.9 million or
19.4%. This decrease is due to a careful review of NASDR’s charges and the allocation of these charges among the markets it regulates. In addition, the
decrease is due to continued progress in separating from the NASD and the resulting internalization of technology and certain other support functions.

Support costs from the NASD were $1.2 million in 2003 compared with $5.1 million in 2002, a decrease of $3.9 million or 76.5%. In addition, partially
offsetting the above is the amount of Nasdaq costs charged to the Amex of $1.5 million in 2003 compared with $6.8 million in 2002, a decrease of
$5.3 million or 77.9%. This decrease was primarily due to the reduction in Amex’s reliance on Nasdaq for support. Amounts charged to related parties are
netted against charges from related parties in the “Support costs from related parties, net” line item on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Support costs from related parties were $75.0 million in 2002 compared with $101.8 million in
2001, a decrease of $26.8 million or 26.3%. The decrease reflects Nasdaq’s continued move towards less reliance upon support from the NASD and its
affiliates. Surveillance and other regulatory charges from NASDR were $76.7 million in 2002 compared with $83.8 million in 2001, a decrease of
$7.1 million or 8.5%. Support costs from the NASD were $5.1 million in 2002 compared with $32.1 million in 2001, a decrease of $27.0 million or 84.1%. In
addition, the amount of Nasdaq costs charged to the Amex were $6.8 million in 2002 compared with $14.1 million in 2001, a decrease of $7.3 million or
51.8%.
Income Taxes
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Nasdaq’s income tax benefit from continuing operations was $21.2 million in 2003 compared to an
income tax provision of $40.9 million in 2002. The overall effective tax rate in 2003 and 2002 was 32.0% and 38.6%, respectively. The change in Nasdaq’s
effective tax rate was primarily due to the write-off of goodwill related to Nasdaq’s strategic review and deferred tax asset write-offs. Goodwill is not
deductible for U.S. income tax purposes. See “Strategic Review,” of Note 2, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.
The effective tax rate may vary from year to year depending on, among other factors, the geographic and business mix of earnings and losses. These
same and other factors, including history of pre-tax earnings and losses, are taken into account in assessing the ability to realize deferred tax assets.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. Nasdaq’s income tax provision from continuing operations was $40.9 million in 2002 compared
with $38.3 million in 2001. The effective tax rate was 38.6% for 2002 compared to 39.0% for 2001. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily due
to a reduction in foreign losses for which no tax benefit is taken offset by a reduction in the tax benefits related to tax preferred investments such as tax
exempt interest and dividend received deductions.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Nasdaq’s Treasury Department manages Nasdaq’s capital structure, funding, liquidity, collateral, and relationships with bankers, investment advisors and
creditors. The Treasury Department works jointly with subsidiaries to manage internal and external borrowings.
The Nasdaq Board has approved an investment policy for Nasdaq and its subsidiaries for internally and externally managed portfolios. The goal of the
policy is to maintain adequate liquidity at all times and to fund current budgeted operating and capital requirements and to maximize returns. All securities
must
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meet credit rating standards as established by the policy, and must be denominated in subsidiary specific currencies. The investment portfolio duration must
not exceed 18 months. The policy prohibits the purchasing of any investment in equity securities as of October 2003. The policy also prohibits any investment
in debt interest in an entity that derives more that 25% of its gross revenue from the combined broker-dealer and/or investment advisory businesses of all of
its subsidiaries and affiliates. Nasdaq’s investment policy is reviewed annually. Nasdaq also periodically reviews its investments and investment managers.
Cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities totaled $334.6 million as of December 31, 2003 compared with $423.6 million at
December 31, 2002, a decrease of $89.0 million or 21.0%. The decrease was primarily due to the repayment of Nasdaq’s $150.0 million Senior Notes on
September 30, 2003. In conjunction with Nasdaq’s strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity
provided by the Senior Notes. See Note 10, “Senior Notes and Credit Facility,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Nasdaq relies primarily on cash flows from operations to provide working capital for current and future operations. Cash flows from continuing
operating activities totaled $145.8 million in 2003, $183.2 million in 2002 and $103.3 million in 2001. Cash inflows are primarily due to cash received from
customers less cash paid to suppliers, employees and related parties. The decrease in operating cash flows in 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily due to
payments for the elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance. See “Strategic Review,” of Note 2, “Significant Transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion. Net cash used in investing and financing activities was $157.8 million in 2003, $234.3 million in
2002 and $51.1 million in 2001.
Investing Activities. During 2003, Nasdaq purchased $179.2 million of available-for-sale securities. Capital expenditures for property and equipment
were $31.6 million. Investing activities also included proceeds of $212.7 million from the redemption of available-for-sale investments.
During 2002, Nasdaq purchased $212.6 million of available-for-sale investments. Capital expenditures for property and equipment were $75.2 million
related to SuperMontage and general capacity increases. Investing activities also included proceeds of $209.2 million from the redemption of available-forsale investments.
Financing Activities. Financing activities during 2003 primarily consisted of the redemption of Nasdaq’s $150.0 million Senior Notes. Financing
activities during 2002 consisted primarily of the payment of approximately $305.2 million to fund the repurchase of all remaining shares of Common Stock
owned by the NASD, except for the shares underlying warrants to purchase outstanding shares of Common Stock previously issued by the NASD. See Note
20, “Capital Stock,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. Financing activities also included proceeds of $150.0 million from the
issuance of $150.0 million Senior Notes. None of Nasdaq’s lenders are affiliated with Nasdaq.
Capital Resources and Working Capital. Nasdaq has been able to generate sufficient funds from operations to meet working capital requirements.
Nasdaq does not currently have any lines of credit. Nasdaq believes that the liquidity provided by existing cash and cash equivalents, investments and cash
generated from operations will provide sufficient capital to meet current and future operating requirements. Nasdaq is exploring alternative sources of
financing that may increase liquidity in the future.
Working capital (calculated as current assets, reduced for held-to-maturity investments classified as current assets, less current liabilities) was
$268.2 million at December 31, 2003 compared with $403.0 million at December 31, 2002, a decrease of $134.8 million or 33.4%. The decrease was mainly
due to the repayment of $150.0 million Senior Notes.
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Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments
Nasdaq has contractual obligations to make future payments under long-term debt, long-term non-cancelable lease agreements and other long-term
obligations and has contingent commitments under a variety of arrangements as discussed in Note 10, “Senior Notes and Credit Facility,” Note 11,
“Subordinated Notes,” and Note 15, “Leases,” to the consolidated financial statements. The following table sets forth these contractual obligations as of
December 31, 2003:
Total

Long-term debt by contract maturity
Minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases
Minimum rental commitments under
capitalized leases
Other long-term obligations
Total

$ 265,000

Less than
1 year

$

—

1 - 3 years
3 - 5 years
(in thousands)

$ 240,000

$

More than
5 years

3,958

$ 21,042

296,943

22,947

42,598

41,113

190,285

1,612
28,710
$ 592,265

1,612
28,710
$ 53,269

—
—
$ 282,598

—
—
$ 45,071

—
—
$ 211,327

Long-term Debt
In May 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 million senior note payable with a financial institution (the “1997 Note”). Principal payments are scheduled to
begin in 2007 and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012. The 1997 Note requires monthly interest payments through May 2007 at a
fixed rate of 7.41%. After May 2007, Nasdaq will incur interest equal to the lenders’ cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 0.5%. The 1997
Note, as amended, contains a financial maintenance covenant requiring that the ratio of Nasdaq’s EBITDA for the prior four quarters must be at least four
times Nasdaq’s interest expense for those four quarters (4.0 to 1.0), provided however, that the ratio is reduced to 1.0 to 1.0 through the quarter ended
March 31, 2004, increasing to 1.25 to 1.0 through the quarter ended September 30, 2004, increasing to 1.50 to 1.0 through the quarter ended March 31, 2005
and returning to 4.0 to 1.0 for periods thereafter. EBITDA means the sum of Consolidated Net Operating Income and all provisions for depreciation and
amortization. Consolidated Net Operating Income means net operating income excluding the cost of strategic review and other charges incurred in the three
quarters ended December 31, 2003 as well as amounts related to minority interest and non-cash expenses related to stock options as compensation. The 1997
Note also limits the amount of secured debt Nasdaq can incur to 10% of total assets. Nasdaq’s inability to comply with the required financial covenants, or in
certain circumstances a default under another financial agreement could result in default under the 1997 Note.
On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq issued and sold $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible Subordinated Notes due May 2006 to
Hellman & Friedman. The Subordinated Notes do not contain any financial maintenance covenants, but a default under any outstanding financing agreement
that results in the acceleration of any debt having a principal amount in excess of $50 million would cause a cross default under the Subordinated Notes. See
Note 11, “Subordinated Notes,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
If a default under one or more of these financial agreements causes amounts outstanding under the applicable financial agreement or agreements to be
declared to be immediately due and payable, Nasdaq will be required to expend the funds to pay such amounts. If Nasdaq did not have sufficient available
cash to pay all amounts that become due and payable, Nasdaq would have to seek additional debt or equity financing, which may not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all.
Nasdaq’s ability to incur additional long-term debt and to sell assets for cash outside of the ordinary course of business (“Extraordinary Asset Sales”)
also is subject to covenants in the purchase and sale
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agreement between Nasdaq and the NASD, dated as of February 20, 2002, related to the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Purchase Agreement”) that remain in
force while the Series A Preferred Stock is outstanding. Under this agreement, Nasdaq must obtain the NASD’s prior written consent, which may not be
unreasonably withheld, before incurring or assuming long-term debt or engaging in Extraordinary Asset Sales that in aggregate equals or exceeds $200.0
million in outstanding long-term debt and Extraordinary Asset Sales. Debt outstanding as of February 21, 2002 and debt incurred to refinance such
outstanding debt are excluded from this calculation. Sales of capital stock and sales or transfers of assets in connection with a joint venture, strategic alliance
or similar arrangement (if not primarily for cash and to raise capital) are excluded from the definition of Extraordinary Asset Sales. The NASD is permitted to
require use of the proceeds to redeem Series A Preferred Stock as a condition to granting consent to a transaction in excess of the $200.0 million limitation.
At December 31, 2003, Nasdaq was in compliance with the covenants of all of its debt and lease agreements and the Purchase Agreement.
Leases
Nasdaq leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations. The majority of these leases contain escalation clauses based on
increases in property taxes and building operating costs. Minimum lease payments at December 31, 2003 were $296.9 million over the life of the leases.
Nasdaq had future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable capital leases of $1.6 million at December 31, 2003.
Other Long-term Obligations
For discussion of other long-term obligations, see MCI below.
Nasdaq Europe
As of June 30, 2003, €31.8 million ($36.6 million) was funded in the form of a loan fulfilling a commitment to Nasdaq Europe. Of the funded amount,
€14.4 million ($16.6 million) was used to finance the operations of Nasdaq Europe through 2002. During the first and second quarters of 2003, an additional
€11.6 million ($13.3 million) was funded for 2003 operations. The remaining €5.8 million ($6.7 million) was used to enable Nasdaq Europe to invest in
Nasdaq Deutschland, a venture among Nasdaq Europe, several German banks and two regional German exchanges. In October 2002, Nasdaq Europe’s
strategic investors committed to convert the majority of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt to equity. The conversion was formally approved by Nasdaq Europe’s

Board of Directors in March 2003. On May 26, 2003, the strategic investors converted 63.3% of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt (or 83.2% including
intercompany debt with Nasdaq).
On June 24, 2003, Nasdaq’s Board of Directors approved an up to $13.0 million additional commitment in the form of a subordinated loan for the winddown of market operations of Nasdaq Europe, which was to be conducted pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance
Commission. The funding enabled Nasdaq Europe to conduct an orderly transition of listed issuers, as required under Belgian law, renew certain essential
contracts during the wind-down period, satisfy certain severance obligations and operate the Nasdaq Deutschland platform until the closure of the Nasdaq
Deutschland market on August 29, 2003. As of December 18, 2003, the entire commitment was funded to Nasdaq Europe and to its wholly-owned subsidiary
Nasdaq Europe Limited.
As a result of the transfer of Nasdaq’s shares of Nasdaq Europe, Nasdaq Europe’s new owner committed to seek to restructure that company’s
obligations and, in that context, to request from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against Nasdaq Europe’s former directors,
officers
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and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe). At the time of the transfer, Nasdaq Europe had
approximately $12 million of external debt and accrued interest. Nasdaq has recorded liabilities that management believes are sufficient to satisfy any
potential claims against Nasdaq.
Nasdaq Insurance Agency
In December 2002, Nasdaq purchased the NASD’s 50.0% interest in the NASD Insurance Agency (subsequently renamed the Nasdaq Insurance Agency,
LLC (“NIA”)). Nasdaq’s consideration for the NASD’s 50.0% interest consisted of an upfront payment of $0.5 million and up to $5.1 million based on NIA’s
stream of contingent cash flow through 2011. Nasdaq will pay the NASD up to: (a) 20% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdaq has paid the NASD $2.3 million
from cash flows; (b) 10% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdaq has paid the NASD a cumulative amount of $3.0 million from cash flows; (c) 5% of NIA’s cash
flows until the earlier to occur of Nasdaq paying the NASD the full cumulative amount of $5.1 million from cash flows or December 31, 2011. As of
December 31, 2003, Nasdaq recorded a $0.1 million dividend to the NASD for the NIA’s 2003 cash flows. The dividend was reflected as a reduction in
Additional paid-in capital on Nasdaq’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Amex Technology Separation
During 2001, Nasdaq agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware and data under a plan to
transition technology applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to
the 1998 acquisition of Amex by the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation had been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and was shared
evenly between Nasdaq and the NASD. In 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively under this commitment, fulfilling its
commitment. As of December 31, 2003, $9.5 million had been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment is expected to be paid in 2004.
NQLX
On June 1, 2001, Nasdaq signed an agreement with LIFFE creating NQLX, a U.S. joint venture company to list and trade single stock futures. On
November 8, 2002, Nasdaq launched NQLX. The Nasdaq Board approved a capital contribution of $25.0 million to the NQLX joint venture. During 2002
and 2001, Nasdaq made $2.0 million and $16.0 million, respectively of capital contributions to the NQLX joint venture. As of June 30, 2003, $23.0 million
had been contributed and Nasdaq also agreed to redeem its interest in the NQLX joint venture. On July 17, 2003, Nasdaq fulfilled its remaining funding
obligation by contributing $2.0 million to NQLX, with the aggregate contributions totaling $25.0 million. On July 24, 2003, Nasdaq, LIFFE and NQLX
executed a Redemption and Separation Agreement, at which time Nasdaq ceased to be a partner of NQLX for state law purposes and ceased to share in
partnership profits. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Nasdaq accounted for its investment in NQLX under the equity method of accounting. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq recorded losses of $4.1 million,
$9.0 million and $6.0 million, respectively representing its share of losses incurred by NQLX. The losses are included in Other expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
MCI
Nasdaq entered into a six-year $600.0 million contract with MCI in 1997 to replace the data network that connected the Nasdaq market facilities to
market participants. As part of this contract, Nasdaq guaranteed MCI a minimum revenue commitment of $300.0 million. Under the terms of this contract,
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Nasdaq was permitted to renegotiate the contract once the minimum guarantee was satisfied. In June 2002, an amendment to the original contract was
negotiated with MCI after the minimum usage level of $300.0 million was achieved based on the original contract. The amended contract supersedes the
terms of the existing contract and is for $182.0 million over three years commencing in June 2002. The three-year contract includes fixed and variable cost
components for two years and permits Nasdaq to terminate the contract under certain circumstances after the second year. On January 30, 2004, Nasdaq and
MCI entered into a new global services agreement (the “GSA”) terminating the current agreement effective May 31, 2004. The GSA which expires on
December 31, 2005, requires usage charges for certain GSA services to be at least $20.0 million during the period from June 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004
and $20.0 million in 2005.
General Litigation
Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of its business. Currently, there are certain legal proceedings pending against Nasdaq. Nasdaq
believes, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements arising from these proceedings will not have a material effect on the financial
position or results of operations of Nasdaq. Management is not aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would have a material adverse effect on
the financial position and the results of operations of Nasdaq.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
Market risk represents the risks of changes in the value of a financial instrument, derivative or non-derivative, caused by fluctuations in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. As of December 31, 2003, investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. Government
sponsored enterprises, municipal bonds and other financial instruments. Nasdaq’s primary market risk is associated with fluctuations in interest rates and the
effects that such fluctuations may have on its investment portfolio and outstanding debt. The weighted average maturity of the fixed income portion of the
portfolio is 0.68 years as of December 31, 2003. Nasdaq’s outstanding debt obligations generally specify a fixed interest rate until May 2007 and a floating
interest rate based on the lender’s cost of funds until maturity in 2012. The investment portfolio is held primarily in investments with maturities averaging less
than one year. Therefore, management does not believe that a 100 basis point fluctuation in market interest rates will have a material effect on the carrying
value of Nasdaq’s investment portfolio or on Nasdaq earnings or cash flows. Nasdaq’s exposure to these risks has not materially changed since December 31,
2003.
During the year 2003, Nasdaq had hedged certain foreign currency exposures. At December 31, 2003, Nasdaq had an existing hedge outstanding of 25
million British Pounds in anticipation of a forecasted transaction. Both the hedge and the transaction settled on January 15, 2004. Nasdaq expects to
periodically re-evaluate its foreign currency hedging policies and may choose in the future to enter into additional transactions.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of Nasdaq’s financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to adopt accounting
policies and make estimates and judgments to develop amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Nasdaq periodically reviews the application of its accounting policies and evaluates the appropriateness of the estimates that are required to prepare the
financial statements. Nasdaq believes our estimates and judgments are reasonable; however actual results and the timing of recognition of such amounts could
differ from those estimates.
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Nasdaq’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 4, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial
statements. The following provides information about Nasdaq’s critical accounting policies. Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective
of significant judgments and uncertainties, and potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. These policies
relate to revenue recognition, software costs, related party transactions and reserve for bad debts.
Revenue Recognition. Market Services segment: Transaction Services revenues (40.0% of total revenues in 2003) are variable, and are based on
service volumes, and are recognized as transactions occur. Market Information Services revenues (24.9% of total revenues in 2003) are based on the number
of presentation devices in service and market data information quotes delivered through those devices. These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under
revenue sharing arrangements with market participants. Market Information Services revenues are recognized in the month that information is provided.
Issuer Services segment: Corporate Client Group revenues (28.4% of total revenues in 2003) include annual fees, initial listing fees and LAS fees. Effective
January 1, 2000, Nasdaq adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”). Annual fees are recognized
ratably over the following 12-month period. Initial listing and LAS fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over estimated service periods, which are six
and four years, respectively. Prior to 2000, initial listing fees were recognized in the month listing occurred and LAS fees were recognized in the period the
additional shares were issued. For Nasdaq Financial Products’ revenues (5.6% of total revenues in 2003), Nasdaq receives license fees for its trademark
licenses related to the QQQ and other financial products linked to Nasdaq indices issued in the U.S. and abroad. These revenues are recognized as earned.
Software Costs. Significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of computer hardware are capitalized and
amortized on the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally two to seven years. All other purchased software is charged to expense as
incurred.
Nasdaq uses Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 98-1”), for
accounting for internally developed software. SOP 98-1 requires that certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software
be capitalized. Under the provisions of this SOP, Nasdaq capitalizes internal and third party costs incurred in connection with the development of internal use
software.
Related Party Transactions. Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. Payables to
related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs
incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Support charges from the NASD to Nasdaq represent another component of payables to
related parties. The support charge includes an allocation of a portion of the NASD’s administrative expenses as well as its costs incurred to develop and
maintain technology on behalf of Nasdaq. All related party transactions are currently charged at cost.
Receivables from related parties are primarily attributable to costs incurred by Amex and funded by Nasdaq related to various Amex technology projects.
The remaining portion of the receivable from related parties balance is related to cash disbursements funded by Nasdaq on behalf of its affiliates.
Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will retain voting control over Nasdaq. See “Item 1. Business—Nasdaq’s History and Structure.” However, as of
January 1, 2004, none of the 19 members of the Nasdaq Board are currently members of the NASD Board. Nonetheless, until Exchange Registration, the
NASD will be in a position to continue to control substantially all matters affecting Nasdaq, including any determination with respect to the direction and
policies of Nasdaq, acquisition or disposition of assets, future issuances of securities of Nasdaq, Nasdaq’s incurrence of debt and any dividend payable on the
Common Stock.
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Conflicts of interest may arise between Nasdaq and the NASD, or its affiliates, in a number of areas relating to their past and ongoing relationships,
including the nature, quality, and pricing of services rendered; shared marketing functions; tax and employee benefit matters; indemnity agreements; sales or
distributions by the NASD of all or any portion of its ownership interest in Nasdaq; or the NASD’s ability to influence certain affairs of Nasdaq prior to
Exchange Registration.

Nasdaq agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware, and data under a plan to transition technology
applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of
Amex by the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation has been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and was shared evenly between Nasdaq
and the NASD. In 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively under this commitment, fulfilling its commitment. As of
December 31, 2003, $9.5 million had been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment is expected to be paid in 2004.
Reserve for Bad Debts. The reserve for bad debts is maintained at a level believed by management to be sufficient to absorb estimated losses in the
accounts receivable portfolio. The reserve is increased by the provision for bad debts which is charged against operating results and decreased by the amount
of charge-offs, net of recoveries. The amount charged against operating results is based on several factors, including a continuous assessment of the
collectibility of each account. In circumstances where a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations is known (i.e., bankruptcy filings),
Nasdaq records a specific provision for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount it reasonably believes will be collected. For all
other customers, provisions for bad debts are made based on the length of time the receivable is past due and historical experience. As of December 31, 2003,
for receivables past due 31-60 days, 61-90 days and over 90 days, the outstanding account balances are reserved for at 10%, 50% and 100% of the
outstanding account balances, respectively. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major
customer’s ability to pay), our estimates of recoverability could be reduced by a material amount.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity,” which
establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Financial
instruments that are within the scope of this statement, which previously were often classified as equity, must now be classified as liabilities. This statement is
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning
after June 15, 2003. Adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on Nasdaq’s earnings or financial position.
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 addresses consolidation by
business enterprises of variable interest entities (“VIE”s). The accounting provisions and disclosure requirements of FIN 46 are effective immediately for
VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2003 for VIEs created prior to February 1, 2003.
Adoption of this interpretation did not have a material impact on Nasdaq’s earnings or financial position.
In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148
provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and
requires more prominent and frequent disclosures in financial statements about the effects of stock-based compensation. Nasdaq adopted the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 148 during the first
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quarter of 2003. See Note 14, “Stock Compensation and Stock Awards,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 provides accounting and disclosure requirements for certain guarantees. The interpretation requires
certain guarantees to be recorded at fair value versus the current practice of recording a liability only when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable. The
accounting provisions of FIN 45 are effective for certain guarantees issued or modified beginning January 1, 2003. Adoption of this interpretation did not
have a material impact on Nasdaq’s earnings or financial position.
In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities” (“SFAS 146”). This statement is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002 and generally requires costs associated
with exit or disposal activities (including costs related to involuntary terminations and contract termination costs) to be recognized when they are incurred
rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. Specifically, costs associated with involuntary terminations are to be accrued on the date
the employees are notified, assuming the period of time between the notification date and termination date is the lesser of 60 days or the legally required
notification period. Otherwise, these costs are to be recognized evenly over the period from notification to termination. Contract termination costs are to be
recognized when the contract is legally terminated or when the economic benefits of the contract are no longer being utilized. Nasdaq is in accordance with
SFAS 146 for the elimination of all non-core products, initiatives and severance incurred during 2003.
Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)(1)
1st Qtr
2003

Total revenues
Total direct expenses
Total expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest income
Interest expense
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes
(Provision) benefit for income taxes
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations

2nd Qtr
3rd Qtr
4th Qtr
2003
2003
2003
(in thousands, except share amounts)

$ 162,361 $ 147,574 $ 141,900 $ 138,011
135,075
132,998
115,456
109,215
152,269
189,522
154,707
150,662
10,092
(41,948)
(12,807)
(12,651)
2,766
2,606
2,488
1,655
(5,230)
(5,222)
(5,182)
(2,922)
7,628
(44,564)
(15,501)
(13,918)
(1,808)
12,182
7,758
3,109
$ 5,820 $ (32,382) $ (7,743) $ (10,809)
(3,254)
(16,626)
(30,836)
(10,188)
—
—
571
—
$ 2,566 $ (49,008 ) $ (38,008 ) $ (20,997 )
$

1,916

$

0.06

$ (51,552 ) $ (40,550 ) $ (23,540 )
$

(0.45) $

(0.13) $

(0.17)

Discontinued operations
Total

$

(0.04)
0.02 $

(0.21)
(0.66 ) $

(0.39)
(0.52 ) $

(0.13)
(0.30 )
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1st Qtr
2002

Total revenues
Total direct expenses
Total expenses
Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Operating income from continuing operations before income
taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders
Basic net earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total

2nd Qtr
3rd Qtr
4th Qtr
2002
2002
2002
(in thousands, except share amounts)

$ 208,663 $ 202,649 $ 195,550 $ 180,293
143,764
146,663
141,652
153,056
161,438
179,548
162,754
171,571
47,225
23,101
32,796
8,722
3,144
3,414
3,128
2,897
(3,541)
(4,070)
(5,795)
(5,082)
46,828
22,445
30,129
(20,207)
(8,235)
(12,207)
$ 26,621 $ 14,210 $ 17,922 $

6,537
(272)
6,265

(5,294)
(5,440)
(5,211)
(5,945)
$ 21,327 $ 8,770 $ 12,711 $
320
$ 18,886
$
$
$
$

$

6,329

$ 10,270

$ (2,121 )

0.24 $
(0.05)
0.19 $

0.15 $
(0.07)
0.08 $

0.20 $
(0.07)
0.13

0.05
(0.08)
(0.03 )

0.23 $
(0.05)
0.18 $

0.15 $
(0.07)
0.08 $

0.20 $
(0.07)
0.13 $

0.05
(0.08)
(0.03 )

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to previously recorded quarters in order to conform to the current year presentation.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk.
Information about quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is incorporated herein by reference from “Item 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk.”
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Nasdaq’s consolidated financial statements, including consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and notes to our
consolidated financial statements, together with a report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP, dated February 18, 2004, are attached hereto as pages F-1 through F43.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
(a). Disclosure controls and procedures. Nasdaq’s management, with the participation of Nasdaq’s President and Chief Executive Officer, and
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of Nasdaq’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon
that evaluation, Nasdaq’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end
of such period, Nasdaq’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
(b). Internal controls over financial reporting. There have been no changes in Nasdaq’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during Nasdaq’s fiscal fourth quarter that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, Nasdaq’s internal controls over financial reporting.
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Part III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
Information about Nasdaq’s code of ethics, as defined in Item 406 of Regulation S-K, and Nasdaq’s audit committee composition and financial expert, as
defined in Items 401(h) and (i) of Regulation S-K, are incorporated by reference from the discussion under the captions “Nasdaq Codes of Ethics” and “Board
and Committee Meetings—Audit Committee,” respectively, in Nasdaq’s proxy statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy”).
Information about Nasdaq’s directors is incorporated by reference from the discussion under Proposal 1 in the Proxy. Information about Nasdaq’s Nominating
Committee is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the caption “Board and Committee Meetings—Nominating Committee” in the Proxy.
Information about Section 16 reports, as required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K, is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the caption
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy. The balance of the response to this item is contained in the discussion entitled
“Executive Officers” under Item 1 of Part I of this report.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information about executive compensation is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the heading “Executive Compensation” in Nasdaq’s
Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Information about security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the heading
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in Nasdaq’s Proxy Statement for the
2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Information about certain relationships and transactions with related parties is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the heading
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in Nasdaq’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Information about principal accountant fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the heading “Proposal 2. Ratify
the Appointment of Independent Auditors” in Nasdaq’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.
(a)(1) Financial Statements
See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required
under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.
(a)(3) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(^^)

3.2

By-Laws of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(#)

3.2.1

First Amendment to By-Laws of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(~)

4.1

Form of Common Stock certificate.(+)

9.1

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 28, 2000, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York.(+)

9.2

First Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc., the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York.
(+)

9.3

Second Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2002, among The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc., the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., The Bank of New York and
Mellon Investor Services, LLC.(++)

10.1

Network Service Agreement, dated November 19, 1997, between MCI Telecommunications
Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)

10.1.1

Amendment to EWN II Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2002, between WorldCom
Communications, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. *(++)

10.2

Consolidated Agreement, between Unisys Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)

10.3

Network User License Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation and The
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(++)

10.4

Software License and Services Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation

and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)
10.5

Regulatory Services Agreement, dated June 28, 2000, between NASD Regulation, Inc. and The
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)

10.6

Separation and Common Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2002, between the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(~)

10.7

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(+)
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10.8

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan.(+)

10.8.1

First Amendment to The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan.(##)

10.9

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.,
Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P. and the other purchasers listed in the signature
pages thereto.(+)

10.9.1

Securityholders Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.,
Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P., and the other securityholders listed on the signature
pages thereto.(^)

10.10

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated March 23, 2001, by and between the National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(+)

10.11

Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Robert Greifeld,
effective as of May 12, 2003.(>>)

10.12

Employment Letter from The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. to Steven J. Randich, dated September 22,
2000.

10.13

Employment Letter from The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. to David P. Warren, dated November 30,
2000.

10.14

Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Richard G. Ketchum,
effective as of December 29, 2000.(+)

10.14.1

Amendment One to the Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and
Richard G. Ketchum, effective as of February 1, 2002.(>)

10.14.2

Letter Agreement among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Richard G. Ketchum and The New York
Stock Exchange, Inc., dated as of February 25, 2004.

10.15

Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Hardwick Simmons,
dated December 7, 2000, effective as of February 1, 2001.(+)

10.15.1

Amendment Number One to the Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc., and Hardwick Simmons, effective as of February 1, 2001.(+)

10.15.2

Amendment Number Two to the Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc., and Hardwick Simmons, effective as of February 1, 2002.(>)

10.16

Employment Agreement between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Edward Knight, effective as of
December 29, 2000.(~)

10.16.1

First Amendment to Employment Agreement between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Edward
Knight, effective February 1, 2002.(~)

10.17

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2002, by and between The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc., and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.(>)

10.17.1

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2002, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.,
and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.(<*>)

10.18

Loan Agreement, dated December 28, 2001, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and
David P. Warren.(>)

10.19

Master Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2002, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and The
American Stock Exchange, LLC and The American Stock Exchange Corporation. *(++)
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10.19.1

First Amendment to Master Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2002, among The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc., and The American Stock Exchange, LLC and The American Stock Exchange
Corporation.*

10.20

Technology Transition Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2002, among The Nasdaq Stock

Market, Inc., The National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The American Stock Exchange
LLC. *(++)
10.21

Promissory Note, dated as of May 19, 1997, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and Crestar
Bank (the “Promissory Note”), Allonge to Promissory Note, dated as of May 6, 2003, between
Nasdaq and SunTrust Bank; Second Allonge to Promissory Note, dated as of June 26, 2003, between
Nasdaq and SunTrust, Third Allonge, dated as of September 29, 2003, between Nasdaq and SunTrust.

11

Statement regarding computation of per share earnings (incorporated herein by reference to “Item 14.
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K” of this Form 10-K).

12.1

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21.1

List of all subsidiaries.

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

24.1

Powers of Attorney.

31.1

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley”).

31.2

Certification of Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
Sarbanes-Oxley.

32.1

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of SarbanesOxley.

*

Confidential treatment has been requested from the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for
certain portions of this exhibit.

(+)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number
000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001.

(^)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on
Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on May 14, 2001.

(—)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on
Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on August 31, 2001.

(#)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on
Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on November 16, 2001.

(<*>)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22,
2002.

(>)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001, filed March 28, 2002.
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(>>)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Registration on Form S-8, filed on July 10, 2003.

(##)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2002, filed on August 14, 2002.

(~)

Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
The following reports on Form 8-K were furnished during the three months ended December 31, 2003.
1.

Form 8-K, dated November 5, 2003 (Items 7 and 12).

(c) Exhibits:
See Item 15(a)(3) above.
(d) Financial Statement Schedules:
See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 15, 2004.
THE NASDAQ STOCK

MARKET, INC.
By /s/ ROBERT GREIFELD
Name: Robert Greifeld
Title: Chief Executive
Officer and President
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities indicated as of March 15, 2004.
Name

Title

/s/ ROBERT GREIFELD
Robert Greifeld

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ DAVID P. WARREN
David P. Warren

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ RONALD HASSEN
Ronald Hassen

Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

*

Chairman of the Board

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

H. Furlong Baldwin

Frank E. Baxter

Michael Casey

Michael W. Clark

William S. Cohen

Lon Gorman

John P. Havens

Patrick Healy
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*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

Thomas M. Joyce

John D. Markese

Thomas F. O’Neill

James S. Riepe

Arthur Rock

Arvind Sodhani

Sir Martin Sorrell

Thomas G. Stemberg
*

Director

*

Director

*

Director

Thomas W. Weisel

Mary Jo White

Arshad R. Zakaria
*

Pursuant to Power of Attorney

By: /s/ EDWARD S. KNIGHT
Edward S. Knight
Attorney-in-Fact
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The following consolidated financial statements of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and its subsidiaries are presented herein on the page indicated:
Report of Independent Auditors

F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets

F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations

F-4

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-7

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Account for Three Years Ended December 31, 2003

F-43

F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Board of Directors
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (“Nasdaq”) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of Nasdaq’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Nasdaq at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Ernst & Young LLP
New York, NY
February 18, 2004

F-2

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and par value amounts)
December 31,
2003
2002
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments:
Available-for-sale, at fair value
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost
Receivables, net
Receivables from related parties
Deferred tax asset
Current assets of discontinued operations
Other current assets
Total current assets
Investments:
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost
Property and equipment:
Land, buildings and improvements
Data processing equipment and software
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements

$ 148,929

$

201,463

185,704
23,765
111,405
7,731
40,460
—
11,623
529,617

222,125
18,674
157,508
11,274
53,048
14,614
18,300
697,006

4,506

9,756

96,578
94,549
346,928
400,621
168,478
191,643
611,984
686,813
(369,041)
(358,123)
242,943
328,690
72,079
69,971
—
4,089
871
6,094
—
46,805
1,238
13,503
$ 851,254 $ 1,175,914

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net
Non-current deferred tax asset
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Non-current assets of discontinued operations
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued personnel costs
Deferred revenue
Other accrued liabilities
Current obligation under capital lease
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Payables to related parties
Total current liabilities
Senior notes
Subordinated notes
Non-current obligation under capital lease
Accrued pension costs
Non-current deferred tax liability
Non-current deferred revenue
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Minority interests of discontinued operations
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 authorized, shares issued: 130,611,221 in 2003 and 130,518,921 in
2002; shares outstanding: 78,483,919 in 2003 and 78,266,708 in 2002
Preferred stock, 30,000,000 authorized, Series A: 1,338,402 shares issued and outstanding; Series B: 1 share
issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Common stock in treasury, at cost: 52,127,302 shares in 2003 and 52,252,213 shares in 2002
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deferred stock compensation
Common stock issuable
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities, minority interests and stockholders’ equity

$

29,959
48,817
59,739
75,951
1,607
—
21,558
237,631
25,000
240,000
—
26,831
40,917
84,703
—
35,476
690,558
—
1,306

$

61,631
46,601
64,633
40,007
3,545
31,573
27,324
275,314
175,000
240,000
5,877
23,558
49,240
102,065
16,547
23,923
911,524
(6,482)
1,305

133,840
133,840
358,923
358,237
(667,765)
(669,454)
86
(2,326)
(1,102)
(1,920)
2,881
4,937
332,527
446,253
160,696
270,872
$ 851,254 $ 1,175,914

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Transaction Services
Market Information Services
Corporate Client Group
Nasdaq Financial Products
Other
Total revenues
Expenses
Compensation and benefits
Marketing and advertising
Depreciation and amortization
Professional and contract services
Computer operations and data communications
Provision for bad debts
Travel, meetings and training
Occupancy
Publications, supplies and postage
Other
Total direct expenses
Elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance

Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001

$ 236,006
147,114
167,312
32,882
6,531
589,845

$ 380,631
199,561
173,250
28,132
5,580
787,154

$ 411,927
241,550
155,195
30,646
8,752
848,070

159,097
19,515
89,983
37,544
125,618
1,365
8,468
31,212
6,930
13,013
492,745
97,910

183,130
26,931
88,502
60,499
136,642
8,426
12,434
32,367
10,752
25,448
585,131
—

179,352
25,418
83,684
70,669
166,853
15,459
14,022
25,986
11,996
69,295
662,734
—

Nasdaq Japan impairment loss
Support costs from related parties, net
Total expenses
Operating (loss) income
Interest income
Interest expense
Operating (loss) income from continuing operations before minority interest and
income taxes
Minority interests from continuing operations
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Net (loss) income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations (net of income tax benefit of $3,663 and
provision for income taxes of $128 and $0 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders:
Net (loss) income
Preferred Stock:
Dividends declared
Accretion of preferred stock
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total

(5,000)
61,504
647,159
(57,314)
9,517
(18,555)

15,208
74,968
675,307
111,847
12,583
(18,488)

—
101,799
764,533
83,537
23,782
(9,777)

(66,352) 105,942
97,542
—
—
845
21,240
(40,921)
(38,332)
$ (45,112) $ 65,021 $ 60,055
(60,906)
(21,893)
(19,592)
571
—
—
(60,335)
(21,893)
(19,592)
$ (105,447 ) $ 43,128 $ 40,463
$ (105,447) $ 43,128

$ 40,463

(8,279)
—
—
—
(9,765)
—
$ (113,726 ) $ 33,363 $ 40,463
$
$

(0.68) $
(0.77)
(1.45 ) $

0.66 $
(0.26)
0.40 $

0.52
(0.17)
0.35

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Balance, January 1, 2001
Net income
Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments, net of
tax of $(1,030)
Foreign currency translation, net of minority interests of $340 and
net of tax of $(380)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $900
Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2001
Net proceeds from Phase II offering
Sale of subsidiary stock
Purchase of minority interests in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company
Limited
Sale of warrants to purchase common stock
Purchase of common stock for treasury
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeitures
Amortization and vesting of restricted stock
Other purchases of common stock by related parties or affiliated
entities
Balance, December 31, 2001
Net income
Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments, net of
tax of
$1,158
Foreign currency translation, net of minority interests of $100
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $(192)
Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2002
Purchase of common stock for treasury
Issuance of preferred stock
Accretion of preferred stock dividends
Capital contribution from NASD, net of distribution to NASD for
insurance agency
Adjustment of carrying value of Nasdaq Europe due to sale of
securities to third party
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeitures
Amortization and vesting of restricted stock
Other purchases of common stock by related parties or affiliated
entities
Balance, December 31, 2002
Net income
Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments, net of
tax of $340
Foreign currency translation
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $191
Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2003
Preferred stock dividends declared
Distribution to NASD for insurance agency
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeitures
Amortization and vesting of restricted stock
Other purchases of common stock by related parties or affiliated
entities
Balance, December 31, 2003

Number of
Common
Shares
Outstanding
123,663,746
—

Common
Stock
$ 1,237
—

Accumulated
Additional Common
Other
Deferred
Common
Paid-in
Stock in Preferred Retained Comprehensive
Stock
Stock
Capita1
Treasury
Stock
Earnings Income (Loss) Compensation Issuable
Total
$ 273,387 $
— $
— $ 372,427
$ (1,892)
$
—
$
— $ 645,159
—
—
—
40,463
—
—
—
40,463

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
—
5,028,797
—

—
—
—
50
—

—
—
—
63,638
6,930

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
(18,461,538)
—
107,700

—
—
—
—
1

(12,400)
1,438
—
—
1,399

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

1,361,580
111,700,285
—

—
—
(240,000)
—
—

14,065
$ 348,457
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—

5,069

—

—

—

—

—
—
116,660

—
—
1

728
—
1,747

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

218,658
78,266,708
—

2
$ 1,305
—

2,236
$ 358,237
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
92,300

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1

124,911
78,483,919

—
$ 1,306

—
—
—
—
—
(139)
—
1,187

—
—
—
—
(429,454)
—
—

—
—
— $ 412,890
—
43,128

—
—
—
—
—

14
$ 1,302
—

—
—
—
—
(33,768,895)
—
—

—
$ (240,000) $
—

918
(4,607)
(1,395)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
124,075
9,765

—
—
—
—
—
—
(9,765)

—
—
—
$ (669,454) $ 133,840 $ 446,253
—
— (105,447)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(148)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
$ (6,976)
—
(2,048)
6,402
296
—
—
—
—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
(7,465)
4,115
—
$ (3,350)
—

—

—

—
(620)
2,050

760
1,948
(296)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
868
(50)

—
86

—
$ 6,065
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
$ (1,920)
—

$

—
—
—
7,465
(1,400)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
$ (2,326)
—

—
—
—
—
(8,279)
—
—
—

(362)
1,837
—
—
$ 358,923 $ (667,765 ) $ 133,840 $ 332,527

—

—
$ (1,102 )

—
620
(1,748)
—
$ 4,937
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(868)
(1,188)
—
$ 2,881

918
(4,607)
(1,395)
35,379
63,688
6,930
(12,400)
1,438
(240,000)
—
4,115
14,079
$ 518,388
43,128
(2,048)
6,402
296
47,778
(429,454)
124,075
—
5,069
728
—
2,050
2,238
$ 270,872
(105,447)
760
1,948
(296)
(103,035)
(8,279)
(139)
—
(198)
1,475
$ 160,696

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001

Reconciliation of net income to cash provided by operating activities
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) from discontinued operations
Net (loss) income from continuing operations
Non-cash items included in net income:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of restricted stock awards and other stock-based compensation
Minority interests
Provision for bad debts
Loss from equity method affiliates
Elimination of non-core product lines and initiatives
Nasdaq Japan impairment loss
Deferred taxes
Other non-cash items included in net income
Net change in:
Receivables, net
Receivables from related parties
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued personnel costs
Deferred revenue
Other accrued liabilities
Obligation under capital leases
Payables to related parties
Accrued pension costs
Other liabilities
Cash provided by continuing operations
Cash used in discontinued operations
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from redemptions of available-for-sale investments
Purchases of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments
Capital contribution to Nasdaq LIFFE joint venture
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from Phase I and Phase II private placement offering
Payments for treasury stock purchases
(Decrease) increase in long-term debt
Purchase of minority interests in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Ltd.
Issuances of common stock
Preferred stock dividends
Contribution (to) from NASD
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Flow Activities
Cash paid for (received):
Interest
Income taxes, net of refund
Payments for treasury stock purchases with issuance of preferred stock

$ (105,447) $ 43,128 $ 40,463
(60,335)
(21,893)
(19,592)
$ (45,112) $ 65,021 $ 60,055
89,983
(50)
—
1,365
4,101
33,923
(5,000)
2,103
13,050

88,502
3,155
—
8,426
12,114
—
15,208
13,662
8,201

83,684
6,883
(845)
15,459
17,224
—
—
(23,178)
13,280

44,500
2,513
4,886
9,177
(31,672)
2,216
(22,256)
40,849
(7,815)
(5,766)
3,273
11,553
145,821
(40,554)
105,267

27,864
17,662
(6,989)
(2,288)
(35,902)
534
(20,355)
(9,505)
(3,275)
17,768
(1,425)
(15,181)
183,197
(28,555)
154,642

(30,553)
(27,440)
2,358
(19,526)
(31,280)
6,530
(17,484)
18,744
(1,905)
(11,555)
10,329
32,542
103,322
(33,357)
69,965

212,725
(179,151)
18,600
(18,453)
(2,500)
(31,595)
143
(231)

209,181
(212,643)
—
—
(16,000)
(75,153)
8,135
(86,480)

369,573
(366,438)
25,465
(25,455)
(2,000)
(107,848)
5,224
(101,479)

—
(305,155)
150,000
—
2,238
—
5,069
(147,848)
(79,686)
281,149
201,463 $

63,688
(240,000)
240,000
(27,361)
14,079
—
—
50,406
18,892
262,257
281,149

—
(147)
(150,000)
—
996
(8,279)
(139)
(157,570)
(52,534)
201,463
$ 148,929 $

$ 15,851 $ 19,276
$ (25,936) $ 77,187
$
— $ 124,075

$
$
$

7,798
22,873
—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Organization and Nature of Operations
Nasdaq operates The Nasdaq Stock Market, the largest electronic screen-based equity securities market in the United States. Nasdaq is a majority owned
subsidiary of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the “NASD”). In 2000, the NASD implemented a separation of Nasdaq from the NASD by
restructuring and broadening the ownership in Nasdaq (the “Restructuring”) through a two-phase private placement of securities. In the private placements,
(i) the NASD sold (a) an aggregate of 10,806,494 warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 43,225,976 shares of outstanding common stock of Nasdaq
(the “Common Stock”) and (b) 4,543,591 shares of outstanding Common Stock and (ii) Nasdaq sold an aggregate of 28,692,543 newly-issued shares of
Common Stock to investors. Securities in the private placements were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and
certain investment companies. Each warrant issued by the NASD entitles the holder to purchase one share in each of four one-year exercise periods. The first
exercise period expired on June 28, 2003 and the NASD is currently in the second exercise period. As part of the Restructuring, Nasdaq repurchased a total of
52,230,433 shares of Common Stock from the NASD during 2001 and 2002 (the “Repurchase”). Nasdaq purchased the Common Stock for approximately
$305.2 million in aggregate cash consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq’s Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $100 per
share, plus any accumulated unpaid dividends) and one share of Nasdaq’s Series B Preferred Stock, (face and liquidation value of $1.00 per share). The
NASD owns all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. All of the shares of Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the
NASD are no longer outstanding and are held in Common Stock in treasury. At December 31, 2003, the NASD owned approximately 55.0% of Nasdaq
including the unexpired outstanding warrants.

In 2003, Nasdaq changed its organization structure from operating in one segment to operating in two segments. Under the new structure, our new Chief
Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information” (“SFAS 131”). Nasdaq’s two segments are managed and operated as strategic business units and organized by products and services.
Reportable segments are Market Services and Issuer Services. Market Services includes Transaction Services and Market Information Services defined as
sub-segments. Issuer Services includes the Corporate Client Group and Nasdaq Financial Products defined as sub-segments. Nasdaq uses a multiple market
participant system to operate an electronic, screen-based equity market.
Nasdaq is the parent company of Nasdaq Global Holdings (“Nasdaq Global®”); Nasdaq Financial Products Services, Inc. (“Nasdaq Financial Products”);
Nasdaq International Market Initiatives, Inc. (“NIMISM”); Nasdaq Europe Planning Company, Limited (“Nasdaq Europe Planning”); Nasdaq International,
Ltd. (“Nasdaq InternationalSM”); and Nasdaq Canada, Inc. (“Nasdaq CanadaSM”), collectively referred to as “Nasdaq”. These entities are wholly-owned by
Nasdaq. Nasdaq Global, which is incorporated in Switzerland and served as a holding company for several corporations incorporated in Europe, is in the
process of a liquidation that is expected to be completed by the end of 2004. Nasdaq also has determined to dissolve or otherwise wind-down Nasdaq Europe
Planning, which was formed to expand Nasdaq into the European community; and is currently inactive. NIMI is an entity that employed Nasdaq’s expatriates
assigned to Nasdaq’s international subsidiaries. Nasdaq International is a London based marketing company. Nasdaq Financial Products is the sponsor of the
Nasdaq-100 TrustSM. Nasdaq Financial Product Services (Ireland) Limited (“Nasdaq Ireland”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq Financial Products.
Nasdaq Ireland is the manager of The Nasdaq ETF Funds plc. Nasdaq Canada is an extension of Nasdaq’s North American trading platform within Canada,
which has received regulatory approval to provide trading access in two provinces, Quebec and British Columbia.
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On October 31, 2003, Quadsan Enterprises, Inc. (“Quadsan”), previously a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq that provided investment management
services, was merged with and into Nasdaq. Prior to December 18, 2003, Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest in Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. (“Nasdaq Europesm”),
which had previously operated an equities market based in Brussels, Belgium. On December 18, 2003, Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaq Europe to a
third party. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
2. Significant Transactions
Strategic Review
During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review of its operations designed to position Nasdaq for improved
profitability and growth. This strategic review included the elimination of non-core products and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in Nasdaq’s workforce.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, a total pre-tax charge to earnings of $145.5 million was recorded. The net impact to Nasdaq was a total pre-tax
charge of $143.5 million. The difference represented costs absorbed by minority shareholders of Nasdaq Europe. The charge recorded reflects the completion
of the costs associated with Nasdaq’s strategic review. As shown in the following table, the total charge of $145.5 million includes $97.9 million from
continuing operations and $47.6 million from discontinued operations related to Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets. See Note 3, “Discontinued Operations,”
for further discussion. The charge was primarily recorded to Property and equipment, Goodwill, Other intangible assets, Other accrued liabilities and Accrued
personnel costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following table summarizes the strategic review charges included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Year Ended
December 31, 2003
(in millions)

Continuing Operations
Non-Core Product Lines and Initiatives:
Impairment of capitalized software and fixed assets
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Contract cancellations
Other exit costs
Total non-core product lines and initiatives
Severance and benefit costs
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Total continuing operations strategic review charge

$ 21.1
8.2
11.4
11.6
52.3
32.4
13.2
$ 97.9

Discontinued Operations
Nasdaq Europe:
Impairment of technology platform
Severance and benefit costs
Impairment of goodwill
Other exit costs including contract cancellations
Total Nasdaq Europe
Gain on disposition of IndigoMarkets
Total discontinued operations strategic review charge
Total strategic review charge

$ 29.4
2.5
8.1
8.2
48.2
(0.6)
$ 47.6
$ 145.5
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Continuing Operations
Non-core product lines and initiatives included in the strategic review were:

· Primex— Primex was an electronic auction system. Nasdaq ended its exclusive rights agreement with Primex Trading N.A., L.L.C. on December 31, 2003.
Nasdaq decided to consolidate its trading services to a common functionality within the SuperMontage system and ceased offering Primex effective
January 16, 2004.
· Nasdaq Tools—Nasdaq Tools was an order management system that ran on the Nasdaq Application Programming Interface using the Nasdaq Workstation II
and was wound-down throughout 2003. Nasdaq Tools was a previously wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq and was merged with and into Nasdaq on
July 31, 2002.
· Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC (“NQLX”)—NQLX was a joint venture with the London International Financial Futures Exchange (“LIFFE”) to create a
market for single stock futures and other futures products. On July 24, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed its interest in the NQLX joint venture and transferred its
ownership interest to LIFFE. LIFFE assumed financial and management responsibility for NQLX. This change did not have any impact on the operation of
NQLX, but usage of the Nasdaq brand by the company ceased.
· The Bulletin Board Exchange (“BBX”)—BBX was a proposed platform for companies not eligible for the Nasdaq SmallCap Marketsm to raise equity
capital and increase the visibility of their stock. The Over the Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”) will continue its existing operations.
· Liquidity Tracker—Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routing system designed to allow traders to direct orders to specific market makers based on
recent trading activity. Liquidity Tracker ceased operations as of June 30, 2003.
· MarketSite Tower—MarketSite Tower is located at Nasdaq’s Times Square, New York location. The video wall portion of the Tower was deemed impaired.
The charge related to the elimination of the above non-core products and initiatives was approximately $52.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2003. Included in the charge was the reduction of Nasdaq’s investment in NQLX of $6.3 million due to the redemption of Nasdaq’s interest in the NQLX joint
venture, the impairment of goodwill of $4.1 million associated with Nasdaq Tools, the impairment of certain intangible assets of $4.1 million, impairment of
various capitalized software and fixed assets of $21.1 million, contract cancellations of $11.4 million and other costs of $5.3 million. Included in the $21.1 million
impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets is a $12.3 million impairment on the MarketSite Tower. See “Impairment of Long-Lived Assets,” of
Note 4, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” for further discussion. The remaining impairment of capitalized software and fixed assets relates to the
eliminated products specifically Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquidity Tracker.
In addition, the charges from continuing operations recorded included severance costs of $32.4 million and the loss on early extinguishment of long-term
debt of $13.2 million. The severance costs included $13.8 million related to the reductions in force of 329 employees. The remaining $18.6 million of
severance costs relate to the fulfillment of employment contracts and obligations associated with the retirement and departure of certain members of senior
management. Total headcount was 956 as of December 31, 2003 versus 1,227 as of December 31, 2002. The extinguishment of debt costs relate to the
redemption of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Nasdaq’s 5.83% Senior Notes due 2007 (the “Senior Notes”). In conjunction with its strategic
review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the Senior Notes. See Long-term debt section below for
further discussion.
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The following table summarizes the strategic review accrual activity from initiation of Nasdaq’s activities through December 31, 2003. Note that such
accruals are recorded to Other accrued liabilities and Accrued personnel costs in the current liabilities section and to Other liabilities in the non-current
liabilities section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Nasdaq expects to fund the majority of these reserves by the end of 2004.
Severance for
U.S. Employees

Charges
Cash payments
Other
Accrued liabilities associated with the strategic review as of
December 31, 2003

$ 32.4
(15.7)
(0.3)
$ 16.4

Products &
Other
(in millions)

Total

$ 14.7
(3.7)
(0.3)

$ 47.1
(19.4)
(0.6)

$ 10.7

$ 27.1

Discontinued Operations
Discontinued operations included in the strategic review were:
· Nasdaq Europe—Nasdaq Europe was a pan-European stock market licensed in Belgium. See below for complete discussion of the wind-down and
eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaq Europe.
· IndigoMarkets Ltd. (“IndigoMarkets”)—IndigoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Limited (“SSI”) to develop international trading platforms. On
September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in the joint venture to SSI and recognized a gain on the sale of approximately $0.6 million.
Europe
As a result of the strategic review, Nasdaq supported the closing of the market operated by Nasdaq Europe, in which Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest
through December 18, 2003. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 26, 2003, the shareholders of Nasdaq Europe voted to discontinue operations
of the market, and, as a result, market operations were wound-down pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission.
As Nasdaq Europe was winding-down its market operations, Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of that
company’s original investors; the cash consideration for the transaction was nominal. The transfer of Nasdaq’s shares of Nasdaq Europe was completed on
December 18, 2003. The entity ceased using the Nasdaq Europe name after the transaction. As part of the transaction, Nasdaq Europe’s new owner committed
to seek to restructure that company’s obligations and, in that context, to request from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against
Nasdaq Europe’s former directors, officers and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe). At the time of
the transfer, Nasdaq Europe had approximately $12 million of external debt and accrued interest. Nasdaq has recorded liabilities that management believes
are sufficient to satisfy any potential claims against Nasdaq.
Also, as part of Nasdaq’s strategic review, during the third quarter of 2003, Nasdaq supported Nasdaq Europe’s position in favor of the decision of the
shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland AG (“Nasdaq Deutschland”), a German exchange in which Nasdaq Europe had a 50.0% interest, to suspend that
company’s trading operations effective August 29, 2003. Nasdaq Europe transferred all of its shares in Nasdaq Deutschland to one of the other shareholders,
BWB Holding AG, as of August 29, 2003.

The charge related to the orderly wind-down and liquidation of market operations in Belgium and Germany was approximately $48.2 million (excluding
the minority interest benefit of $2.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2003. The $48.2 million charge includes the $29.4 million impairment of
certain
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technology platforms held for sale and owned by Nasdaq Europe, the impairment of goodwill of $8.1 million (Nasdaq Europe and Nasdaq Deutschland),
severance costs of $2.5 million and other costs of $8.2 million including contract cancellations.
Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V.
On March 27, 2001, Nasdaq acquired a majority ownership interest in the European Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation S.A./N.V., a
pan-European stock market headquartered in Brussels, for approximately $12.5 million. Nasdaq renamed the company Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. as part of a
plan to restructure it into a globally linked, pan-European market. Nasdaq’s acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, resulting
in the initial recording of goodwill of approximately $4.7 million. During 2001, Nasdaq purchased an additional 2.0% ownership of Nasdaq Europe for
approximately $6.0 million and sold 1.2% of its ownership in Nasdaq Europe to a third party. Also during 2001, Nasdaq Europe sold additional shares
representing a 9.0% ownership interest for approximately $13.9 million to third party investors. In the first quarter of 2002, Nasdaq Europe sold additional
shares to a third party, resulting in an increase of $0.7 million to Nasdaq’s stockholders’ equity.
In October 2002, Nasdaq Europe’s strategic investors committed to converting the majority of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt to equity. The conversion
was formally approved by Nasdaq Europe’s Board of Directors in March 2003. On May 26, 2003 the strategic investors converted approximately
$17.9 million or 63.3% of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt to equity ($51.5 million or 83.2% including intercompany debt with Nasdaq). After the conversion,
Nasdaq had a 63.0% ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe.
As mentioned above, as part of the strategic review, the market operated by Nasdaq Europe was subsequently wound-down and Nasdaq’s ownership
interest in that company was later transferred to a third party. During the third quarter of 2003, the losses incurred by Nasdaq Europe exceeded the minority
shareholders’ interests. Therefore, once the minority shareholders reached this point, Nasdaq absorbed 100.0% of Nasdaq Europe’s losses and strategic review
charges. See above for further discussion of the strategic review.
Nasdaq Deutschland
On October 30, 2002, Nasdaq’s then majority-owned subsidiary, Nasdaq Europe, the Berlin and Bremen Stock Exchanges, comdirekt bank,
Commerzbank and Dresdner Bank, agreed to recapitalize Bremer Wertpapierbörse AG, a German stock exchange, that was rebranded as “Nasdaq
Deutschland AG.” The recapitalization of Bremer Wertpapierbörse AG was finalized on January 21, 2003. This exchange was 50.0% owned and controlled
by Nasdaq Europe.
On August 11, 2003, the shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland® agreed to suspend that company’s trading operations effective August 29, 2003. Also
effective August 29, 2003, Nasdaq Europe transferred all of its shares in Nasdaq Deutschland to one of the other shareholders, BWB Holding AG. All
shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland agreed to release and discharge each other from certain claims that they may have had against each other in connection
with certain agreements related to the operations and control of Nasdaq Deutschland.
As a result of these events, Nasdaq recognized costs from transferring its investment in Nasdaq Deutschland including a write-down of the trading
platform used for Nasdaq Deutschland and the associated investment and goodwill.
Prior to August 29, 2003, Nasdaq Europe consolidated Nasdaq Deutschland in its consolidated results. Nasdaq Europe’s acquisition of Nasdaq
Deutschland was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, resulting in the initial recording of goodwill of $2.0 million and a non-amortizing
intangible asset of $0.7 million.
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Long-term Debt
On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed the $150.0 million of its Senior Notes. In conjunction with its strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital
needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the Senior Notes. Nasdaq paid the holders of the Senior Notes $150.0 million in outstanding
principal amount, accrued interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate make-whole payment of approximately $12.6 million (representing the net present value
of future payments). The repayment amounts reflected the terms of the Senior Notes, except that the parties agreed to a reduced make-whole amount equal to
the excess of the discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments discounted at a factor equal to 100 basis points over the yield to maturity of U.S.
Treasury securities having a maturity equal to the remaining average life of the redeemed amount. This represented a renegotiation of the 50 basis points over
the yield to maturity required by the terms of the Senior Notes. Nasdaq recorded a $13.2 million pre-tax charge in the third quarter of 2003 related to the
redemption of the Senior Notes. This charge included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of the Senior Notes. Nasdaq used
funds from available cash and investments to finance the redemption.
Nasdaq Japan
During the second quarter of 2002, Nasdaq recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge on its equity investment in Nasdaq Japan®. Nasdaq
recognized this impairment as a result of the depressed level of market activity in Japan, combined with the suspension of Nasdaq Japan’s hybrid trading
system due to the inability to gain exchange approval of market rules and industry participation. These conditions led management to conclude that Nasdaq
Japan would not be profitable in the foreseeable future. As a result, Nasdaq Japan’s financial liabilities to Nasdaq were not expected to be repaid and were
recognized as a loss.
The net impact of the other-than-temporary impairment on Nasdaq’s pre-tax income was $15.2 million. This represented a complete write-down of the
investment, outstanding and unfunded loans (an additional $6.0 million was loaned and $7.0 million was committed), foreign exchange translation losses and
other receivables, partially offset by a re-valuation of certain variable Nasdaq Japan stock based awards of approximately $7.9 million.

On August 16, 2002, the Board of Directors of Nasdaq Japan voted to take the company to dormant status, effectively ceasing operations. After careful
consideration, Nasdaq Japan’s Board concluded that under the economic circumstances there was not a profitable path forward for the company. Nasdaq
Japan entered into liquidation status in late November 2002 and was completely dissolved by the end of May 2003. Companies listed on the Nasdaq Japan
Market retained their listing on the Osaka Exchange and experienced no disruption to trading.
During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq reversed $5.0 million of the reserves related to Nasdaq Japan due to favorable contract negotiations and
lower legal costs resulting from the complete liquidation of Nasdaq Japan.
Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing
Effective June 1, 2002, Nasdaq terminated its market data revenue sharing program for securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, as a result of the
SEC’s decision to abrogate certain market participant tape sharing pilot programs. The SEC’s action was in response to concerns about the effect of market
data rebates on the accuracy of market data and the regulatory functions of self-regulatory organizations. The SEC’s action allows Nasdaq and competing
exchanges to retain tape revenue. Nasdaq continues to share market data revenue with the exchanges that participate in the Unlisted Trading Privileges
(“UTP”) Plan based on their respective share of volume and trades of securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, Nasdaq InterMarket
continues to share tape revenue with Nasdaq
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market participants who report trades in the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the American Stock Exchange (“Amex”) listed securities through
Nasdaq.
In August 2003 Nasdaq filed with the SEC on an immediately effective basis, a Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing program, which like The National
Stock Exchange’s General Revenue Sharing Program, shares operating revenue from multiple business lines in addition to Tape Fee revenue. The new
program shares operating revenue, which is interpreted to mean net revenue after expenses from all services that derive revenue from member trading and
trade-reporting activity in Nasdaq-listed securities. As such, the program will provide an incentive for quoting market participants to send orders to
SuperMontage and report trades to ACT. Nasdaq did not share any revenues during 2003, but began sharing revenues under the new program in
January 2004.
Repurchase of Shares from the NASD
On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq completed the Repurchase by purchasing 33,768,895 shares of Nasdaq’s Common Stock owned by the NASD, which
represented all of the remaining outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, except for the 43,225,976 shares of Common Stock underlying
the warrants issued by the NASD as part of the Restructuring. Nasdaq purchased the Common Stock for approximately $305.2 million in aggregate cash
consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq’s Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of Nasdaq’s Series B Preferred Stock. The NASD owns all of
the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. All of the shares of Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the NASD have been placed
into Common Stock in treasury. See Note 20, “Capital Stock,” for further discussion.
Other Restructuring and Related Party Transactions
In conjunction with settling various issues associated with the Restructuring, the NASD made a payment to Nasdaq in the amount of $5.6 million during
the first quarter of 2002. Nasdaq treated the payment as a contribution and reflected it in Additional paid-in capital on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. In
addition, during December 2002, Nasdaq purchased the NASD’s 50.0% interest in the NASD Insurance Agency, LLC (subsequently renamed the Nasdaq
Insurance Agency, LLC) for $0.5 million. The payment was recorded as a distribution to the NASD. Nasdaq accounts for its investment in the Nasdaq
Insurance Agency under the equity method of accounting. The agency provides insurance brokerage services and specializes in the director and officer
liability insurance market.
Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited
In February 2000, the NASD formed a joint venture, Nasdaq Europe Planning, with three partners, whereby each partner contributed $10.0 million in
cash. Nasdaq Europe Planning’s proposed joint venture did not occur due to a strategic decision to pursue a strategy for European expansion through the
acquisition in March 2001 of a controlling interest in Nasdaq Europe rather than through Nasdaq Europe Planning. As a result, Nasdaq agreed to repurchase
the ownership interests of the three other shareholders in Nasdaq Europe Planning for $10.0 million each, thereby unwinding the joint venture. The
repurchase of two of the shareholders was completed in the first quarter of 2001 for cash payments of $10.0 million each. The repurchase from the third
shareholder was completed in the fourth quarter of 2001 for aggregate consideration estimated at $10.0 million, comprised of cash of $7.4 million, a warrant
to purchase up to 479,648 shares of Common Stock, and 7,211 shares of Nasdaq Europe. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq owned 100.0% of Nasdaq Europe
Planning. Nasdaq has determined to dissolve or otherwise wind-down Nasdaq Europe Planning, which is currently inactive.
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3. Discontinued Operations
On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in IndigoMarkets to its partner SSI and recognized a gain of approximately $0.6 million on the
sale. In addition, on December 18, 2003, Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaq Europe to one of that company’s original investors for nominal cash
consideration. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), both Nasdaq Europe and
IndigoMarkets are reflected as discontinued operations for all periods presented. As discontinued operations, the revenues, costs and expenses and cash flows
of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets have been excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, and have been presented separately as “Loss from discontinued operations” and as “Cash used in discontinued operations.” In
addition, the assets and liabilities of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets have been excluded from the respective captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and have been reported as “Current assets of discontinued operations,” “Non-current assets of discontinued operations,”
“Current liabilities of discontinued operations,” “Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations,” and “Minority interests of discontinued operations.”

The following table presents condensed, combined results of operations for Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets.
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

Revenues
Pre-tax loss
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Loss from discontinued operations

$ 10.6 $ 11.6 $ 8.0
(64.0)
(21.8)
(19.6)
3.7
(0.1)
—
$ (60.3) $ (21.9) $ (19.6)
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The following table presents the combined carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets:
December 31,
2003
2002
(in thousands)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Other current assets
Total current assets of discontinued operations

$—
—
—
—

$ 2.8
9.0
2.8
14.6

Net property and equipment
Goodwill
Other assets
Total non-current assets of discontinued operations
Total assets of discontinued operations

—
—
—
—
$—

32.5
6.1
8.2
46.8
$ 61.4

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Current portion of senior notes
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total liabilities of discontinued operations
Minority interests of discontinued operations

$—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$—
$—

$ 18.0
11.3
2.3
31.6
14.7
1.8
16.5
$ 48.1
$ (6.5)

The remainder of the notes to the consolidated financial statements reflects results from continuing operations, unless otherwise noted.
4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Nasdaq and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All non-majority owned investments are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Segments
In 2003, Nasdaq changed its organization structure from operating under one segment to operating under two segments. Under the new structure, our
new Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by SFAS No. 131. Nasdaq’s two segments are managed
and operated as strategic business units and organized by products and services.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and all non-restricted highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or
less at the time of purchase. Such equivalent investments included in cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $138.8 million and
$192.8 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Cash equivalents are carried at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.
Investments
Under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” (“SFAS 115”) management determines the appropriate
classification of investments at the time of purchase. Investments for which Nasdaq does not have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as
“available-for-sale” and are carried at fair market value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders’
equity. Investments for which Nasdaq has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as “held-to-maturity” and are carried at amortized cost. The

amortized cost of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, which
are included in interest income. Realized gains and losses on sales of securities are included in earnings using the specific identification method.
Nasdaq regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its securities portfolio. When assessing securities for other-than-temporary declines in
value, Nasdaq considers such factors as, among other things, the duration to which the market value had been less than cost, the performance of the investee’s
stock price in relation to the stock price of its competitors within the industry and the market in general, any news that has been released specific to the
investee and the outlook for the overall industry in which the investee operates. Nasdaq also reviews the financial statements of the investee to determine if
the investee is experiencing financial difficulties. If events and circumstances indicate that a decline in the value of these assets has occurred and is deemed to
be other-than-temporary, the carrying value of the security is reduced to its fair value and the impairment is charged to earnings. As of December 31, 2003,
Nasdaq liquidated all equity securities.
Receivables, net
Nasdaq’s receivables are concentrated with NASD member firms, market data vendors and Nasdaq-listed companies. Receivables are shown net of
reserves for uncollectable accounts. Reserves are calculated based on the age and source of the underlying receivable and are tied to past collections
experience. Total reserves netted against receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $1.7 million and $5.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Land is recorded at cost.
Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the lower of fair market value or the present value of future lease payments. Depreciation is generally
recognized over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives generally range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements,
two to seven years for data processing equipment and software and five to 10 years for furniture and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the related lease. Depreciation and amortization are computed by the straight-line method.
Depreciation expense was $81.9 million, $82.4 million and $76.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Property and equipment includes capital leases of $6.4 million and $14.6 million and accumulated amortization of $4.8 million and $5.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of
businesses acquired. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) in the first quarter of fiscal 2002,
goodwill and certain intangibles will no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. For the year ended December 31, 2001
goodwill and other intangible assets were amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from five to 10 years.
Nasdaq evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets and takes into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that
indicate an impairment exists. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, goodwill and other intangibles were $0.9 million and $10.2 million, respectively. As a
result of Nasdaq’s strategic review, the goodwill was considered impaired and written down to zero. At December 31, 2002, $4.1 million of Nasdaq’s
goodwill related to the acquisition of Nasdaq Tools was from continuing operations. The remaining $6.1 million of goodwill related to Nasdaq Europe and is
included in the Non-current assets of discontinued operations line item on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Goodwill amortization expense was $1.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001. Other intangible asset amortization expense was $1.3 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that long-lived assets or other assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be
performed. If an evaluation were required, the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset would be compared to the asset’s carrying
amount to determine if a write-down is required. If a write-down were required, Nasdaq would prepare a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the
amount of the write-down.
During the fourth quarter of 2003, Nasdaq recognized a $12.3 million impairment charge on the video wall on the MarketSite Tower at its Times Square,
New York location, based on a significant adverse change in the extent and manner in which the Tower portion of the MarketSite was used. In earlier years,
the Tower portion of the MarketSite generated revenues from advertising. However, in the economic downturn that followed September 11th and the fall in
the technology sector, the revenues from the Tower began to decline steeply and the Tower operated at a significant net loss. Nasdaq’s new executive
management team was put in place in May 2003 and tried to find alternatives and other strategic uses for the video wall on the MarketSite Tower. However, in
the fourth quarter of 2003, it was determined that the Tower would never generate the originally forecasted amounts as the modules that make up the sign are
considered outdated and the Tower faces competition from newer advertising technology. Nasdaq obtained a quoted market price valuation from an
independent third party and recognized the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value as an impairment charge. The impairment charge was included in
the Elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance line item on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Revenue Recognition
Market Services Segment: Transaction Services revenues are variable, and are based on service volumes, and are recognized as transactions occur.
Market Information Services revenues are based on the number of presentation devices in service and market data information quotes delivered through those
devices. These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under revenue sharing arrangements with
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market participants. Market Information Services revenues are recognized in the month that information is provided. Issuer Services Segment: Corporate
Client Group revenues include annual fees, initial listing fees and listing of additional shares (“LAS”) fees. Effective January 1, 2000, Nasdaq adopted Staff

Accounting Bulletin 101 “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”). Annual fees are recognized ratably over the following 12-month
period. Initial listing and LAS fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over estimated service periods, which are six and four years, respectively. Prior to
2000, initial listing fees were recognized in the month listing occurred and LAS fees were recognized in the period the additional shares were issued. For
Nasdaq Financial Products’ revenues, Nasdaq receives license fees for its trademark licenses related to the QQQ and other financial products linked to
Nasdaq indices issued in the U.S. and abroad. These revenues are recognized as earned.
Stock Compensation
Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
(“APB 25”). Nasdaq grants stock options with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock at the date of the grant, and accordingly, recognizes
no compensation expense related to such grants.
In the first quarter of 2003, Nasdaq adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). Pro
forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had been applied in measuring compensation expense are provided in
Note 14, “Stock Compensation and Stock Awards.”
Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents cash received and billed receivables for the Corporate Client Group, which are unearned until services are provided.
Advertising Costs
Nasdaq expenses advertising costs, which include media advertising and production costs, in the periods in which the costs are incurred. Media
advertising and production costs included as Marketing and advertising in the Consolidated Statements of Operations totaled $9.7 million, $13.4 million and
$13.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Software Costs
Significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of computer hardware are capitalized and amortized on the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally two to seven years. All other purchased software is charged to expense as incurred.
The provisions of Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 98-1”)
require certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software to be capitalized. Unamortized capitalized software
development costs of $65.5 million and $71.1 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, are carried in Data processing equipment and software
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized under SOP 98-1 totaled $15.9 million, $13.4 million and $7.0 million for 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively, and are included in Depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Additions to capitalized software
were $10.3 million and $19.3 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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SFAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost” (“SFAS 34”), requires the capitalization of interest as part of the historical cost of acquiring assets, for all
costs incurred to get the assets ready for their internal use. SOP 98-1includes interest costs incurred while developing internal-use software as capitalizable
costs under SFAS 34. As the effect of capitalization of interest cost related to the development of internal-use software is not material when compared with
the effect of expensing these interest costs as incurred, all interest costs have been expensed.
Income Taxes
Nasdaq and its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and all applicable state and local returns. Nasdaq uses the asset and
liability method required by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, to provide income taxes on all transactions recorded in the consolidated
financial statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis
of existing assets and liabilities (i.e., temporary differences) and are measured at the enacted rates that will be in effect when these differences are realized. If
necessary, a valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency environment are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income. Foreign currency translation also includes the translation of gains and losses for non-U.S. equity method
investments.
Minority Interests
Minority interests in the Consolidated Balance Sheets represent the minority owners’ share of equity as of the balance sheet date. As of December 31,
2003, the Minority interests balance was zero as a result of Nasdaq’s transfer of interests in Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets. Both of these investments had
minority shareholders. At December 31, 2002, the minority shareholders’ share of equity is recorded as Minority interests of discontinued operations on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year presentation.
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5. Deferred Revenue
Nasdaq’s deferred revenue as of December 31, 2003 relating to Corporate Client Group fees will be recognized in the following years:
Annual
LAS
and Other
(in thousands)

Initial

Fiscal year ended
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008 and thereafter

$ 29,089
22,759
12,572
7,549
6,516
$ 78,485

$ 30,650
20,764
10,407
4,136
—
$ 65,957

$—
—
—
—
—
$—

Total

$ 59,739
43,523
22,979
11,685
6,516
$ 144,442

Nasdaq’s deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are reflected in the following tables. The additions reflect Corporate Client
Group revenues charged during the year while the amortization reflects Corporate Client Group revenues recognized during the year based on SAB 101.
Initial

Balance at January 1, 2003
Additions
Amortization
Balance at December 31, 2003

Total

Annual
LAS
and Other
(in thousands)

Total

$ 93,857 $ 72,841 $
— $ 166,698
16,886
30,206
97,964
145,056
(32,258)
(37,090)
(97,964)
(167,312)
$ 78,485 $ 65,957 $
— $ 144,442
Initial

Balance at January 1, 2002
Additions
Amortization
Balance at December 31, 2002

Annual
LAS
and Other
(in thousands)

$ 104,629 $ 82,424 $
— $ 187,053
22,840
27,948
102,107
152,895
(33,612)
(37,531)
(102,107)
(173,250)
$ 93,857 $ 72,841 $
— $ 166,698

6. Real Estate Developments
During the fourth quarter of 2001, as a result of the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, Nasdaq decided to relocate its New York City headquarters
from One Liberty Plaza, which was adjacent to the site where the World Trade Center Towers stood, to a location closer to its Times Square MarketSite
Building. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq was obligated under the terms of its One Liberty Plaza lease to pay $106.9 million over the remaining life of the
lease and recorded an estimated loss on the sublease of $21.5 million, which was included in Other expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Nasdaq signed a lease commencing May 1, 2002 at 1500 Broadway, directly across from the MarketSite building and began marketing the space at its
One Liberty Plaza location. Due to the softening of the real estate market in lower Manhattan, Nasdaq reconsidered its decision to relocate to 1500 Broadway
and decided to support the downtown Manhattan community and maintain its headquarters at One Liberty Plaza. As a result of the decision to remain at One
Liberty Plaza, Nasdaq reevaluated the loss recorded in 2001 for One Liberty Plaza as well as its original plans to move to 1500 Broadway. As of
December 31, 2002, Nasdaq was obligated under the terms of its 1500 Broadway lease to pay $84.5 million over the life of the lease. At December 31, 2002,
the estimated loss on the sublease (including interest accretion) was approximately $23.2 million including leasehold improvements. Nasdaq updated the loss
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estimate as of December 31, 2003 based on current assumptions and determined the original estimate was still considered proper. At December 31, 2003, the
estimated loss on the sublease was approximately $20.5 million. The estimated loss was adjusted throughout the year to reflect interest accretion and rental
payments made during 2003. The estimated loss was calculated using a 7.5% net discount rate and an estimated 21-year sublease term commencing in 2004 at
estimated market rates.
As a result of September 11, 2001, it was necessary for Nasdaq to make certain non-budgeted expenditures including, but not limited to, costs related to
the efforts to restore services to market participants, the testing of trading systems and required reconfiguring of technology, telecommunications and
alternative office facilities due to the temporary relocation of employees. These other third and fourth quarter 2001 expenses of $1.7 million were included in
Other expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2002, Nasdaq received $0.4 million of insurance reimbursement relating to the above
claim and is included in Other revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In the third quarter of 2003, Nasdaq also received $1.9 million of
insurance reimbursement relating to the Business Interruption claim that was separately filed. This reimbursement was also included in Other revenues on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. No further reimbursements are expected in future periods.
During 2003, Nasdaq decided to vacate part of the space it occupies in Rockville, Maryland at 9600 Blackwell. As of December 31, 2003, Nasdaq was
obligated under the terms of this lease to pay $7.7 million over the remaining life of the lease and recorded an estimated loss on the sublease of $2.3 million,
which was included in Other expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Also, as a part of the strategic review, Nasdaq vacated the space
Nasdaq Tools occupied at 15 Exchange Place, Jersey City, New Jersey. As of December 31, 2003 Nasdaq was obligated under the terms of this lease to pay
$2.8 million over the remaining life of the lease and recorded an estimated loss on the sublease of $1.2 million, which was included in the Elimination of noncore product lines, initiatives and severance on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Both estimated losses were calculated using a 7.5% net discount
rate and estimated 8-year and 7-year sublease terms for 9600 Blackwell and 15 Exchange Place, respectively and, commencing in the later part of 2004 at
estimated market rates.
At December 31, 2003, management believes the sublease reserve balance for the above properties is adequate. All space is currently being marketed for
sublease.
7. Investments
Investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. Government sponsored enterprises, municipal bonds and other financial instruments.
Following is a summary of investments classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value as of December 31, 2003:

Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
(in thousands)

Cost

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government
agencies
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Asset-backed securities
U.S. corporate securities
Total

$ 112,700
13,966
10,708
48,229
$ 185,603

$ 169
125
62
62
$ 418

$ 254
9
—
54
$ 317

Estimated
Fair Value

$ 112,615
14,082
10,770
48,237
$ 185,704

At December 31, 2003, all held-to-maturity investments consisted of U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies. The cost of
the securities were $28.3 million and had gross unrealized capital gains of $54 thousand and a total estimated fair value of $28.3 million at December 31,
2003.
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Following is a summary of investments classified as available-for-sale which are carried at fair value as of December 31, 2002:
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
(in thousands)

Cost

U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government
agencies
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Asset-backed securities
U.S. corporate securities
Total debt securities
Equity securities
Total

$ 115,941
12,726
24,645
55,865
209,177
13,946
$ 223,123

$ 801
128
179
404
1,512
513
$ 2,025

$ 137
—
—
91
228
2,795
$ 3,023

Estimated
Fair Value

$ 116,605
12,854
24,824
56,178
210,461
11,664
$ 222,125

At December 31, 2002, all held-to-maturity investments consisted of U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies. The cost of
the securities were $28.4 million and had gross unrealized capital gains of $577 thousand and a total estimated fair value of $29.0 million at December 31,
2003.
The cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value at December 31, 2003, by contractual
maturity, are shown below.
Cost

Due in one year or less
Due after one through five years
Total

$ 151,127
34,476
$ 185,603

Gross Unrealized
Gain
Loss
(in thousands)

$ 264
154
$ 418

$ 271
46
$ 317

Fair Value

$ 151,120
34,584
$ 185,704

All investments classified as held-to-maturity mature in 2004 and 2005 in the amounts of $23.8 million and $4.5 million, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, debt and marketable equity available-for-sale securities with a fair value at the date of sale of
$86.5 million and $209.8 million, respectively, were sold. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the gross realized gains on such sales
totaled $1.7 million, $3.0 million and $1.8 million, respectively and the gross realized losses totaled $1.1 million, $2.9 million and $4.2 million, respectively.
The net adjustment after tax to unrealized holding (losses) on available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity totaled
$(0.2) million, $(1.1) million and $(1.2) million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The net adjustment to unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale
securities included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity due to the sale of securities totaled $1.0 million, $(0.9) million and $2.1 million for 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.
In accordance with SFAS 115, Nasdaq recognized pre-tax charges of $0.9 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, attributable to the impairment of five and 11 certain publicly-traded equity securities. The impairment charges were related to the decline in the
fair value of Nasdaq’s publicly-traded equity investments below their cost basis that were judged to be other-than-temporary. Nasdaq recorded the impairment
losses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and adjusted the cost basis of respective securities down to fair value as a new cost basis. As of
December 31, 2003, all equity securities including those impaired were sold.
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At December 31, 2003 and 2002, investments with a carrying value of approximately $28.3 million and $28.4 million were pledged as collateral for
Nasdaq’s $25.0 million note payable. Collateral is limited to U.S. Government and Agency securities with a margined value of not less than 100.0% of the
loan and is invested in accordance with the note agreement. See Note 10, “Senior Notes and Credit Facility,” for further discussion.
8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
At December 31, 2002, Nasdaq had goodwill of $10.2 million related to its acquisitions of Nasdaq Europe and Nasdaq Tools. As a part of Nasdaq’s
strategic review, the goodwill related to these acquisitions was considered impaired and was written down to zero. At December 31, 2003, Nasdaq did not
have any goodwill. At December 31, 2002, $4.1 million of Nasdaq’s goodwill was from continuing operations. The remaining $6.1 million of goodwill
related to Nasdaq Europe and is included in the Non-current assets of discontinued operations line item on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Intangible assets with a definite life continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives. At December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, Nasdaq
had intangible assets of $0.9 million and $6.1 million (net of accumulated amortization of $12.3 million and $6.8 million), respectively. Nasdaq estimates
amortization expense of $0.1 million in both 2004 and 2005. At December 31, 2003, of the $0.9 million intangible asset balance, $0.7 million was a minimum
pension liability, which is not subject to amortization. See Note 13, “Employee Benefits,” for further discussion.
Through December 31, 2001, goodwill was amortized over periods of five to 10 years on a straight-line basis. The following table presents the impact of
SFAS 142 on reported net income and earnings per share had the accounting standard been in effect for December 31, 2001:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands, except
per share amounts)

Net (loss) income from continuing operations—as reported
Add back: Goodwill amortization (net of tax of $506)
Adjusted net (loss) income
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share:
Reported net (loss) income
Add back: Goodwill amortization
Adjusted net (loss) income

$ (45,112) $ 65,021
—
—
$ (45,112 ) $ 65,021

$ 60,055
785
$ 60,840

$

$

$

(0.68) $
—
(0.68 ) $

0.66
—
0.66

$

0.52
0.01
0.53

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Nasdaq considers cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from related parties, investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued
personnel costs, obligations under capital leases, senior notes and subordinated notes to be its financial instruments. The carrying amounts reported in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from related parties, investments, accounts payable and accrued
expenses, accrued personnel costs and obligations under capital leases closely approximates their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and
liabilities. The approximate fair value of Nasdaq’s senior notes and subordinated notes were estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on Nasdaq’s
assumed incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. This analysis indicates that the fair value of these obligations at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 approximates their carrying amounts.
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10. Senior Notes and Credit Facility
Nasdaq issued the Senior Notes on May 9, 2002 in a private placement. The Senior Notes were unsecured, paid interest quarterly and were redeemable
by Nasdaq at any time, subject to the make-whole payment. The proceeds from the Senior Notes, approximately $149.0 million after payment of placement
agent commissions and expenses of this offering, were used to fund a portion of the cash consideration paid to the NASD for the repurchase by Nasdaq of
33.8 million shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD and for general corporate purposes. Interest expensed and paid under the agreement totaled
approximately $6.5 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed its $150.0 million outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes. Under the terms of the Senior Notes,
Nasdaq paid the holders of the Senior Notes $150.0 million in outstanding principal amount, accrued interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate make-whole
payment of approximately $12.6 million (representing the net present value of future payments). Nasdaq recorded a $13.2 million pre-tax charge in the third
quarter of 2003 related to the redemption of the Senior Notes. This charge included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of
the Senior Notes. Nasdaq used funds from available cash and investments to finance the redemption. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further
discussion.
On August 29, 2002, Nasdaq entered into an unsecured revolving-credit facility (the “Facility”), which was syndicated to five banks. The Facility made
$150.0 million available to Nasdaq for a 364-day term for general corporate purposes at an annual fee of 0.09%. Nasdaq had not utilized this Facility and
decided to terminate the Facility effective June 26, 2003.
In May 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 million note payable with a financial institution (the “Lender”). Principal payments are scheduled to begin in
2007 and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012. The note requires monthly interest payments through May 2007 at an annual rate of
7.41%. After May 2007, Nasdaq will incur interest equal to the Lenders’ cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 0.5%. Interest expensed and paid
under the agreement totaled approximately $1.9 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
Nasdaq Europe had $26.0 million of notes payable outstanding with third parties as of December 31, 2002. These notes were denominated in Euros.
Nasdaq Europe incurred interest expense at a rate of 6.0% on approximately $4.3 million of the notes and London Inter-Bank Offered Rate plus 1% on the
remaining $21.7 million of the notes. Interest expensed and accrued totaled approximately $0.4 million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Nasdaq Europe also had $21.7 million of intercompany loans with Nasdaq outstanding as of December 31,
2002. Nasdaq funded these loans to finance the operations of Nasdaq Europe and to enable Nasdaq Europe to invest in Nasdaq Deutschland. In October 2002,
Nasdaq Europe’s strategic investors committed to convert the majority of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt to equity. The conversion was formally approved by
Nasdaq Europe’s Board of Directors in March 2003. On May 26, 2003 the strategic investors converted approximately $17.9 million or 63.3% of Nasdaq
Europe’s external debt to equity ($51.5 million or 83.2% including intercompany debt with Nasdaq).
As Nasdaq Europe was winding down its market operations, Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of
that company’s original investors; the cash consideration for the transfer was nominal. The transfer of Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe was completed on
December 18, 2003. At the time of this transfer, Nasdaq Europe had approximately $12 million of external debt and accrued interest. See Note 2, “Significant
Transactions,” for further discussion.
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11. Subordinated Notes

On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq issued and sold $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible subordinated notes due 2006 (the
“Subordinated Notes”) to Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliated limited partnerships (collectively, “Hellman &
Friedman”). Nasdaq used the proceeds from the sale of the Subordinated Notes to purchase 18,461,538 shares of Common Stock from the NASD for $13.00
per share. On November 12, 2001, Nasdaq sold an aggregate amount of 500,000 shares of Common Stock to Hellman & Friedman for an aggregate offering
price of $5,125,000, which was the fair value at that date.
Until Nasdaq is granted Exchange Registration, Hellman & Friedman may only exercise its conversion rights for a number of shares of Common Stock
such that immediately following such conversion, the NASD will continue to control greater than 50% of the combined voting power of Nasdaq. The annual
4.0% coupon will be payable in arrears and the Subordinated Notes are convertible at any time into an aggregate of 12.0 million shares of Common Stock at
$20.00 per share, subject to adjustment, in general, for any stock split, dividend, combination, recapitalization or other similar event. Interest expensed and
paid under the agreement totaled approximately $9.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and totaled $5.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001.
In 2002, Nasdaq stockholders approved an amendment to Nasdaq’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) that
provided for voting debt. As a result, the holders of the Subordinated Notes may vote on an as-converted basis on all matters on which holders of common
stock have the right to vote, subject to the current 5.0% voting limitation in the Certificate of Incorporation. Nasdaq has granted Hellman & Friedman certain
registration rights with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying the Subordinated Notes.
On an as-converted basis as of December 31, 2003, Hellman & Friedman owned an approximate 13.8% equity interest in Nasdaq as a result of its
ownership of these Subordinated Notes and 500,000 shares of Common Stock. Hellman & Friedman is permitted to designate one person reasonably
acceptable to Nasdaq for nomination as a director of Nasdaq for so long as Hellman & Friedman owns Subordinated Notes and/or shares of Common Stock
issued upon conversion thereof representing at least 50.0% of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Subordinated Notes initially
purchased. F. Warren Hellman, chairman of Hellman & Friedman, served as a director of Nasdaq pursuant to this agreement as of December 31, 2003. See
Note 22, “Subsequent Events,” for further discussion.
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12. Income Taxes
The income tax (benefit) provision from continuing operations consists of the following amounts:

Current income taxes:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current income taxes
Deferred income taxes:
Federal
State
Total deferred income taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

$ (26,753) $ 21,812
11
5,204
2,790
243
(23,952)
27,259
7,180
(4,468)
2,712

11,259
2,403
13,662

$ 50,526
10,885
99
61,510
(22,078)
(1,100)
(23,178)

Total income tax (benefit) provision

$ (21,240 ) $ 40,921

$ 38,332

Income taxes (refunded) paid during the year

$ (25,936 ) $ 77,187

$ 22,873

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to Nasdaq’s effective tax rate from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001

Federal
State
Foreign losses without U.S. benefit
Tax preferred investments
Tax credits
State temporary differences at a lower rate
Goodwill impairment
Deferred tax asset write-off
Other
Effective rate

35.0%
4.4
(2.2)
1.0
2.6
—
(2.2)
(4.4)
(2.2)
32.0 %

35.0%
4.7
2.4
(0.7)
(2.2)
—
—
—
(0.6)
38.6 %

35.0%
5.0
5.7
(5.5)
(3.7)
1.5
—
—
1.0
39.0 %
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The temporary differences, which give rise to Nasdaq’s deferred tax assets and (liabilities) consisted of the following:

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred fees

December 31,
2003
2002
(in thousands)

$ 56,624

$ 72,553

Foreign net operating loss
State net operating loss
Bad debts
Technology costs
Compensation and benefits
Lease reserves
Deferred capital loss carryforward
Strategic review charges
Other
Gross deferred tax assets

1,576
5,466
1,307
3,680
8,252
7,949
7,102
16,326
12,935
121,217

13,718
—
9,558
9,598
10,722
7,810
6,077
—
12,779
142,815

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Software development costs
Other
Gross deferred tax liabilities

(8,269)
(31,843)
(3,198)
(43,310)

(10,841)
(35,892)
(4,805)
(51,538)

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance
Less Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

77,907
91,277
(8,678)
(19,796)
$ 69,229 $ 71,481

Of the $5.5 million of state and the $1.6 million of foreign net operating losses at December 31, 2003, state losses of $5.5 million will expire through
2023, foreign losses of $0.3 million will expire 2007 through 2010 and $1.3 million have no expiration date. Of the $7.1 million of capital loss carryforwards,
$1.0 million will expire 2007 through 2008 and $6.1 million is a deferred capital loss carryforward with no expiration date determined as of year end.
The change in the valuation allowance from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2003 is as follows:
Balance at December 31, 2002
Utilization of prior year foreign net operating losses in the current period
Reduction of prior year foreign net operating loss deferred tax assets due to dissolution
of foreign subsidiary
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards generated in 2003
Capital loss carryforwards generated in 2003
Balance at December 31, 2003

(in thousands)

$ (19,796)
1,616
10,785
(259)
(1,024)
$ (8,678 )

Not included in the deferred tax assets for the year ended December 31, 2003 is a capital loss carryforward in the amount of $16.7 million generated
through discontinued operations. The carryforward will expire in 2008 and Nasdaq believes that it is more likely than not that no benefit will be realized on
this asset. Therefore, a valuation allowance of $16.7 million was established.
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The following represents the domestic and foreign components of (loss) income from continuing operations before income tax (benefit) expense:
2003

Domestic
Foreign
(Loss) income before income tax (benefit) expense

Year Ended December 31,
2002
2001
(in thousands)

$ (75,114) $ 113,715 $ 114,995
8,762
(7,773)
(16,608)
$ (66,352 ) $ 105,942 $ 98,387

13. Employee Benefits
Nasdaq is a participating employer in a noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plan that the NASD sponsors for the benefit of its eligible employees
and the eligible employees of its subsidiaries. As of January 1, 2004, the benefits are primarily based on years of service and the employees’ career-average
salary during employment, subject to a phase in period. Prior to 2004, the benefits were primarily based on years of service and the employees’ average salary
during the highest 60 consecutive months of employment.
In addition, Nasdaq participated in a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) that was maintained by the NASD up until November 1, 2003
for certain senior executives. On November 1, 2003, Nasdaq formed its own SERP and transferred over all amounts to this new plan. Also during 2003,
Nasdaq changed the accrual of benefits from age 65 to the later of age 55 or 10 years of service unless a member of senior management has a contract. In the
case that a senior manager has a contract with a SERP provision, benefits are accrued to the contract terms.
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The following table sets forth the combined plans’ funded status and amounts recognized as of December 31:

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Net employee transfers into plan
Service cost
Interest cost

2003
2002
(in thousands)

$ 82,101
—
8,475
5,195

$ 68,382
821
7,460
4,972

Actuarial losses
Benefits paid
Plan amendments
Loss due to change in discount rate
Benefit obligation at end of year

530
(20,511)
(3,300)
7,352
79,842

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Net employee transfers into plan
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Underfunded status of the plan
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized transition asset
Accrued benefit cost
Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

4,373
(10,279)
411
5,961
82,101

34,351
39,192
502
1,201
7,780
(4,969)
10,866
9,206
(20,511)
(10,279)
32,988
34,351
(46,854)
(47,750)
25,891
25,534
(8,058)
1,464
(221)
(279)
$ (29,242 ) $ (21,031 )
6.25%
8.75
5.50

6.75%
9.00
5.50

Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of unrecognized transition asset
Recognized net actuarial loss/(gain)
Prior service cost recognized
Special benefits
Curtailment/settlement loss recognized
Benefit cost

$ 8,475 $ 7,460 $ 7,032
5,195
4,971
4,519
(2,899)
(3,529)
(3,311)
(57)
(58)
(58)
1,247
(413)
160
5,004
474
465
—
—
760
2,112
1,248
—
$ 19,077 $ 10,153 $ 9,567

The investment policy and strategy of the plan assets, as established by the NASD Pension Plan Committee, is to provide for preservation of principal,
both in nominal and real terms, in order to meet the long-term spending needs of the Plan by investing assets per the target allocations stated below. Asset
allocations are reviewed quarterly and adjusted, as appropriate, to remain within target allocations. The
F-29

investment policy is reviewed on an annual basis, under the advisement of an investment consultant, to determine if the policy or asset allocation targets
should be changed. The plan assets consisted of the following as of December 31:
Target Allocation

Equity securities
Debt securities and cash equivalents
Total

55.0%-75.0%
25.0%-45.0%

2003

2002

74.0% 67.0%
26.0
33.0
100.0 % 100.0 %

The expected long-term rate of return for the plan’s total assets is based on the expected return of each of the above categories, weighted based on the current
target allocation for each class. Equity securities are expected to return 8.0% to 10.0% over the long-term, while cash and fixed income is expected to return
between 4.0% and 6.0%. Based on historical experience, the committee expects that the plan’s asset managers overall will provide a modest (1.0% per
annum) premium to their respective market benchmark indices.
The plan is measured at the beginning of each fiscal year. Based on the current Internal Revenue Service regulations, Nasdaq expects to contribute
approximately $10.6 million to the plan in 2004.
The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit plan was $58.4 million and $50.2 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
During 2003 and 2002, there were settlement losses of $2.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively for employees included within the SERP plan due to
early retirements.
Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 87 “Employer’s Accounting for Pensions,” related to the SERP, an intangible asset of $1.0 million and an
adjustment to stockholders’ equity of $1.4 million (net of tax of $0.9 million), were recorded as of December 31, 2001 to recognize the minimum pension
liability. During 2002, the intangible asset and adjustment to stockholders’ equity both were reduced to $0.6 million and $1.1 million (net of tax of $0.7
million), respectively. As of December 31, 2003, the intangible asset and the minimum pension liability were adjusted to $0.7 million and $1.4 million (net of
tax of $0.9 million), respectively.
Prior to April 1, 2002, Nasdaq participated in a voluntary savings plan for eligible employees of the NASD and its subsidiaries. As of April 1, 2002, in
accordance with the Restructuring, Nasdaq formed its own voluntary savings plan and all amounts were transferred to this new plan. Employees are
immediately eligible to make contributions to the plan and are also eligible for an employer contribution match at an amount equal to 100.0% of the first 4.0%
of eligible employee contributions. Eligible plan participants may also receive an additional discretionary match from Nasdaq. Savings plan expense for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, was $3.4 million, $1.8 million and $5.9 million, respectively. The expense includes a discretionary match

authorized by the Nasdaq Board of Directors totaling $0.75 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. There was no discretionary match for 2003 and
2002.
14. Stock Compensation and Stock Awards
Effective December 5, 2000, as amended on January 23, 2002, Nasdaq adopted The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), under
which nonqualified and qualified incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or other stock based awards may be granted to employees,
directors, officers and consultants. A total of 24,500,000 shares are authorized under the Plan. At December 31, 2003, 11,583,676 shares were available for
future grants under the Plan.
In 2003, Nasdaq granted 4,398,410 stock options, 14,000 shares of restricted stock to employees and officers and 24,375 shares of restricted stock to
non-employee Board of Directors members pursuant to the
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Plan. Nasdaq also granted 1,000,000 stock options and 100,000 shares of restricted stock outside of the Plan. During 2003, 1,804,289 stock options and
141,900 shares of restricted stock awards were forfeited.
In December 2001, the Board adopted a revised Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy whereby beginning in 2002 all non-employee directors
were awarded 5,000 stock options per year with an exercise price at fair market value, which may be exercised for up to 10 years while serving on the Board
of Directors (in general, three years from termination of service on the Board of Directors). On January 23, 2002, 65,000 stock options were awarded to all
non-employee directors pursuant to the plan. Later in November 2002, the Board approved a modification to the Non-Employee Directors Compensation
Policy whereby all non-employee directors will receive a compensation package valued at $40,000. Each non-employee director may elect to receive the
compensation package in cash, payable in equal quarterly installments, shares of restricted stock or a combination thereof. The shares of restricted stock will
vest two years from the date of grant and unvested shares are forfeited in certain circumstances upon termination of the director’s service on the Nasdaq
Board. During 2003, 24,375 shares of restricted stock were awarded to non-employee directors.
Restricted stock awards are awarded in the name of the employee or officer at fair value on the date of the grant. The awards contain restrictions on sales
and transfers, are generally subject to a five-year vesting period and are expensed over the vesting period. Nasdaq recognized $2.0 million and $4.1 million in
amortization expense related to restricted stock during the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, the number of restricted stock awards forfeited more than offset the yearly amortization expense to a $0.05 million benefit.
Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant. Nasdaq accounts for stock
option grants in accordance with APB 25, and, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense related to such grants.
Options granted generally vest over three years and expire 10 years from the date of grant. All options to date have been granted at fair market value on
the date of grant. At December 31, 2003, options for 7,550,589 shares were vested, and exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $12.43. At
December 31, 2002, options for 5,292,654 shares were vested, and exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $12.77.
Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2003 is set forth below:

Balance, January 1, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Balance, December 31, 2003

Price per Share
Weighted Average

Shares

Range

10,917,403
5,398,410
—
2,892,679
13,423,134

$ 10.25-$19.70
$ 5.28-$ 9.05
—
$ 6.30-$19.70
$ 5.28-$19.70

$ 12.91
$ 7.41
—
$ 12.33
$ 10.82

Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2002 is set forth below:

Balance, January 1, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Balance, December 31, 2002

Price per Share
Weighted Average

Shares

Range

9,625,587
2,220,279
8,612
919,851
10,917,403

$ 10.25-$13.00
$ 13.00-$19.70
$ 10.25-$13.00
$ 10.25-$13.00
$ 10.25-$19.70

$ 12.70
$ 13.65
$ 10.65
$ 12.38
$ 12.91
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Nasdaq has an employee stock purchase plan for all eligible employees. Under the plan, shares of Common Stock may be purchased at six-month
intervals (each, an “Offering Period”) at 85% of the lower of the fair market value on the first or the last day of each Offering Period. Employees may
purchase shares having a value not exceeding 10% of their annual compensation, subject to applicable annual Internal Revenue Service limitations. During
2003 and 2002, employees purchased an aggregate of 143,352 and 210,046 shares at a weighted-average price of $6.95 and $10.22 per share, respectively.
Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required under SFAS 148 and has been determined as if Nasdaq had accounted for
all stock option grants based on a fair value method. The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
valuation model assuming a weighted-average expected life of five years, weighted-average expected volatility of 30% and a weighted-average risk free
interest rate of 2.94% and 4.31% for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2003 and 2002 was $2.37 and $4.69,
respectively.
Pro forma net income includes the amortization of the fair value of stock options over the vesting period and the difference between the fair value and
the purchase price of common shares purchased by employees under the employee stock purchase plan. The pro forma information for the years ended

December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 is as follows:
2003
2002
Reported
Pro forma
Reported
Pro forma
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net (loss) income
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

$ (45,112) $ (58,044) $ 65,021
$ (0.68) $ (0.85) $ 0.66

$ 57,787
$
0.57

On February 18, 2004, the Board approved a Performance Accelerated Stock Option (“PASO”) Plan for Management and granted 1,245,000 options.
These options are not included in the above calculation.
15. Leases
Nasdaq leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations. Nasdaq also subleases office space from the NASD in New York
City. The majority of Nasdaq’s leases contain escalation clauses based on increases in property taxes and building operating costs. Certain of these leases also
contain renewal options. Rent expense for operating leases was $19.4 million, $17.3 million and $14.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, (including the lease
obligations at 1500 Broadway, 9600 Blackwell and 15 Exchange Place of $72.4 million, See Note 6, “Real Estate Developments,”) consisted of the following
at December 31, 2003:
(in thousands)

Year ending December 31:
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Remaining years
Total minimum lease payments

$ 22,947
21,332
21,266
21,473
19,640
190,285
$ 296,943
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable capital leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted of the following at
December 31, 2003:
(in thousands)

Year ending December 31:
2004
Imputed interest
Present value of net minimum payments

$ 1,612
(5)
$ 1,607

16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is composed of net income and other comprehensive income, which includes the after-tax change in unrealized gains and losses
on available-for-sale securities, foreign currency translation adjustments and a minimum pension liability adjustment.
The following table outlines the components of other comprehensive income:

Unrealized
Gains (Losses)(1)

Balance, January 1, 2001
Net change
Balance, December 31, 2001
Net change
Balance, December 31, 2002
Net change
Balance, December 31, 2003

$

321
918
1,239
(2,048)
(809)
760
$
(49 )

Translation
Minimum Pension
Adjustments(2)
Liability(3)
(in thousands)

$ (2,213)
(4,607)
(6,820)
6,402 (4)
(418)
1,948 (5)
$ 1,530

$

—
(1,395)
(1,395)
296
(1,099)
(296)
$ (1,395 )

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$ (1,892)
(5,084)
(6,976)
4,650
(2,326)
2,412
$
86

(1) Primarily represents the after-tax difference between the fair value and cost (after recognition of $0.6 million and $0.7 million in an after tax other-thantemporary loss in 2003 and 2002, respectively) of the available-for-sale securities portfolio.
(2) Includes after-tax gains and losses on foreign currency translation from operations for which the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar.
(3) Represents the after-tax adjustment to record the minimum pension liability for the SERP.
(4) Approximately $2.4 million of foreign currency translation loss has been recognized in the “Nasdaq Japan impairment loss” line item on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
(5) Approximately $1.7 million of foreign currency translation loss has been recognized in the “Loss from discontinued operations” line item on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
17. Segments

In 2003, Nasdaq changed its organization structure from operating under one segment to operating under two segments. Under the new structure, our
new Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by SFAS No. 131. Nasdaq’s two segments are managed
and operated as strategic business units and organized by products and services. Reportable segments are Market Services and Issuer Services. Market
Services includes Transaction Services and Market
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Information Services defined as sub-segments. Transaction Services includes collecting, processing and disseminating price quotes of Nasdaq-listed
securities, the routing and execution of buy and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities, and transaction reporting services. Market Information Services
provides varying levels of quote and trade information to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public. Issuer Services includes the Corporate
Client Group and Nasdaq Financial Products defined as sub-segments. The Corporate Client Group provides customer services and information products to
Nasdaq-listed companies and is responsible for obtaining new listing on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for introducing
products that extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand. This sub-segment oversees the development and marketing of new Nasdaq financial products and
associated derivatives, the licensing and listing of third-party structured products and the listing of third-party sponsored exchange traded funds.
Nasdaq evaluates the performance of its segments based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is pretax income. Results of
individual businesses are presented based on Nasdaq’s management accounting practices and Nasdaq’s management structure. Certain charges are allocated to
Corporate items in Nasdaq’s management reports based on the decision that those activities should not be used to evaluate the segment’s operating
performance. These charges primarily include all activities and exit costs related to the elimination of Nasdaq’s non-core products and other initiatives as well
as Nasdaq Japan.
The following table presents certain information regarding these operating segments at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the years then
ended.

Market Services

Corporate Items
Issuer Services
and Eliminations
(in thousands)

Consolidated

2003
Revenues
Depreciation and amortization
Pretax income (loss)
Assets(a)
Cash paid for property and equipment

$ 383,120
63,915
32,426
246,893
22,566

$ 200,194
17,121
42,153
135,328
4,249

$

6,531
8,947
(140,931)
469,033
4,780

$

2002
Revenues
Depreciation and amortization
Pretax income (loss)
Assets(a)
Cash paid for property and equipment

$ 580,192
59,138
122,189
394,625
54,670

$ 201,382
18,561
43,984
193,693
11,396

$

5,580
10,803
(60,231)
587,596
9,087

$

787,154
88,502
105,942
1,175,914
75,153

2001
Revenues
Depreciation and amortization
Pretax income (loss)
Assets(a)
Cash paid for property and equipment

$ 653,477
58,350
151,243
419,066
78,457

$ 185,841
16,630
18,298
197,634
16,354

$

8,752
8,704
(71,154)
709,551
13,037

$

848,070
83,684
98,387
1,326,251
107,848

589,845
89,983
(66,352)
851,254
31,595

(a) Includes continuing and discontinued operations. Corporate items also include the assets of Nasdaq’s Treasury Department (primarily cash and cash
equivalents and investments).
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Geographic Data
The following table presents revenues and property, plant and equipment, net by geographic area for 2003, 2002 and 2001. Revenues are classified based
upon the location of the customer. Property and equipment information is based on the physical location of the assets.
Property and
Revenues
equipment, net
(in thousands)

2003:
United States
All other countries
Total

$ 534,450
55,395
$ 589,845

$ 242,672
271
$ 242,943

2002:
United States
All other countries
Total

$ 714,741
72,413
$ 787,154

$ 327,937
753
$ 328,690

2001:
United States

$ 782,592

$ 343,923

All other countries
Total

65,478
$ 848,070

6,350
$ 350,273

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, no single customer accounted for 10% or more of Nasdaq’s revenues.
18. Commitments and Contingencies
Nasdaq Europe
As of June 30, 2003, €31.8 million ($36.6 million) was funded in the form of a loan fulfilling a commitment to Nasdaq Europe. Of the funded amount,
€14.4 million ($16.6 million) was used to finance the operations of Nasdaq Europe through 2002. During the first and second quarters of 2003, an additional
€11.6 million ($13.3 million) was funded for 2003 operations. The remaining €5.8 million ($6.7 million) was used to enable Nasdaq Europe to invest in
Nasdaq Deutschland, a venture among Nasdaq Europe, several German banks and two regional German exchanges. In October 2002, Nasdaq Europe’s
strategic investors committed to convert the majority of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt to equity. The conversion was formally approved by Nasdaq Europe’s
Board of Directors in March 2003. On May 26, 2003, the strategic investors converted 63.3% of Nasdaq Europe’s external debt (or 83.2% including
intercompany debt with Nasdaq).
On June 24, 2003, Nasdaq’s Board of Directors approved an up to $13.0 million additional commitment in the form of a subordinated loan for the winddown of market operations of Nasdaq Europe, which was to be conducted pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance
Commission. The funding enabled Nasdaq Europe to conduct an orderly transition of listed issuers, as required under Belgian law, renew certain essential
contracts during the wind-down period, satisfy certain severance obligations and operate the Nasdaq Deutschland platform until the closure of the Nasdaq
Deutschland market on August 29, 2003. As of December 18, 2003, the entire commitment was funded to Nasdaq Europe and to its wholly-owned subsidiary
Nasdaq Europe Limited.
As a result of the transfer of Nasdaq’s shares of Nasdaq Europe, Nasdaq Europe’s new owner committed to seek to restructure that company’s
obligations and, in that context, to request from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against Nasdaq Europe’s former directors,
officers and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe). At
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the time of the transfer, Nasdaq Europe had approximately $12 million of external debt and accrued interest. Nasdaq has recorded liabilities that management
believes are sufficient to satisfy any potential claims against Nasdaq.
Nasdaq Insurance Agency
In December 2002, Nasdaq purchased the NASD’s 50.0% interest in the NASD Insurance Agency (subsequently renamed the Nasdaq Insurance Agency,
LLC (“NIA”)). Nasdaq’s consideration for the NASD’s 50.0% interest consisted of an upfront payment of $0.5 million and up to $5.1 million based on NIA’s
stream of contingent cash flow through 2011. Nasdaq will pay the NASD up to: (a) 20% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdaq has paid the NASD $2.3 million
from cash flows; (b) 10% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdaq has paid the NASD a cumulative amount of $3.0 million from cash flows; (c) 5% of NIA’s cash
flows until the earlier to occur of Nasdaq paying the NASD the full cumulative amount of $5.1 million from cash flows or December 31, 2011. As of
December 31, 2003, Nasdaq recorded a $0.10 million dividend to the NASD for the NIA’s 2003 cash flows. The dividend was reflected as a reduction in
Additional paid-in capital on Nasdaq’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Amex Technology Separation
During 2001, Nasdaq agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware and data under a plan to
transition technology applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to
the 1998 acquisition of Amex by the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation had been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and was shared
evenly between Nasdaq and the NASD. In 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively under this commitment, fulfilling its
commitment. As of December 31, 2003, $9.5 million had been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment is expected to be paid in 2004.
NQLX
On June 1, 2001, Nasdaq signed an agreement with LIFFE creating NQLX, a U.S. joint venture company to list and trade single stock futures. On
November 8, 2002, Nasdaq launched NQLX. The Nasdaq Board approved a capital contribution of $25.0 million to the NQLX joint venture. During 2002
and 2001, Nasdaq made $2.0 million and $16.0 million, respectively, of capital contributions to the NQLX joint venture. As of June 30, 2003, $23.0 million
had been contributed and Nasdaq also agreed to redeem its interest in the NQLX joint venture. On July 17, 2003, Nasdaq fulfilled its remaining funding
obligation by contributing $2.0 million to NQLX, with the aggregate contributions totaling $25.0 million. On July 24, 2003, Nasdaq, LIFFE and NQLX
executed a Redemption and Separation Agreement, at which time Nasdaq ceased to be a partner of NQLX for state law purposes and ceased to share in
partnership profits. See Note 2, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
Nasdaq accounted for its investment in NQLX under the equity method of accounting. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq recorded losses of $4.1 million,
$9.0 million and $6.0 million, respectively, representing its share of losses incurred by NQLX. The losses are included in Other expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
MCI
Nasdaq entered into a six-year $600.0 million contract with MCI in 1997 to replace the data network that connected the Nasdaq market facilities to
market participants. As part of this contract, Nasdaq guaranteed MCI a minimum revenue commitment of $300.0 million. Under the terms of this contract,
Nasdaq was permitted to renegotiate the contract once the minimum guarantee was satisfied. In June 2002, an amendment to the original contract was
negotiated with MCI after the minimum usage level
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of $300.0 million was achieved based on the original contract. The amended contract supersedes the terms of the existing contract and is for $182.0 million
over three years commencing in June 2002. The three-year contract includes fixed and variable cost components for two years and permits Nasdaq to
terminate the contract under certain circumstances after the second year. On January 30, 2004, Nasdaq and MCI entered into a new GSA terminating the
current agreement effective May 31, 2004. The GSA, which expires on December 31, 2005, requires usage charges for certain GSA services to be at least
$20.0 million during the period from June 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004 and $20.0 million in 2005.
General Litigation
Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of its business. Currently, there are certain legal proceedings pending against Nasdaq. Nasdaq
believes, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements arising from these proceedings will not have a material effect on the financial
position or results of operations of Nasdaq. Management is not aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would have a material adverse effect on
the financial position and the results of operations of Nasdaq.
19. Related Party Transactions
Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. Payables to related parties are comprised
primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs incurred related to Nasdaq
market regulation and enforcement. Support charges from the NASD to Nasdaq represent another component of payables to related parties. The support
charge includes an allocation of a portion of the NASD’s administrative expenses as well as its costs incurred to develop and maintain technology on behalf of
Nasdaq.
Receivables from related parties are primarily attributable to costs incurred by Amex and funded by Nasdaq related to various Amex technology
projects. The remaining portion of the receivable from related parties balance is related to cash disbursements funded by Nasdaq on behalf of its affiliates.
Surveillance and Other Regulatory Charges from NASDR
NASDR incurs costs associated with surveillance monitoring, legal and enforcement activities related to the regulation of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
These costs are charged to Nasdaq based upon the NASD management’s estimated percentage of costs incurred by each NASDR department that are
attributable directly to The Nasdaq Stock Market surveillance. The following table represents the composition of costs charged by NASDR to Nasdaq:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

Compensation
Professional and contract services
Occupancy
Publications, supplies and postage
Computer operations and data communications
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and training
Other
Total

$ 19,783
17,364
2,534
482
2,953
18,120
538
72
$ 61,846

$ 24,418
24,038
3,202
1,166
4,570
15,481
627
3,206
$ 76,708

$ 24,399
32,691
3,280
1,514
6,306
14,939
693
—
$ 83,822
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Surveillance and other regulatory charges from NASDR were $61.8 million, $76.7 million and $83.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. These costs decreased due to a careful review of NASDR’s charges and the allocation of these charges among the markets it
regulates.
On June 28, 2000, Nasdaq and NASDR signed a Regulatory Services Agreement pursuant to which NASDR or its subsidiaries would provide regulatory
services to Nasdaq and its subsidiaries commencing upon the effectiveness of Exchange Registration. As a result, no services have been performed under this
agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Regulatory Services Agreement, the services provided will be of the same type and scope as are currently provided by
NASDR to Nasdaq under the Delegation Plan for a term of 10 years. Each regulatory service is to be provided for a minimum of five years, after which time
the parties may determine to terminate the provision by NASDR of a particular service. The termination of a particular service will generally be based upon a
review of pricing and the need for such services.
Support Costs from the NASD
The NASD provided certain administrative, corporate and infrastructure services to Nasdaq. It is the NASD’s policy to charge these expenses and other
operating costs to Nasdaq based upon usage percentages determined by management of the NASD and Nasdaq. Additionally, the NASD incurs certain costs
related to the development and maintenance of technology for Nasdaq. Technology development costs are allocated directly to Nasdaq based upon specific
projects requested by Nasdaq. Technology maintenance costs are allocated based upon Nasdaq’s share of computer usage. Support costs from the NASD were
$1.2 million, $5.1 million and $32.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease is due to continued progress
in separating from the NASD and the resulting internalization of technology and certain other support functions. The following table represents the
composition of costs charged by the NASD to Nasdaq:

Compensation
Professional and contract services
Occupancy
Publications, supplies and postage
Computer operations and data communications
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and training
Other

Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

$ 491
316
91
70
77
91
30
18

$ 1,689
1,236
877
147
251
344
113
470

$ 16,436
4,585
4,992
1,337
191
2,483
573
1,528

$ 1,184

Total

$ 5,127

$ 32,125

The NASD and Nasdaq entered into a Separation and Common Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2002 (the “New Separation Agreement”),
which replaced an interim Separation and Common Services Agreement executed in 2000 (the “Interim Agreement”). The services to be provided to Nasdaq
by the NASD under the New Separation Agreement are limited to certain finance, technology infrastructure, facilities sharing and legal services, which is
substantially more limited than what were previously provided by the NASD under the Interim Agreement. Under the New Separation Agreement, Nasdaq
pays to the NASD the costs of the services provided, including any incidental expenses associated with such services. Nasdaq anticipates that the annual costs
for services under the New Separation Agreement will drop in future years as Nasdaq reviews the provision of these services and continues to internalize
more of these services or seeks alternative third party providers.
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Nasdaq Charge to Amex
Nasdaq incurs technology costs on behalf of Amex related to development of new Amex systems and enhancement of existing Amex systems. Amounts
are charged based upon specific projects requested by Amex. Amounts charged from Nasdaq to Amex are included in support costs from related parties, net
and are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands)

Compensation
Professional and contract services
Publications, supplies and postage
Other
Total

$ 283
1,045
—
198
$ 1,526

$ 509
6,011
—
347
$ 6,867

$

605
13,195
19
329
$ 14,148

During 2001, Nasdaq agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware and data under a plan to
transition technology applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to
the 1998 acquisition of Amex by the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation had been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and was to be
shared evenly between Nasdaq and the NASD. In 2002 and 2001, Nasdaq accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively under this commitment,
fulfilling its commitment. As of December 31, 2003, $9.5 million had been paid to Amex. The remaining commitment is expected to be paid in 2004.
20. Capital Stock
At December 31, 2003, 300,000,000 shares of Nasdaq’s Common Stock were authorized, 130,611,221 shares were issued and 78,483,919 shares were
outstanding. Each share of Common Stock has one vote, except that any person, other than the NASD or any other person as may be approved for such
exemption by the Nasdaq Board of Directors prior to the time such person owns more than 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock, who would
otherwise be entitled to exercise voting rights in respect of more than 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock will be unable to exercise voting
rights for any shares in excess of 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock. In connection with the Restructuring, the NASD sold approximately
10,806,494 warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 43,225,976 outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD. The voting rights associated
with the shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants, as well as the shares of Common Stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants, are
governed by the voting trust agreement (the “Voting Trust Agreement”) entered into by the NASD, Nasdaq and The Bank of New York, as voting trustee (the
“Voting Trustee”). Initially, the holders of the warrants (each, a “Warrant Holder” and, collectively, the “Warrant Holders”) will not have any voting rights
with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying such warrants. Until Exchange Registration the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and
unexpired warrant tranches, as well as the shares of Common Stock purchased through the exercise of warrants, will be voted by the Voting Trustee at the
direction of the NASD. The voting rights associated with the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and expired warrant tranches will revert to the
NASD. However, the NASD has determined, commencing upon Exchange Registration, to vote any shares of Common Stock that it owns (other than shares
underlying then outstanding warrants) in the same proportion as the other stockholders of Nasdaq. Upon Exchange Registration, the Warrant Holders will
have the right to direct the Voting Trustee as to the voting of the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches until the
earlier of the exercise or the expiration of such warrant tranches. The shares of Common Stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a warrant tranche prior to
Exchange Registration will be released from the Voting Trust Agreement upon Exchange Registration.
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The shares of Common Stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a warrant tranche after Exchange Registration will not be subject to the Voting Trust
Agreement.
On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq completed the Repurchase of 33,768,895 shares of Nasdaq’s Common Stock owned by the NASD, which represented all of
the remaining outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, except for the 43,225,976 shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants.
Nasdaq purchased the Common Stock for approximately $305.2 million in aggregate cash consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq’s Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $100 per share, plus any accumulated unpaid dividends), and one share of Nasdaq’s Series B Preferred Stock,
(face and liquidation value of $1.00 per share). The NASD owns all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. All of the shares of
Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the NASD have been placed into Common Stock in treasury. As of December 31, 2003, there were 30,000,000
shares of preferred stock authorized, 1,338,402 and 1 share of Series A and Series B, respectively issued and outstanding.
Dividends payable to the NASD on the Series A Preferred Stock began accruing in March 2003. The Series A Preferred Stock carries a 7.6% dividend
rate for the year commencing March 2003 and 10.6% in all years commencing after March 2003, payable at the discretion of Nasdaq’s Board of Directors.
Shares of Series A Preferred Stock do not have voting rights, except for the right as a class to elect two new directors to the Board of Directors anytime
distributions on the Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears for four consecutive quarters and as otherwise required by Delaware law. Nasdaq may redeem the
shares of Series A Preferred Stock at any time after Exchange Registration and is required to use the net proceeds from an IPO, and upon the occurrence of
certain other events, to redeem all or a portion of the Series A Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock does not pay dividends. The NASD, as holder of

the one share of the Series B Preferred Stock, will be entitled to cast the number of votes that, together with all other votes that the NASD is entitled to vote
by virtue of ownership, proxies or voting trusts, enables the NASD to cast one vote more than one-half of all votes entitled to be cast by stockholders of
Nasdaq. If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration, the share of Series B Preferred Stock will automatically lose its voting rights and will be redeemed by
Nasdaq. In addition to the voting rights of the Common Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, the holders of the Subordinated Notes have certain voting rights
as discussed in Note 11, “Subordinated Notes.”
On July 1, 2002, the Common Stock of Nasdaq began trading under the symbol “NDAQ” on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. The limited trading
of the security began upon the expiration of the contractual transfer restrictions imposed in connection with the sale of Common Stock by Nasdaq and the
NASD in Phase I and Phase II of the Restructuring that occurred in June 2000 and January 2001, respectively.
In connection with the repurchase of ownership interest of a shareholder in Nasdaq Europe Planning in 2001, Nasdaq issued a warrant to purchase up to
an aggregate of 479,648 shares of Common Stock. The warrant is exercisable in four annual tranches ranging from $13.00 to $16.00 per share beginning
June 28, 2002. The issuance of the warrants has been recorded at fair value in stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2003 the warrant is still outstanding
and no tranches have been exercised.
On November 12, 2001, Nasdaq sold an aggregate amount of 535,000 shares of Common Stock to five members of the Nasdaq Board of Directors and
500,000 shares of Common Stock to Hellman & Friedman for an aggregate offering price of $10,608,750. The shares were sold in a private transaction at the
current fair market value, pursuant to an exemption from registration contained in section 4(2) of the Securities Act.
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21. Earnings Per Common Share
Earnings per common share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”). Basic earnings per share excludes the
dilutive effects of options, warrants and convertible securities, and is calculated by dividing net income available to common stock holders by the weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects all potentially dilutive securities.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.

Numerator:
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders:
Net (loss) income
Loss from discontinued operations

Net (loss) income from continuing operations
Preferred Stock:
Dividends declared(1)
Accretion of preferred stock
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders from
continuing operations for basic and diluted earnings per
share
Loss from discontinued operations for basic and diluted
earnings per share
Net (loss) income available to common stockholders for basic
and diluted earnings per share
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares for basic earnings per
share
Weighted-average effect of dilutive securities:
Warrants
Employee stock options and awards
Denominator for diluted earnings per share
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total

Years Ended December 31,
2003
2002
2001
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

$

$

(105,447) $
(60,335)

(45,112)

65,021

(8,279)
—

—
(9,765)

(53,391) $
(60,335)

$

$
$

43,128 $
(21,893)

(113,726) $

55,256

60,055
—
—
$

(21,893)
33,363

40,463
(19,592)

60,055
(19,592)

$

40,463

78,378,376

83,650,478

116,458,902

—
—
78,378,376

1,417
421,486
84,073,381

—
280,789
116,739,691

(0.68) $
(0.77)
(1.45 ) $

0.66 $
(0.26)
0.40 $

0.52
(0.17)
0.35

(1) Dividends payable to the NASD as a holder of Nasdaq’s Series A Preferred Stock began accruing in March 2003. The Series A Preferred Stock carries a
7.6% dividend rate for the year commencing March 2003 and 10.6% in all subsequent years. Nasdaq is obligated to pay this dividend to the extent of its
capital surplus. As of March 31, 2003, the dividend payable totaled $0.7 million. As of June 2003 and for all future quarters in 2003, the dividend was
approximately $2.5 million.
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Options to purchase 13,423,134 shares of Common Stock, 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants
were outstanding during 2003, but were not included in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Options to purchase 10,917,403 shares of Common Stock, 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants
were outstanding during 2002. For the year ended December 31, 2002, 10,709,423 of the options outstanding and 119,912 of the shares underlying the
warrants were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, on a weighted average basis, as their inclusion was dilutive. The remaining options,
remaining shares underlying the warrants issued by Nasdaq and the 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes outstanding during 2002, were
considered antidilutive and were properly excluded.
Options to purchase 8,569,258 shares of Common Stock, 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants
were outstanding during 2001, but were not included in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive.
22. Subsequent Events
MCI
On January 30, 2004, Nasdaq and MCI entered into a new GSA terminating the current agreement effective May 31, 2004. The GSA which expires on
December 31, 2005, requires usage charges for certain GSA services to be at least $20.0 million during the period from June 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004
and $20.0 million in 2005. See Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” for further discussion.
Appointment of Director
The Board of Directors has accepted the resignation of F. Warren Hellman from the Board, effective February 25, 2004. Pursuant to the terms of the
securityholders agreement, dated as of March 23, 2001, among Nasdaq and Hellman & Friedman, Hellman & Friedman currently is permitted to designate one
person reasonably acceptable to Nasdaq for nomination as a director of Nasdaq. Accordingly, Hellman & Friedman designated Patrick Healy to replace
Mr. Hellman. The nominating committee subsequently nominated Mr. Healy to the Board and the Board of Directors elected Mr. Healy, effective March 4, 2004.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Three Years Ended December 31, 2003
(in thousands)

2003

Balance at beginning of period
Additions:
Charges to income
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off
Deductions:
Charges for which reserves were provided
Balance at end of period

Reserve for Bad Debts
2002
2001

$ 5,890

$ 7,437

1,365
107

8,426
—

$

5,419
15,459
—

(5,670)
(9,973)
(13,441)
$ 1,692 $ 5,890 $ 7,437
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Exhibit 10.12

Gregor Bailar
Chief Information Officer and Executive Vice President
September 22, 2000
Mr. Steven J. Randich
196 Lawndale Avenue
Elmhurst, IL 60120
Dear Steven:
I am pleased to extend our offer to you for the position Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer, Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., subject
to final approval of our Board of Directors. In this role, you will report directly to me
This employment offer includes the following components:
1.

You will receive a sign-on bonus of $500,000, payable within 30 days of your reporting date of October 16, 2000.

2.

Your base salary will be $450,000 annually beginning on your starting date and increasing to $500,000 January 1, 2002 and continuing
through 2004.

3.

You will receive a guaranteed minimum annual bonus of $500,000 for years 2001, 2002, 2003, and 2004 payable on the normal award
payment date (February of the following year), contingent on your continuous service and satisfactory work/conduct/performance.
Additionally, you will receive a pro-rated bonus based on $500,000 for your work in year 2000 (payable in February 2001). Twenty percent
(20%) of this annual award will be deferred for a period of two (2) years.

4.

You will receive an accrued (retention) bonus for your work through December 31, 2004, contingent on your continuous service and
satisfactory work/conduct/performance. This bonus will accrue as follows: $150,000 for year 2001; $200,000 for year 2002; $300,000 for
year 2003 and $300,000 for year 2004.

5.

In addition to the above compensation, Nasdaq will grant you 150,000 stock options under our soon to be ratified Executive Stock
program. This program currently assumes a four year vesting period.

6.

You will be entitled to 4 weeks vacation per year.

7.

You will be entitled to our full beneficial package.

8.

You will be provided with relocation assistance to include 1) reimbursement for all reasonable expenses (including prevailing Realtor’s fees
associated with the sale of your present home in Elmhurst, IL, 2) payment of associated reasonable costs for the packing, moving and
unpacking of your household goods, 3) reimbursement of reasonable expenses
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.
[ILLEGIBLE]
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associated with the purchase of your new home in Connecticut (attorneys fees, up to two (2) points on mortgage, inspections), and 4) and
two (2) visits per month for either house-hunting of weekend visits home, and 5) a miscellaneous moving expense allowance of $50,000. If
you were to resign your employment within one year of your relocation, you will be required to re-pay all relocation and moving costs to
Nasdaq.
All of the components of this employment offer are contingent on your continuous employment with Nasdaq, Inc. and your satisfactory work
performance and conduct.
Under our Human Resources procedures, you will be in an initial appraisal period during your first six months of employment. During this time,
your performance will be reviewed and feedback provided to you. Subsequently, your performance will be reviewed periodically according to our
company practices.
As a full-time employee you will be eligible to participate in out Flexible Benefits Program, which includes medical, dental and vision coverage. If
you elect health and welfare benefits during your initial enrollment period, they will become effective the first day of the following month. A
Benefits Enrollment Guide is enclosed to provide an overview of NASD benefit programs.
Additional information concerning benefits available to you, including HMOs and savings/retirement programs, will be provided during your
orientation.
Effective on your date of hire, you will be automatically enrolled in the NASD Savings Plus Plan 401(k), with a pre-tax payroll deduction of two
percent of your base salary. If you choose to not participate in the Savings Plus Plan, you must contact the Benefits Department at (301) 590-6547

and complete a 401(k) deduction change form electing to withdraw from the Plan within 30 days of your date of hire. The deduction change form
will be available to you at your orientation.
Please be advised that any changes or amendments to our policies, procedures, benefits and compensation programs, and corporate or departmental
organization will apply to you as they will to all Nasdaq employees.
This offer is contingent upon acceptable drug test results and routine background and reference checks. In addition, to satisfy the requirements of the
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, on your first day of work you must provide acceptable documentation establishing your identity and
right to work in the United States. Please review the enclosed Employment Eligibility Verification - Lists of Acceptable Documents to determine the
documents you will need to provide on your first day of work.
This offer is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the NASD Application for Employment, including the employment-at-will provisions
contained therein. If you have any questions regarding this offer or the terms and conditions of employment, please call me at (301) 590-6831. If
the terms and conditions of this offer of employment are acceptable, please sign and date this letter, review and complete all enclosed forms and
documents, and bring this letter and all completed forms with you on your first day of work. A copy of this letter is provided for your records.
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Steve, Welcome to Nasdaq. We believe you will find the work to be both challenging and personally rewarding, and look forward to the
contributions you will make toward achieving the goals of the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Sincerely,
/s/ Gregor Bailar
Gregor Bailar
Chief Information Officer
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Enclosures:

Benefits Enrollment Guide
NASD Code of Conduct
EEO Policy
Harassment-Free Workplace Policy
Sexual Harassment Policy
NASD Core Principles
Pre-Orientation Materials

I accept this offer of employment by the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
/s/ Steven J. Randich

9/22/00
Date
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Exhibit 10.13

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.
1735 K Street, NW
Washington, DC 20006-1500
202 726 8000
November 30, 2000
Mr. David P. Warren
19 Brook Street
Wellesley, MA 02482
Dear David:
I am pleased to extend our offer to you for the position Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer, Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., subject to final
approval of our Board of Directors. In this role, you will report directly to me.
This employment offer includes the following components:
1.

You will receive a sign-on bonus of $100,000, payable within 30 days of your reporting date of January 2, 2001.

2.

Your base salary will be $300,000 annually beginning on your starting date and continuing through year 2003.

3.

You will receive a guaranteed minimum annual bonus of $150,000 for years 2001, 2002, and 2003 payable on the normal award payment date (February
of the following year), contingent on your continuous service and satisfactory work/conduct/performance. Each year, 20% of the annual bonus will be
deferred for two years.

4.

Should Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. issue stock awards, you will be eligible for stock options/awards commensurate with the issuance of such awards to
other senior management at the same level.

5.

You will be entitled to 4 weeks vacation per year.

6.

You will be entitled to our full benefits package.

7.

You will be provided with a forgivable, interest free loan of $200,000 in lieu of relocation assistance at your request. Such loan is to be forgiven equally
over the next three years of employment at the Nasdaq Stock Market. In the event that you resign your employment within three years of your
employment with the Nasdaq Stock Market, you will be required to re-pay a prorated amount of the loan to Nasdaq. For example, if you resign after two
years of employment, you will be required to repay one third (1/3) of the original interest free loan.
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8.

You will be provided with a temporary housing until your relocation to New York in the Summer of 2001.

All of the components of this employment offer are contingent on your continuous employment with Nasdaq, Inc. and your satisfactory work performance
and conduct as determined by your management. All payments will have all applicable local, state and federal tax and withholdings deducted.
Under our Human Resources procedures, you will be in an initial appraisal period during your first six months of employment. During this time, your
performance will be reviewed and feedback provided to you. Subsequently, your performance will be reviewed periodically according to our company
practices
As a full-time employee you will be eligible to participate in out Flexible Benefits Program, which includes medical, dental and vision coverage. If you elect
health and welfare benefits during your initial enrollment period, they will become effective the first day of the following month. A Benefits Enrollment
Guide is enclosed to provide an overview of NASD benefit programs.
Additional information concerning benefits available to you, including HMOs and savings/retirement programs, will be provided during your orientation.
Effective on your date of hire, you will be automatically enrolled in the NASD Savings Plus Plan 401(k), with a pre-tax payroll deduction of two percent of
your base salary. If you choose to not participate in the Savings Plus Plan, you must contact the Benefits Department at (240) 386-4886 and complete a
401(k) deduction change form electing to withdraw from the Plan within 30 days of your date of hire. The deduction change form will be available to you at
your orientation.
Please be advised that any changes or amendments to our policies, procedures, benefits and compensation programs, and corporate or departmental
organization will apply to you as they will to all Nasdaq employees.
This offer is contingent upon acceptable drug test results and routine background and reference checks. In addition, to satisfy the requirements of the
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, on your first day of work you must provide acceptable documentation establishing your identity and right to
work in the United States. Please review the enclosed Employment Eligibility Verification - Lists of Acceptable Documents to determine the documents you
will need to provide on your first day of work.

This offer is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the NASD Application for Employment, including the employment-at-will provisions contained
therein. If you have any questions regarding this offer or the terms and conditions of employment, please call me at (202) 728-8020. If the terms and
conditions of this offer of employment are acceptable, please sign and date this letter, review and complete all enclosed forms and documents, and bring this
letter and all completed forms with you on your first day of work. A copy of this letter is provided for your records.
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David, welcome to Nasdaq. We believe you will find the work to be both challenging and personally rewarding, and look forward to the contributions you
will make toward achieving the goals of the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. I personally look forward to working with you.
Sincerely,
/s/ Richard Ketchum
Richard Ketchum
President and CEO
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Enclosures:

Benefits Enrollment Guide
NASD Code of Conduct
EEO Policy
Harassment-Free Workplace Policy
Sexual Harassment Policy
NASD Core Principles
Pre-Orientation Materials

I accept this offer of employment by the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
/s/ David P. Warren

December 5, 2000
Date
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Exhibit 10.14.2
EDWARD KNIGHT
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
NASDAQÒ

THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET
1801 K STREET NW
WASHINGTON, DC 20006
P 202.912.3030 F 202.912.3191
edward.knight@nasdaq.com

February 25, 2004
Mr. Richard G. Ketchum
Citigroup
388 Greenwich Street, 39th floor
New York, NY 10013
Richard Bernard, Esq.
Marshall N. Carter
New York Stock Exchange, Inc.
11 Wall Street
New York, NY 10005
Gentlemen:
The purpose of this letter is to evidence an agreement made by The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the “Nasdaq”), Richard G. Ketchum (“Ketchum”) and the
New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (“NYSE”) and to amend certain terms of a prior employment agreement between Nasdaq and Ketchum that was effective as
of December 29 2000 (the “Agreement”). All capitalized terms used in this letter have the same meaning as set forth in the Agreement.
Ketchum has been offered employment with NYSE as its new Chief Regulatory Officer. However, pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Ketchum may not
engage in any “Competitive Business” or perform certain activities for a Competitive Business during the “Restricted Period” which ends June 17, 2004.
In exchange for the following consideration, Nasdaq hereby waives all rights it may have against Ketchum and/or NYSE under Section 10(a)(a) of the
Agreement in connection with Ketchum’s employment by the NYSE prior to June 18, 2004 (at which time the limitations in the Agreement as to his restricted
activities expires):
1.
NYSE will pay $100,000 to Nasdaq with respect to each of March, April, May and June 2004, respectively, but subject to a
maximum amount of $300,000, if Ketchum provides any service to NYSE for any portion of such month. NYSE may choose to pay $300,000 upon
Ketchum’s first providing services to the NYSE, or may make payments of $100,000 each month. In the latter case, the applicable payment for a

month will be made within 10 business days following the first day of the applicable month (or ten days after the commencement of employment, if
Ketchum’s employment with NYSE does not commence on the first day of a month).
2.
Ketchum waives any rights under the Agreement to any “Incentive Compensation” from Nasdaq that he may have been entitled to
pursuant to the terms of the Agreement with respect to the 2003 calendar year. For the avoidance of doubt, the amount waived is $251,316.
3.
NYSE will implement the measures as described in a letter to Nasdaq from Richard Bernard, dated December 24, 2003, which is
incorporated herein and made a part of the Agreement.
This letter agreement modifies and supercedes the Agreement solely to the extent described herein and the Agreement, as modified herein, remains in full
force and effect. The terms of this letter agreement will become effective upon its execution by all parties.
Please acknowledge your agreement to the foregoing by executing this letter below.
Sincerely,
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
By:

/s/ Edward S. Knight
Edward S. Knight

Agreed to and Accepted:
By: /s/ Richard G. Ketchum
Richard G. Ketchum
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NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE, INC.
By: /s/ Richard Bernard
Richard Bernard
By: /s/ Marshall N. Carter
Marshall N. Carter
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Exhibit 10.21
PROMISSORY NOTE
$25,000,000.00

May 19, 1997
Washington, D.C.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), promises to pay to the order of
CRESTAR BANK, a Virginia banking corporation (the “Lender”), at 1445 New York Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20005, or at such other place as the
holder hereof may from time to time designate in writing, in lawful money of the United States of America, without defense, setoff or counterclaim (other
than the defense of payment), the principal sum of TWENTY-FIVE MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($25,000,000.00), together with interest as described
below on the principal balance hereof from time to time outstanding, all in accordance with the following terms and provisions:
1.

Interest Rate.

(a)
Rate. The unpaid principal balance of this Promissory Note (as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented in writing
from time to time, the “Note”) outstanding from time to time shall bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the Cost of Funds Rate (defined in Paragraph 1(d)
below) plus 0.50% (the “Applicable Rate”). Accrued interest shall be computed for actual days elapsed on the basis of a year of 360 days.
(b)
Selection. The Borrower may select periods of whole months up to 120 months during which the Applicable Rate will be fixed
(each, an “Interest Period”). The Interest Period may be applicable to a particular dollar increment of amounts outstanding under the Note or to the entire
outstanding principal balance of the Note, at the Borrower’s selection (each, an “Increment”). Provided that no Event of Default (as defined in Paragraph 8
below) shall have occurred, the Borrower may select an Interest Period and an Increment (a “Request”) by telephonic notice to the Lender no later than 10:00
a.m. (Washington, D.C. time) one business day prior to the effective date of the Request to permit the Lender to quote the Applicable Rate and obtain funds,
in the Increment requested by the Borrower, in the appropriate money market for the applicable Interest Period, and the Borrower shall confirm such
telephonic Request by promptly delivering a duly executed Request form to the Lender in the form of Schedule 1 attached hereto. No more than two
Increments and two Interest Periods may be outstanding at any one time. Upon the expiration of any Interest Period with respect to an Increment, if no new
Interest Period has been selected by the Borrower, the succeeding Interest Period shall be three months.
(c)
Rate Adjustment. The adjustment of the Applicable Rate as to a certain Increment shall occur only on the first day of the
applicable Interest Period, and shall otherwise be in accordance with the Lender’s standard practices regarding the administration of money market
transactions.

(d)
Cost of Funds Rate. The “Cost of Funds Rate” shall mean, with respect to the Interest Period for which such rate is determined, the
annual rate quoted by the Lender on the first day of such Interest Period, equal to the sum of (1) the interest rate that would be paid by the Lender on a deposit
or other obligation in the amount of the Increment selected, with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period, redeemable without premium pursuant to an
amortization schedule substantially comparable to such Interest Period, and issued at par to an institutional investor, plus (2) adjustments (expressed as a
percentage) for applicable reserve requirements, deposit insurance premium assessments, brokerage commissions and regulatory costs.
(e)
Default. If an Event of Default shall occur and all amounts outstanding under this Note are not paid in full, then the Lender shall
no longer be obligated to honor any Requests and all amounts then outstanding under the Note shall bear interest at then-Applicable Rate or Rates plus 2.0%,
effective immediately upon such Event of Default.
(f)

Interest Periods and Maturity. No Interest Period shall extend beyond the Maturity Date (defined in Paragraph 2(b) below).

(g)
No Increment Breakage. No Interest Period may extend beyond a principal repayment date hereunder unless, after giving effect
thereto, the principal amount of the Increment having an Interest Period that ends after such principal repayment date shall be equal to or less than the
principal amount to be outstanding under the Note after such principal repayment is made.
2.

Payments.

(a)
Interest. From the date of any disbursement hereunder until this Note shall be repaid in full, interest on all outstanding portions of
principal of the Note shall be payable monthly, in arrears, on the first day of each month, beginning on June 1, 1997.
(b)
Beginning on June 1, 2007, this Note shall be payable in 59 equal consecutive monthly installments of principal equal to the
Payment Amount, each due on the first day of each month, and one final installment of all then-unpaid principal hereof, together with all accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, due on May 19, 2012 (the “Maturity Date”). The “Payment Amount” shall equal the quotient obtained by dividing a percentage selected by
the Borrower, which percentage shall not be less than 50% of the principal balance hereof outstanding on May 19, 2007, by 60.
3.
Prepayment. Upon two business days’ prior written notice to the Lender, the Borrower may prepay amounts owing hereunder at any time
and from time to time. Such prepayment notice shall specify the amount of the prepayment and the Increment to which it is to be applied. If such prepayment
is made on the last day of the applicable Interest Period, then the Borrower may make such prepayment without premium or penalty. If such prepayment is
made other than on the last day of the applicable Interest Period, then the Borrower shall make such prepayment with an additional premium sum, determined
in the manner provided below, to
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compensate the Lender for all losses, costs and expenses incurred in connection with such prepayment. The premium shall be equal to the present value of the
difference between (1) the amount that would have been realized by the Lender on the prepaid amount for the remaining term of the applicable Interest Period
at the then-Applicable Rate for such Increment, and (2) any lesser amount that would be realized by the Lender by reinvesting such prepaid funds in a United
States Treasury security with a maturity most closely equal to, but not longer than, the applicable Interest Period. The foregoing difference shall be discounted

to its present value at a discount rate equal to the rate of interest being paid on the selected United States Treasury security. The Lender shall provide the
Borrower with a statement explaining the calculation of the premium due, which statement shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding.
Any partial prepayment hereof shall not postpone the due dates of, or relieve the amounts of, any scheduled installment payments due hereunder. Amounts
repaid hereunder may not be reborrowed.
4.
Application of Payments. Payments made hereunder shall be applied first to accrued late charges, next to accrued interest hereon and any
remainder to the principal balance hereof.
5.
Loan Documents. The Borrower’s obligations hereunder are secured by the Assignment of Assets in a Trust Department Account of even
date herewith (as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Assignment”), from the Borrower in favor of the Lender. This
Note, the Assignment and any other document executed or delivered by the Borrower in connection herewith shall be referred to herein collectively as the
“Loan Documents.”
6.

Representations and Warranties: The Borrower represents and warrants that:

(a)
Organization. The Borrower is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, and is duly qualified and in good standing under the laws of each other jurisdiction in which such qualification is required.
(b)
Execution and Delivery. The Borrower has the power, and has taken all necessary actions, to execute and deliver and perform its
obligations under the Loan Documents, and each Loan Document is a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
(c)
Power. The Borrower has the corporate power and authority and all necessary licenses and approvals to own its properties and to
carry on its business as now being conducted.
(d)
Financial Statements. All financial statements and information delivered to the Lender by the Borrower (including, without
limitation, the December 31, 1996 financial statements delivered to the Lender), were prepared in accordance with GAAP (defined below), are correct and
complete and present fairly the financial condition, and reflect all known liabilities,
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contingent or otherwise, of the Borrower as of the dates of such statements and information, and since such dates no material adverse change in the assets,
liabilities, financial condition, business or operations of the Borrower has occurred. “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles consistently
applied.
(e)
Taxes. All tax returns and reports of the Borrower and its predecessors required by law to be filed have been duly filed, and all
taxes, assessments, other governmental charges or levies (other than those presently payable without penalty or interest and those that are being contested in
good faith in appropriate proceedings) upon the Borrower and its predecessors and upon any of their properties, assets, income or franchises, that are due and
payable have been paid.
(f)
Litigation. There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the
Borrower that, either in any case or in the aggregate, affects the Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents, or that questions the
validity of any Loan Document or any action taken or to be taken in connection with any Loan Document.
(g)
No Breach. The execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, and compliance with the provisions thereof, will not (1) conflict
with or violate any provisions of any applicable law, (2) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute a default under the charter or bylaws of the Borrower,
or (3) conflict with or result in a material breach of any judgment, order or decree binding on the Borrower, or any other agreements to which the Borrower is
a party.
(h)
No Defaults. The Borrower is not in default with respect to any debt, direct or indirect in an amount, either individually or in the
aggregate, exceeding $15,000,000, and which the Lender reasonably determines impairs the Lender’s prospects of full repayment of all amounts outstanding
under the Loan Documents.
(i)
Compliance. The Borrower is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations, including, without
limitation, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”).
(j)
Approvals. No authorizations, approvals or consents of, and no filings and registrations with, any governmental or regulatory
authority or agency are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by the Borrower of the Loan Documents.
(k)
Title to Assets, Collateral Value. The Borrower has good and marketable title to all of the assets contained in the custody account
assigned to the Lender pursuant to the Assignment (the “Custody Account”), free from all liens and security interests other than those created by the
Assignment. The Margined Value of the securities contained in the Custody Account is no less than 100% of the outstanding principal balance hereof.
“Margined Value” shall mean the aggregate market value of such assets, determined by the Lender in accordance with standard market practices and
resources, which may include, without limitation, the Bloomberg
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Personal Financial Analysis, and multiplied, as applicable, times 90% for U.S. Government securities and agencies (excluding mortgage-backed securities)
with maturities from one to five years and 85% for U.S. Government securities and agencies (excluding mortgage-backed securities) with maturities over five
years.
(l)
Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the loan evidenced hereby shall be used for construction and related improvements, whether
leased or purchased and including personal property improvements, to be made at the Borrower’s data center located at 80 Merritt Boulevard, Trumbull,

Connecticut 06611. No proceeds of such loan shall be used to purchase or carry any margin stock, as such term is defined in Regulation U of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
7.

Covenants. In consideration of the loan extended to the Borrower by the Lender hereunder, the Borrower covenants and agrees as follows:

(a)
Financial Information. The Borrower shall deliver to the Lender, (l) as soon as available and, in any event, within 45 days after the
close of each of the second and fourth fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., a Delaware not-for-profit
corporation and a Registered National Securities Association subject to regulation by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Parent”), consolidated and consolidating unaudited financial statements of the Parent and its subsidiaries, including a
balance sheet and statement of income, prepared in accordance with GAAP (subject to year-end adjustments), certified to be accurate by a Vice President or
the President of the Parent; (2) as soon as available and, in any event, within 45 days after the close of each of the second and fourth fiscal quarters of each
fiscal year of the Borrower, unaudited financial statements of the Borrower, including a balance sheet and statement of income of the Borrower, prepared in
accordance with GAAP (subject to year-end adjustments), certified to be accurate by the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Borrower and otherwise in
form and substance satisfactory to the Lender (the information required under this Paragraph 7(a)(2) may be included in the financial statements of the Parent
required under Paragraph 7(a)(1)); (3) as soon as available and in any event, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Parent, audited financial
statements consisting of consolidated financial statements of the Parent and its subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year, including a consolidated balance
sheet, statements of income, fund balance and cash flows of the Parent and its subsidiaries for such fiscal year, all in reasonable detail and stating in
comparative form the consolidated figures for the corresponding date and period in the prior fiscal year and all prepared in accordance with GAAP, and with
respect to such consolidated financial statements, accompanied by an opinion thereon acceptable to the Lender from the Borrower’s independent certified
public accounting firm acceptable to the Lender; and (4) from time to time, such other financial data and information regarding the Borrower, the Parent, the
Parent’s subsidiaries and the Custody Account as the Lender reasonably may request. The financial statements described in Paragraph 7(a)(1) and Paragraph
7(a)(2) shall not be disclosed to any third party without the Parent’s written consent except to (i) the Lender’s legal counsel, accountants, and its other
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professional advisors, (ii) regulatory officials, (iii) as required by law or legal process or in connection with any legal proceeding, (iv) the audit committee of
the Parent, and (v) to other financial institutions in connection with any disposition or proposed disposition of the Lender’s interests under any of the Loan
Documents in accordance with Paragraph 16 hereof.
(b)
Taxes. The Borrower shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes, assessments or governmental charges lawfully levied or imposed on or
against it and its properties prior to the time they become delinquent; provided that this covenant shall not apply to any tax, assessment or charge that is being
contested in good faith and with respect to which adequate reserves, as determined in good faith by the Borrower, have been established and are being
maintained.
(c)
Compliance with Laws. The Borrower shall comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations, including,
without limitation, ERISA.
(d)

Maintain Existence. The Borrower shall maintain its corporate existence in good standing.

(e)
Notices. As soon as it has actual knowledge, the Borrower shall notify the Lender of (1) the institution of any material litigation or
administrative proceeding against the Borrower, which litigation or proceeding affects the Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations under the Loan
Documents, involves the seeking of a money judgment in an amount, whether individually or in the aggregate, greater than $10,000,000, or questions the
validity of any Loan Document or any action of the Borrower required to be taken with respect thereto, and (2) the occurrence of an Event of Default under
this Note, or any event that, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
(f)
Books and Records. The Borrower shall maintain complete and accurate books of account and financial records. The principal
financial records shall be kept and maintained at 15201 Diamondback Drive, Rockville, Maryland 20850, and all other books and records (including the
organizational documents of the Borrower) shall be kept and maintained at 1735 K Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006, which Washington address is the
Borrower’s chief executive office. The Borrower shall not remove such books of account and records without giving the Lender at least 30 days’ prior written
notice. The Borrower, upon reasonable notice from the Lender and during regular business hours of the Borrower, shall permit the Lender, or any officer,
employee or agent designated by the Lender, to examine the financial records maintained by the Borrower, and agrees that the Lender or such officer,
employee or agent may audit and verify such records. All accounting records and financial reports furnished to the Lender pursuant to this Note shall be
maintained and prepared in accordance with GAAP.
(g)
Liens. Without the prior written consent of the Lender, the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any
assignment, pledge, lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance (collectively, the “Liens”) of any kind or nature in or upon the Custody Account or any part
thereof other than the Lien created by the Assignment.
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(h)
Mergers and Acquisitions. Without the prior written consent of the Lender, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, the
Borrower shall not merge or consolidate with, or acquire all or substantially all of the assets, stock, partnership interests or other ownership interests of, any
other person or entity unless, after such merger, consolidation or acquisition, the Borrower or the Parent (provided that the Parent’s financial condition is
greater than or equal to the current financial condition of the Borrower) is the de facto and de jure continuing or surviving entity. If the Parent is the
continuing or surviving entity, the Parent must become a party to the Loan Documents, any necessary regulatory, governmental or agency approval for the
Parent to become a party to the Loan Documents must be obtained and all legal issues pertaining to the Parent becoming a party to the Loan Documents must
be satisfactory to the Lender’s counsel.
(i)
Collateral. At no time shall the Borrower permit (1) the Margined Value of the assets contained in the Custody Account to be less
than 100% of the outstanding principal balance hereof, or (2) the assets contained in the Custody Account to be any type of securities or other investments
other than U.S. Government securities and agencies (excluding mortgage-backed securities) reasonably acceptable to the Lender.

(j)
Leverage Ratio. As of the last day of each of its second and fourth fiscal quarters, the Borrower will maintain a ratio of total
liabilities to net worth of not greater than 0.80 to 1.
(k)
Cash Flow Coverage Ratio. The Borrower shall maintain as of the end of each of its fiscal years for the preceding fiscal year, a
ratio of Cash Flow (as defined below) for such period to Debt Service (as defined below) for such period of not less than 1.20 to 1. “Cash Flow” means, for
any period, net income of the Borrower for such period, plus, to the extent deducted in determining net income, depreciation, amortization, taxes and interest
expense, adjusted for any non-cash revenue or expense (including, without limitation, unrealized gains or losses on the Borrower’s investment portfolio).
“Debt Service” means, for any period, interest expense of the Borrower plus current maturities of long-term indebtedness for such period.
8.

Events of Default. Each of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Note:

(a)
Failure to Pay. If the Borrower fails to make when due any installment or other payment owing to the Lender under the terms of
this Note and such failure shall continue for a period of ten days written notice of such failure has been given to the Borrower by the Lender (which notice
may be a computer-generated late payment notice sent to the Borrower’s address as set forth in Paragraph 14 below);
(b)
Failure to Give Notices. If the Borrower fails to give the Lender any notice required by Paragraph 7(e) of this Note within ten days
after it has actual knowledge of the event giving rise to the obligation to give such notice;
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(c)
Failure to Permit Inspections. If the Borrower refuses to permit the Lender to inspect the Borrower’s books and records in
accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 7(f) of this Note;
(d)

Failure to Comply with Specific Covenants. If the Borrower fails to comply with the terms of Paragraphs 7(h), 7(i) or 7(k) of this

Note;
(e)
Failure to Comply with Paragraphs 7(g) or 7(i). If the Borrower fails to comply with the terms of Paragraphs 7(g) or 7(i) of this
Note within five days after notice from the Lender to the Borrower specifying such failure;
(f)
Failure to Observe Other Covenants. If the Borrower fails to perform or observe any term, covenant, warranty or agreement
contained in this Note other than those specifically identified in this Paragraph 8, and such failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after written notice of
such failure has been given to the Borrower;
(g)
applicable grace period;

Defaults under Loan Documents. If an event of default shall occur under any Loan Document and shall not be cured within any

(h)
Breach of Representation. Discovery that any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Borrower in any Loan
Document, or in any statement or representation made in any certificate, report or opinion delivered by it pursuant to any Loan Document, was materially
untrue when made or deemed made, or is breached in any material respect;
(i)
Voluntary Bankruptcy. If the Borrower makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, files a petition in bankruptcy, petitions or
applies to any tribunal for any receiver or any trustee of the Borrower or any substantial part of the property of the Borrower, or commences any proceeding
relating to the Borrower under any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation or dissolution law or statute of any jurisdiction,
whether in effect now or after this Note is executed;
(j)
Involuntary Bankruptcy. If, within 60 days after the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the commencement of any proceeding
against the Borrower seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any present or future
statute, law or regulation, the proceeding shall not have been dismissed, or, if within 60 days, after the appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of
the Borrower, of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of the Borrower or all or any substantial part of the properties of the Borrower, the appointment shall not
have been vacated;
(k)
Cross Default. If, as a result of default, any present or future obligations of the Borrower to the Lender or any other creditor in
excess of $500,000 are declared to be due and payable prior to the expressed maturity of such obligations, and, in the Lender’s reasonable determination, the
prospects of full repayment of all amounts outstanding under the Loan
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Documents are impaired thereby, unless and to the extent that the declaration is being contested in good faith in a court of appropriate jurisdiction;
(l)
Material Adverse Change. A material adverse change occurs in the financial or business condition of the Borrower that impedes
the Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents;
(m)
Judgment. If a judgment, attachment, garnishment or other process in excess of $5,000,000 is entered against the Borrower and is
not vacated, bonded, paid or subject to being satisfied under recognized indemnification or acknowledged to be covered under the Borrower’s insurance
policy within 30 days after entry; or
(n)
Dissolution. The dissolution, liquidation or termination of existence of the Borrower other than by merger or consolidation which
may be consented to by the Lender pursuant to Paragraph 7(h) above.
9.
Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, the entire principal balance hereof, all accrued interest
thereon and all other amounts payable hereunder shall become immediately due and payable at the option of the Lender. Any delay by the Lender in
exercising or any failure of the Lender to exercise the aforesaid option to accelerate with respect to an Event of Default shall not constitute a waiver of its

right to exercise such option with respect to that or any subsequent Event of Default. Acceleration of maturity, once claimed hereunder by the holder hereof
may be rescinded, at such holder’s option, by written acknowledgment to that effect, but the tender and acceptance of partial payment or partial performance
alone shall not in any way affect or rescind such acceleration of maturity. After the occurrence of an Event of Default, interest shall accrue on all amounts due
hereunder at the rate specified in Paragraph 1(e) above.
10.
Late Charge. The Borrower shall pay to the Lender a late charge equal to 3.0% of any amount due hereunder that is not received by the
Lender within ten days after the date on which such amount is due.
11.
Waiver: Extensions. Presentment, demand, notice of dishonor, protest and the benefits of the homestead and all other exemptions provided
debtors are hereby waived. The Borrower agrees that it shall remain liable for the payment hereof notwithstanding any agreement for the extension of the due
date of any amount payable hereunder made by the Lender after the maturity thereof. No setoff, claim, counterclaim, reduction or diminution of any
obligation or any defense of any kind or nature that the Borrower has or may have against the Lender (other than the defense of payment) shall be available
against the Lender in any suit or action brought by the Lender to enforce this Note or any other Loan Document. The foregoing shall not be construed as a
waiver by the Borrower of any rights or claims that the Borrower may have against the Lender, but any recovery upon such rights and claims shall be had
from the Lender separately, it being the intent of this Note and the other Loan Documents that the Borrower shall be obligated
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to pay, absolutely and unconditionally, all amounts due hereunder and under the other Loan Documents.
12.
Waiver of Jury Trial. THE LENDER AND THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO TRAIL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS NOTE AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREIN AND IN EACH OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, AND THE BORROWER FURTHER WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO FILE ANY COUNTERCLAIM
AS PART OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING FILED OR MAINTAINED BY THE LENDER TO COLLECT ANY INDEBTEDNESS OF ANY PARTY
TO THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR TO EXERCISE ANY RIGHTS OR REMEDIES AVAILABLE TO THE LENDER UNDER THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS, AT LAW, IN EQUITY OR OTHERWISE IN CONNECTION WITH OR RELATED TO SUCH INDEBTEDNESS.
13.
Collection Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall pay all reasonable costs, fees and expenses (including court costs and reasonable
attorneys’ fees) incurred by the Lender in collecting or attempting to collect any amount that becomes due hereunder or in seeking legal advice with respect to
any amendment or modification hereof requested or initiated by the Borrower, any such collection or an Event of Default hereunder.
14.
Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications with respect hereto or any other Loan Document shall be in writing and
shall be delivered by hand, sent prepaid by Federal Express (or a comparable overnight delivery service) or sent by the United States mail, certified, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, to the following addresses:
If to the Lender,

If to the Borrower,

Crester Bank
1445 New York Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005-2108
Attention:
Ms. Michele S. Ross
Vice President

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
15201 Diamondback Drive
Rockville, Maryland 20850
Attention:

Mr. James R. Allen
Senior Vice President &
Treasurer

with, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, a copy to:
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
1735 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006
Attention:
Robert Aber, Esq.
Vice President and General Counsel
Any notice, request, demand or other communication delivered or sent in the manner aforesaid shall be deemed given or made (as the case may be) when
addressed to the persons named above
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and sent to the addresses specified above, as applicable, upon the date of actual receipt or refusal by such person. Either the Borrower or the Lender may
change its address by notifying the other party of the new address in any manner permitted by this Paragraph 14.
15.
Severability. If any provision of this Note, or the application thereof to any person, entity or circumstance, shall to any extent be invalid or
unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions of this Note, or the application of such provision to other persons, entities or circumstances, shall not be
affected thereby, and each provision of this Note shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.
16.
Successors and Assigns. This Note shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Borrower and the Lender, and their respective
successors and assigns; provided, however, that neither the Lender prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default nor the Borrower at any time may assign or
delegate its obligations hereunder to any person or entity without the prior written consent of the other, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
17.

Payments. All payments due hereunder shall be made in immediately available funds.

18.
Offset. If an Event of Default occurs hereunder and is not cured within any applicable grace period, and if, after liquidating the Borrower’s
assets maintained in the Custody Account, there are still amounts due to the Lender under the Loan Documents, then the Lender shall have the right to offset

any amounts due hereunder against any deposit account now or hereafter maintained by the Borrower with the Lender.
19.
Governing Law. This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, without
reference to conflict of laws principles.
20.

Conditions Precedent. Prior to the Lender’s obligation to disburse any amounts hereunder:

(a)
Loan Documents. The Borrower shall have delivered an executed copy of this Note, the Assignment and each other Loan
Document to the Lender;
(b)
Fees and Expenses. The Borrower shall have paid to the Lender (1) a nonrefundable fee [ILLEGIBLE] which fee shall be deemed
earned when paid, and (2) all out-of-pocket costs and expenses in excess of $3,000 incurred by the Lender in connection with the preparation, negotiation,
execution, delivery, filing, recording and administration of this Note and any Loan Document, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses
of counsel to the Lender;
(c)

No Default. No default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
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(d)

Representations. All representations and warranties contained herein shall be true and correct at the date of such disbursement;

(e)
Legal Matters. All legal matters incident hereto shall be satisfactory to counsel for the Lender, and the Borrower agrees to execute
and deliver to the Lender such additional documents and certificates relating to the Loan Documents as the Lender reasonably may request;
(f)
Opinion. The Lender shall have received an opinion of counsel to the Borrower from the Borrower’s internal counsel as to such
matters as the Lender may request, in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender;
(g)
Financing Statements. Financing statements in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender shall have been properly filed in each
office where necessary to perfect the Lender’s security interest in the Custody Account, termination statements shall have been filed with respect to any other
financing statements covering all or any portion of the Custody Account, and all taxes and fees with respect to such recording and filing shall have been paid
by the Borrower, and
(h)
Corporate Matters. The Borrower shall have delivered to the Lender (1) certified copies of evidence of all corporate actions taken
by the Borrower to authorize the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, (2) certified copies of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the
Borrower, (3) a certificate of incumbency for the officers of the Borrower executing the Loan Documents, (4) a good standing certificate, dated not more than
30 days prior to the date hereof, from the appropriate state official of the state in which the Borrower is incorporated and the District of Columbia, and (5)
such additional supporting documents as the Lender or counsel for the Lender reasonably may request.
21.
Survival. All agreements, representations and warranties made herein shall survive the delivery of this Note and the disbursement of any
amounts hereunder.
22.
Captions. The captions of the various sections and paragraphs of this Note have been inserted only for the purposes of convenience, such
captions are not a part hereof and shall not be deemed in any manner to modify, explain, enlarge or restrict any of the provisions of this Note.
[SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Note to be executed by its duly authorized representative as of the day and year first above
written.
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
/s/ Alfred Berkeley
Name:
Alfred Berkeley
Title:
President
By:
/s/ James Allen
Name:
James Allen
Title:
Sr. V. P. & Treasurer
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Schedule 1
Request

Crestar Bank
1445 New York Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005
Attention:
Michele S. Ross
Vice President

Date:

, 19

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Pursuant to that certain Promissory Note, dated May 19, 1997 (the Note, terms defined therein used herein as therein defined), made by the
undersigned (the Borrower) and payable to the order of Crestar Bank in the principal amount of $25,000,000, notice is hereby given that on
, 19 , the Borrower desires to (as indicated):
1.

Initial Funding

Borrows $
Applicable Rate with an Interest Period of
2.

at the Applicable Rate with an Interest Period of
months].

months [and $

at the

Subsequent Selection of Interest Period
Authorize $
months [and $

of outstanding principal of the Note to accrue interest at the Applicable Rate for an Interest Period of
at the Applicable Rate with an Interest Period of
months].
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:
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ALLONGE TO
PROMISSORY NOTE
THIS ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE (the “Allonge”) is made and entered into as of May 6, 2002, which is to be attached to and form a part
of that certain Promissory Note, dated May 19, 1997(the “Note”), in the original principal amount of TWENTY-FIVE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS
($25,000,000.00), made by THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), and payable to the order of SUNTRUST
BANK, a Georgia banking corporation, successor by merger to Crestar Bank (the “Lender”).
WHEREAS, the Lender is the present owner and holder of the Note; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that certain provisions of the Note be modified, and the Lender has agreed in accordance with the terms of
this Allonge.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the agreements hereinafter set forth and of other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Note is hereby amended and modified as follows:
1.
The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made a part hereof. Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same
meanings given to such terms in the Note.
2.

Paragraph 7(a) of the Note is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
“(a)
Financial Information. The Borrower shall deliver to the Lender, (1) as soon as available and, in any event, within 60 days after the
close of each of the first, second and third fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, unaudited financial statements of the
Borrower, including a balance sheet and statement of income of the Borrower, prepared in accordance with GAAP (subject to year-end
adjustments), certified to be accurate by the Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Borrower and otherwise in form
and substance satisfactory to the Lender provided that delivery within the time period specified above of copies of the Borrower’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q prepared and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the requirements of Form 10-Q
shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this Paragraph 7(a)(1); (2) as soon as available and in any event, within 120 days after the
end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, audited financial statements consisting of consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its
subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year, including a consolidated balance sheet, statements of income, stockholders equity and cash
flows of the Borrower and its subsidiaries for such fiscal year, all in reasonable detail and stating in comparative form

the consolidated figures for the corresponding date and period in the prior fiscal year and all prepared in accordance with GAAP, and with
respect to such consolidated financial statements, accompanied by an opinion thereon acceptable to the Lender from the Borrower’s
independent certified public accounting firm acceptable to the Lender; provided that the delivery within the time period specified above of
the Borrower’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for such fiscal year (together with the Borrower’s annual report to shareholders, if any,
prepared pursuant to Rule 14a-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) prepared and filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in compliance with the requirements of Form 10-K shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this Paragraph 7(a)(2); and
(3) from time to time, such other financial data and information regarding the Borrower, the Borrower’s subsidiaries and the Custody

Account as the Lender reasonably may request. The financial statements described in Paragraph 7(a)(1) and Paragraph 7(a)(2) shall not be
disclosed to any third party without the Borrower’s written consent except to (i) the Lender’s legal counsel, accountants, and its other
professional advisors, (ii) regulatory officials, (iii) as required by law or legal process or in connection with any legal proceeding, and (iv)
to other financial institutions in connection with any disposition or proposed disposition of the Lender’s interests under any of the Loan
Documents in accordance with Paragraph 16 hereof, provided that unless prohibited by applicable law, prompt written notice thereof shall
be given by the Lender to the Borrower.”
3.

The second sentence of Paragraph 7(f) of the Note is amended to read as follows:
“The principal financial records and all other books and records (including the organizational documents of the Borrower) shall be kept and
maintained at 4 Times Square, NY, NY 10036, which is the Borrower’s chief executive office.”

4.

Paragraph 7(h) of the Note is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
“(h)
Mergers, etc. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, consolidate with or be a party to a merger with any
other Person, or sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets; provided that:
(1)
any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with or into the Borrower or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary so long as in (i) any
merger or consolidation involving the Borrower, the
2

Borrower shall be the surviving or continuing corporation and (ii) in any merger or consolidation involving a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary
(and not the Borrower), the Wholly-Owned Subsidiary shall be the surviving or continuing corporation;
(2)
the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into any other Person if (i) the Person (if other than the Borrower) which
results from such consolidation or merger (the “Surviving Person”) is a Person organized under the laws of any state of the United States or
the District of Columbia or the laws of Canada, Japan or any country in Western Europe (other than Portugal and Italy), (ii) the due and
punctual payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on this Note, according to its tenor, and the due and punctual
performance and observation of all of the covenants in this Note and the other Loan Documents to be performed or observed by the
Borrower are expressly assumed in writing by the Surviving Person and the Surviving Person shall furnish to the Lender an opinion of
counsel satisfactory to the Lender to the effect that the instrument of assumption has been duly authorized, executed and delivered and
constitutes the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of the Surviving Person enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as
enforcement of such terms may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles, and (iii) at the time of such consolidation or merger and
immediately after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default as defined herein, and no event which the giving of notice or lapse of time, or
both, would constitute and Event of Default, would exist; and
(3)
the Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets to any Person for consideration which
represents the fair market value of such assets (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Borrower) at the time of such
sale or other disposition if (i) the acquiring Person is organized under the laws of any state of the United States or the District of Columbia
or the laws of Canada, Japan or any country in Western Europe (other than Portugal and Italy), (ii) the due and punctual payment of the
principal of and premium, if any, and interest on all this Note, according to its tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance
of all of the covenants in this Note and in the Loan Documents to be performed or observed by the Borrower are expressly assumed in
writing by the acquiring Person and the acquiring Person shall furnish to the Lender an
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opinion of counsel satisfactory to Lender to the effect that the instrument of assumption has been duly authorized, executed and delivered
and constitutes the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of such acquiring Person enforceable in accordance with its terms,
except as enforcement of such terms may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles, and (iii) at the time of such sale or disposition and
immediately after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default as defined herein, and no event which the giving of notice or lapse of time, or
both, would constitute and Event of Default, would exist.”
5.

Paragraphs 7(j) and (k) of the Note are deleted, and the following is added as Paragraph 7(j):
“(j)

Financial Covenants. The Borrower shall comply with the following financial covenants:

(1)
Defined Terms. As used in this Paragraph 7(j) and elsewhere in this Note, the following terms shall have the respective
meanings set forth below:
“Capital Lease” means, at any time, a lease with respect to which the lessee is required concurrently to recognize the
acquisition of an asset and the incurrence of a liability in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated EBITDA” for any period means the sum of (a) Consolidated Net Operating Income during such period
plus (to the extent deducted in determining Consolidated Net Operating Income) (b) all provisions for depreciation and amortization (other
than amortization of debt discount) made by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries during such period, all as it appears in the Borrower’s
consolidated statement of income prepared in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated Interest Expense” means all Interest Expense of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined on a
consolidated basis for any period after eliminating intercompany items.

“Consolidated Net Operating Income” means the Borrower’s net operating income as it appears in its consolidated
statement of income prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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“Consolidated Priority Debt” means all Priority Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated
basis eliminating inter-company items.
“Consolidated Total Assets” means as of the date of any determination thereof, total assets of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP.
“Debt” with respect to any Person means, at any time, without duplication,(a) its liabilities for borrowed money; (b) its
liabilities for the deferred purchase price of property acquired by such Person (excluding accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of
business but including all liabilities created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to any such
property); (c) all liabilities appearing on its balance sheet in accordance with GAAP in respect of Capital Leases; (d) all liabilities for
borrowed money secured by any Lien with respect to any property owned by such Person (whether or not it has assumed or otherwise
become liable for such liabilities); (e) all its liabilities in respect of drawn letters of credit or instruments serving a similar function issued or
accepted for its account by banks and other financial institutions (whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money); and (f) any
Guaranty of such Person with respect to liabilities of a type described in any of clauses (a) through (e) hereof.
“Guaranty” means, with respect to any Person, any obligation (except the endorsement in the ordinary course of business
of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection) of such Person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any Debt, dividend or other
obligation of any other Person in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including (without limitation) obligations incurred through an
agreement, contingent or otherwise, by such Person: (a) to purchase such Debt or obligation or any property constituting security therefor;
(b) to advance or supply funds (i) for the purchase or payment of such Debt or obligation, or (ii) to maintain any working capital or other
balance sheet condition or any income statement condition of any other Person or otherwise to advance or make available funds for the
purchase or payment of such Debt or obligation; (c) to lease properties or to purchase properties or services primarily for the purpose of
assuring the owner of such Debt or obligation of the ability of any other Person to make payment of the Debt or obligation; or (d) otherwise
to assure the owner of such Debt or
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obligation against loss in respect thereof. In any computation of the Debt or other liabilities of the obligor under any Guaranty, the Debt or
other obligations that are the subject of such Guaranty shall be assumed to be direct obligations of such obligor.
“Interest Expense” of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for any period means all interest (including the interest
component on Rentals on Capital Leases) and all amortization of debt discount and expense on any particular Debt (including, without
limitation, payment-in-kind, zero coupon and other like securities) for which such calculations are being made. Computations of Interest
Expense on a pro forma basis for Debt having a variable interest rate shall be calculated at the rate in effect on the date of any
determination.
“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated
organization, or a government or agency or political subdivision thereof.
“Priority Debt” means (a) any Debt of the Borrower secured by any Lien on any asset Borrower (b) any Debt of
Subsidiaries (excluding (i) Debt owed by a Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Wholly-owned Subsidiary and (ii) Debt of a Subsidiary
outstanding at the date of its acquisition, provided that (1) such Debt shall not have been incurred in contemplation of such Subsidiary
becoming a Subsidiary and (2) immediately after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default as defined herein, and no event which the giving
of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute and Event of Default, shall exist).
“Rentals” means and includes as of the date of any determination thereof all fixed payments (including as such all
payments which the lessee is obligated to make to the lessor on termination of the lease or surrender of the property) payable by the
Borrower or a Subsidiary, as lessee or sublessee under a lease of real or personal property, but shall be exclusive of any amounts required to
be paid by the Borrower or a Subsidiary (whether or not designated as rents or additional rents) on account of maintenance, repairs,
insurance, taxes and similar charges. Fixed rents under any so-called “percentage leases” shall be computed solely on the basis of the
minimum rents, if any, required to be paid by the lessee regardless of sales volume or gross revenues.
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“Subsidiary” means, as to any Person, any corporation, association or other business entity in which such Person or one or
more of its Subsidiaries or such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries owns sufficient equity or voting interests to enable it or them (as
a group) ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, to elect a majority of the directors (or Persons performing similar functions) of such
entity, and any partnership or joint venture if more than a 50% interest in the profits or capital thereof is owned by such Person or one or
more of its Subsidiaries or such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries (unless such partnership can and does ordinarily take major
business actions without the prior approval of such Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries). Unless the context otherwise clearly
requires, any reference to a “Subsidiary” is a reference to a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
“Wholly-Owned Subsidiary” means, at any time, any Subsidiary one hundred percent (100%) of all of the equity interests
(except directors’ qualifying shares) and voting interests of which are owned by any one or more of the Borrower and the Borrower’s other

Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries at such time.
(2)
Interest Coverage Ratio. The Borrower will as at the end of each fiscal quarter keep and maintain the ratio of
Consolidated EBITDA for the four consecutive fiscal quarters then most recently ended to Consolidated Interest Expense for such four
consecutive fiscal quarters at not less than 4.0 to 1.0.
(3)
Priority Debt. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise
incur or in any manner become liable in respect of any Priority Debt, unless at the time of creation, issuance, assumption, guarantee or
incurrence thereof and after giving effect thereto and to the application of the proceeds thereof, Consolidated Priority Debt, including the
Priority Debt then to be created, issued, assumed, guaranteed or otherwise incurred, shall not exceed 10% of Consolidated Total Assets.
6.
This Allonge shall be executed by the Borrower and delivered to the Lender and shall become a part of and be permanently attached as an allonge to
the Note, and the Note and this Allonge shall be read and construed as one instrument constituting the evidence of the Borrower’s indebtedness to the Lender.
The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that there are no defenses, counterclaims or set-offs against any of its obligations under the Note, as modified hereby.
7

7.
The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender, on the date hereof, an amendment fee of ten basis points times the unpaid principal balance of this Note
outstanding on the date hereof. The Borrower also agrees to pay, promptly after its receipt of an invoice therefor, the reasonable fees of counsel to the Lender
in connection with this Allonge.
8.
All of the other terms, conditions and provisions of the Note are hereby ratified, confirmed and reaffirmed, it being the intention of the Borrower and
the Lender that the Note shall remain in full force and effect, except as expressly modified hereby.
9.

This Allonge shall be effective as of the date hereof and shall be binding on each party’s respective assigns and successors in interest.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has executed this Allonge as of the day and year first above written.
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a
Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Richard G. Ketchum
Richard G. Ketchum
President

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Darienne J. Donovan
Darienne J. Donovan
Senior Vice President & Treasurer

ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE
CONSENTED TO AND AUTHORIZED:
SUNTRUST BANK
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Daniel J. O’Neill, Jr.
Daniel J. O’Neill, Jr.
Managing Director
9

SECOND ALLONGE TO
PROMISSORY NOTE
THIS SECOND ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE (the “Allonge”) is made and entered into as of June 26, 2003, which is to be attached to and
form a part of that certain Promissory Note, dated May 19, 1997, as amended on May 6, 2002 (collectively, the “Note”), in the original principal amount of
TWENTY-FIVE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($25,000,000.00), made by THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a Delaware corporation (the
“Borrower”), and payable to the order of SUNTRUST BANK, a Georgia banking corporation, successor by merger to Crestar Bank (the “Lender”).
WHEREAS, the Lender is the present owner and holder of the Note; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that certain provisions of the Note be modified, and the Lender has agreed in accordance with the terms of
this Allonge.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the agreements hereinafter set forth and of other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Note is hereby amended and modified as follows:
1.
The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made a part hereof. Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same
meanings given to such terms in the Note.
2.
Paragraph 7(j)(1) of the Note is amended so that the definitions of the following terms are deleted and are replaced in their entirety by the following
definitions:
““Consolidated EBITDA” for any period means the sum of (a) Consolidated Net Operating Income during such period plus (to the extent
deducted in determining Consolidated Net Operating Income) (b) all provisions for depreciation and amortization (other than amortization of debt
discount) made by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries during such period, all as it appears in the Borrower’s consolidated statement of income
prepared in accordance with GAAP, except as otherwise shall be calculated as and to the extent contemplated by the definition of “Consolidated Net
Operating Income”.
“Consolidated Net Operating Income” means the Borrower’s net operating income as it appears in its consolidated statement of income
prepared in accordance with GAAP; provided, that for purposes of determining compliance with Paragraph 7(j)(2) as at the end of the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2003, there shall be excluded from computations of Consolidated Net Operating Income for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2003
any and all charges relating to (a) the Borrower’s European operations (including without limitation charges associated with Nasdaq Europe
S.A./N.V., Nasdaq Deutschland AG, Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited and Nasdaq Global Holdings), (b) the Borrower’s product
profitability review and (c) costs related to severance of employees of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, with the aggregate amount of the charges
described in the foregoing clauses (a) through (c) not to exceed $70,000,000 (the charges described in the foregoing clauses (a) through (c) up to, but
not

exceeding, $70,000,000 aggregate amount being herein referred to as “Restructuring Charges”), but such Restructuring Charges shall not be
excluded from computations of Consolidated Net Operating Income for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2003 or any following fiscal quarter in
connection with any determination of compliance with Paragraph 7(j)(2) as at the end of the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003 or at any time
thereafter.”
3.
This Allonge shall be executed by the Borrower and delivered to the Lender and shall become a part of and be permanently attached as an allonge to
the Note, and the Note and this Allonge shall be read and construed as one instrument constituting the evidence of the Borrower’s indebtedness to the Lender.
The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that there are no defenses, counterclaims or set-offs against any of its obligations under the Note, as modified hereby.
4.
The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender, on the date hereof, an amendment fee of five basis points times the unpaid principal balance of this Note
outstanding on the date hereof. The Borrower also agrees to pay, promptly after receipt of an invoice therefore, the reasonable fees of counsel to the Lender
in connection with this Allonge.
5.
All of the other terms, conditions and provisions of the Note are hereby ratified, confirmed and reaffirmed, it being the intention of the Borrower and
the Lender that the Note shall remain in full force and effect, except as expressly modified hereby.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has executed this Allonge as of the day and year first above written.
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a
Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Ronald Hassen
Senior Vice President & Controller

ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE
CONSENTED TO AND AUTHORIZED:
SUNTRUST BANK
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark A. Flatin
Mark A. Flatin
Director

THIRD ALLONGE TO
PROMISSORY NOTE
THIS THIRD ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE (the “Allonge”) is made and entered into as of September 29, 2003, which is to be attached to
and form a part of that certain Promissory Note, dated May 19, 1997, as amended on May 6, 2002 and June 26, 2003 (collectively, the “Note”), in the original

principal amount of TWENTY-FIVE MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($25,000,000.00), made by THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a
Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), and payable to the order of SUNTRUST BANK, a Georgia banking corporation, successor by merger to Crestar
Bank (the “Lender”).
WHEREAS, the Lender is the present owner and holder of the Note; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that certain provisions of the Note be modified, and the Lender has agreed in accordance with the terms of
this Allonge.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the agreements hereinafter set forth and of other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Note is hereby amended and modified as follows:
1.
The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made a part hereof. Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same
meanings given to such terms in the Note.
2.

A new sentence is added to the end of Paragraph 7(a)(1) to read as follows:
“as soon as available and, in any event, within 60 days after the end of each fiscal quarter of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a compliance
statement on the Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined below).”

3.

The second sentence of Paragraph 7(f) of the Note is amended to read as follows:
“The principal financial records and other books and records (including the organizational documents of the Borrower) shall be kept and
maintained at One Liberty Plaza, 165 Broadway, New York, NY 10006, which is the Borrower’s chief executive office.”

4.
Paragraphs 7(j)(1) of the Note is amended so that the definitions of the following terms are deleted and are replaced in their entirety with the
following definitions:
““Consolidated Net Operating Income” means the Borrower’s net operating income as it appears in its consolidated statement of income
prepared in accordance with GAAP; provided, that for purposes of determining compliance with Section 7(j) as of a date as at the end of the
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003 or at any time thereafter, for any purpose and for any period in which the amounts referred to
below would have been required to be included in such computation, there shall be excluded from computations of Consolidated Net
Operating Income any and all:

(a)
charges relating to (i) the Borrower’s European operations (including without limitation charges associated with Nasdaq Europe
S.A./N.V., Nasdaq Deutschland AG, Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited and Nasdaq Global Holdings), (ii) the Borrower’s product
profitability review, (iii) costs related to severance of employees of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and (iv) real estate leases or subleases
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, to the extent such charges are taken by the Borrower in any of the Borrower’s fiscal quarters ended
June 30, 2003, September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003, with the aggregate amount of the charges described in the foregoing clauses (i)
through (iv) not to exceed $125,000,000; and
(b)
amounts recorded by the Borrower for (i) minority interest and (ii) any non-cash expenses related to stock options granted by the
Borrower or its Subsidiaries as compensation, each as reported on or incorporated into the Borrower’s consolidated statement of income.”
5.

Paragraph 7(j)(2) of the Note shall be and hereby is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
“Interest Coverage Ratio. The Borrower will as at the end of each fiscal quarter keep and maintain the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA for
the four consecutive fiscal quarters then most recently ended to Consolidated Interest Expense for such four consecutive fiscal quarters (the
“Minimum Ratio”) at not less than 4.0 to 1.0; provided, that for any fiscal quarter listed below the Minimum Ratio shall instead be not less
than the ratio set forth opposite such fiscal quarter:
Fiscal Quarter Ended

Ratio

September 30, 2003

1.0 to 1.0

December 31, 2003

1.0 to 1.0

March 31, 2004

1.0 to 1.0

June 30, 2004

1.25 to 1.0

September 30, 2004

1.25 to 1.0

December 31, 2004

1.50 to 1.0

March 31, 2005

1.50 to 1.0.”

6.
This Allonge shall be executed by the Borrower and delivered to the Lender and shall become a part of and be permanently attached as an allonge to
the Note, and the Note and this Allonge shall be read and construed as one instrument constituting the evidence of the Borrower’s

indebtedness to the Lender. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that there are no defenses, counterclaims or set-offs against any of its obligations under
the Note, as modified hereby.
7.
The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender, on the date hereof, an amendment fee of five (5) basis points times the unpaid principal balance of this
Note outstanding on the date hereof. The Borrower also agrees to pay, promptly after receipt of an invoice therefore, the reasonable fees of counsel to the
Lender in connection with this Allonge.
8.
All of the other terms, conditions and provisions of the Note are hereby ratified, confirmed and reaffirmed, it being the intention of the Borrower and
the Lender that the Note shall remain in full force and effect, except as expressly modified hereby.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has executed this Allonge as of the day and year first above written.
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC., a
Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:
ALLONGE TO PROMISSORY NOTE
CONSENTED TO AND AUTHORIZED:
SUNTRUST BANK
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark A. Flatin
Mark A. Flatin
Director

/s/ Ronald Hassen
Ronald Hassen
Senior Vice President, Controller, Treasurer

Exhibit 12.1
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Computation in Support of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Dollars in Thousands)
Unaudited

Pre-tax (loss) income from continuing operations (less
minority interests)
Add: Fixed Charges

2003

$

2002

Years ended December 31,
2001

(66,352)* $
19,042

105,942 $
18,958

(47,310)

124,900

Fixed Charges:
Interest
Other

18,555
487

Total Fixed Charges
Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements

19,042
8,279

Pre-tax (loss) earnings before fixed charges

Total Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges & Preferred Stock
Dividends
*
**

$

27,321

$

97,542 $
9,955

2000

1999

46,868** $
2,778

144,570
2,143

107,497

49,646

146,713

18,488
470

9,777
178

2,778
—

2,143
—

18,958
—

9,955
—

2,778
—

2,143
—

18,958 $

9,955 $

2,778

$

2,143

(2.48)*

6.59

10.80

17.87

68.46

(1.73)*

6.59

10.80

17.87

68.46

Includes costs of $97,910 associated with Nasdaq’s strategic review.
Adjusted for cumulative effect of change in accounting principle of $169,046.

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES
1.

Nasdaq Financial Products Services, Inc (incorporated in Delaware)

2.

Nasdaq International Marketing Initiatives, Inc (incorporated in Delaware)

3.

Nasdaq Canada Inc. (incorporated in Canada)

4.

Nasdaq Global Holdings (incorporated in Switzerland)

5.

Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited (incorporated in United Kingdom)

6.

Nasdaq LTDA (incorporated in Brazil)

7.

Nasdaq International Limited (incorporated in United Kingdom)

8.

The Nasdaq Stock Market Educational Foundation, Inc. (organized in Delaware)

9.

Nasdaq Insurance Agency LLC (organized in Delaware)

10.

Nasdaq Technology Services, LLC (organized in Delaware)

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the inclusion in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the “Company”) of our report dated February 18,
2004, included in the 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 File Nos. 333-70992, 333-72852, 333-76064, 333106945, and 333-110602, of our report dated February 18, 2004 with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K)
for the year ended December 31, 2003.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP.
New York, New York
March 12, 2004

Exhibit 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 12, 2004.
/s/ H. Furlong Baldwin
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Frank E. Baxter
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Michael W. Clark
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ William S. Cohen
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Lon Gorman
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ John P. Havens
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Patrick Healy
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Thomas M. Joyce
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ John D. Markese
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Thomas F. O’Neill
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.

/s/ James S. Riepe
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Arthur Rock
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 12, 2004.
/s/ Arvind Sodhani
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Martin Sorrell
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Thomas G. Stemberg
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Thomas W. Weisel
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Mary Jo White
Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.
Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting individually, the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to:
(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, including any and all amendments and additions thereto (collectively, the “Annual Report”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder;
(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be filed, the Annual
Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission; and
(3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on behalf of the
undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact may approve in
such attorneys-in-fact’s discretion.
The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite,
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or
could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneysin-fact’s substitute or substitutes, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and the rights and powers herein granted.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed as of March 15, 2004.
/s/ Arshad Zakaria
Signature

Exhibit 31.1
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
I, Robert Greifeld, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2004

By:

/s/ Robert Greifeld
Robert Greifeld
Chief Executive Officer and
President

Exhibit 31.2
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
I, David P. Warren, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2004

By:

/s/ David P. Warren
David P. Warren
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Robert Greifeld, as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
David P. Warren, as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly represents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of the operations of
the Company.
/s/ Robert Greifeld
Name: Robert Greifeld
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
Date: March 15, 2004
/s/ David P. Warren
Name: David P. Warren
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 15, 2004
This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of § 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

